## Identifying Determinants of HIV Disease Progression in

Saskatoon, Saskatchewan

Submitted to the College of Graduate Studies and Research

## in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree of

**Master of Science** 

## in the Department of Community Health and Epidemiology

University of Saskatchewan

Saskatoon

By

**Stephanie Konrad** 

Copyright Stephanie Konrad, August 2011. All rights reserved

## PERMISSION TO USE

In presenting this thesis/dissertation in partial fulfillment of the requirements for a Postgraduate degree from the University of Saskatchewan, I agree that the Libraries of this University may make it freely available for inspection. I further agree that permission for copying of this thesis/dissertation in any manner, in whole or in part, for scholarly purposes may be granted by the professor or professors who supervised my thesis/dissertation work or, in their absence, by the Head of the Department or the Dean of the College in which my thesis work was done. It is understood that any copying or publication or use of this thesis/dissertation or parts thereof for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission. It is also understood that due recognition shall be given to me and to the University of Saskatchewan in any scholarly use which may be made of any material in my thesis/dissertation.

Requests for permission to copy or to make other uses of materials in this thesis/dissertation in whole or part should be addressed to:

Head of the Department of Community Health and Epidemiology University of Saskatchewan 107 Wiggins Road Saskatoon, Saskatchewan, S7N 5E5 Canada

OR

Dean College of Graduate Studies and Research University of Saskatchewan 107 Administration Place Saskatoon, Saskatchewan S7N 5A2 Canada

#### ABSTRACT

**Context & Rationale:** Individuals with similar CD4 cell counts and RNA levels can vary considerably with regards to clinical progression. This variation is likely the result of a complex interplay between viral, host and environmental factors. This study aimed to characterize and identify predictors associated with disease progression to AIDS or death in Saskatoon, Saskatchewan.

**Methods:** This is a retrospective cohort study of 343 seroprevalent HIV positive patients diagnosed from Jan 2005 to Dec 2010. Of these, 73 had an estimated seroconversion date. Data was extracted from medical charts at two clinics specialized in HIV/AIDS care. Disease progression was measured as time from HIV diagnosis (or seroconversion) to immunological AIDS and death. The Cox hazard model was used.

**Results:** The 3-year and 5-year immunological AIDS free probability was 53% and 33%, respectively. The 3-year and 5-year survival probability was 89% and 77%, respectively. Among the seroconversion cohort, the 3-year immunological AIDS free probability was 76%.

Due to multicollinearity, separate models were built for IDU, hepatitis C and ethnicity. A history of IDU (HR, 3.0; 95%CI, 1.2-7.1), hepatitis C coinfection (HR, 2.9; 95%CI, 1.2-6.9), baseline CD4 counts (HR, 0.95; 95%CI, 0.92-0.98, per ever 10 unit increase), ever on ART, and year of diagnosis were significant predictors of progression to immunological AIDS among the seroprevalent cohort. Age at diagnosis, sex and ethnicity

were not.

For survival, only treatment use was a significant predictor (HR, 0.34; 95%CI, 0.1-0.8). Hepatitis C coinfection was marginally significant (p=0.067), while a history of IDU, ethnicity, gender, age at diagnosis, and year of diagnosis were not.

Among the seroconversion cohort, no predictors of progression to immunological AIDS were identified. Ethnicity, hepatitis C coinfection and history of IDU could not be assessed.

**Conclusion:** Our study found that IDU, HCV coinfections, baseline CD4 counts, and ART use were significant predictors of disease progression. This highlights the need for increased testing and early detection and for targeted interventions for these particularly vulnerable populations to slow disease progression.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENT

It is wonderful to thank the many people who assisted with this thesis and made the journey most enjoyable and educational. First and foremost I wish to thank God. All is and has been possible through him.

I am very grateful to my co-supervisors, Dr. Lim and Dr. Skinner, who provided valuable guidance and inspiration. Throughout my thesis, they provided encouragement, sound advice and good teaching. I would also like to extend my gratitude to my committee member, Dr. Janzen, and my two committee chairs, Dr. Abonyi and Dr. Reeder. Not to be missed, I would like to thank Germain Bukassa Kazadi for his wonderful guidance and his assistance in bringing research to an applied setting.

I would also like to thank the many people who assisted with the data collection, including the friendly and helpful staff at the Positive Living Program and the Westside Community Clinic. A special thanks to Kali Gartner who collected the study data from the Westside Community Clinic. I am also very indebted to my wonderful classmates who made these two years so enjoyable.

Finally, I wish to thank my family for providing a loving and supporting environment. In particular, a big thank-you to my husband who never seizes to encourage me and support me in all my hearts desires. I dedicate this work to him.

iv

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

PERMISSION TO USE	i
ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEGDMENT	iv
LIST OF FIGURES	viii
LIST OF TABLES	ix
LIST OF APPENDICES	xi
ABBREVIATIONS	xii
1. Introduction	1
1.1. Rationale of the study	1
1.2. Purpose of the study	2
1.3. Research objectives	3
2. Literature Review	4
2.1 HIV/AIDS	4
2.2. HIV/AIDS Epidemiology	5
2.2.1. Canada	5
2.2.2. Saskatchewan	7
2.2.3. Saskatoon	11
2.3. Disease progression	12
2.3.1. Measures of disease progression	17
2.4. Potential prognostic factors influencing disease progression	20
2.4.1. Demographics	20
2.4.2. Behavioural factors	31
2.4.3. Clinical factors	37
3. Methodology	40

-	3.1. Theoretical perspective & conceptual framework	40
Ĵ	3.2. Study design	45
-	3.3. Setting and population	45
-	3.4. Operational and ethics approvals	46
-	3.5. Data collection	46
-	3.6. Inclusion/exclusion criteria	51
-	3.7. Variable selection	53
-	3.8. Dependent variables	56
-	3.9. Statistical analysis	56
4. R	Results	60
4	4.1. Data manipulations	60
4	4.2. Study population characteristics	60
	4.2.1. Differences by gender	64
	4.2.2. Differences by ethnicity	67
	4.2.3. Differences by history of IDU	70
	4.2.4. Differences by HCV coinfection	71
4	4.3. Primary outcomes	74
4	4.4. Survival analysis	76
	4.4.1. Time to CD4 count <200cells/µl	76
	4.4.1.1. Univariable analysis for immunological AIDS	79
	4.4.1.2. Multivariable analysis for immunological AIDS	81
	4.4.1.3. Multivariate analysis with baseline CD4 counts	83
	4.4.2. Time to death	85
	4.4.2.1. Univariable analysis for survival	87
	4.4.2.2. Multivariable analysis for survival	88

4.5. Subgroup analysis (Seroconversion Cohort)	90
4.5.1. Study population characteristics	90
4.5.2. Primary outcomes	93
4.5.3. Survival analysis	94
4.6. Summary of survival analysis	97
5. Discussion	97
5.1. Summary of findings	97
5.2. Comparison of findings	98
5.3. Study limitations	103
5.4. Study strengths	105
5.5. Study implications	106
5.6. Future research directions	108
5.6. Summary	109
6. REFERENCES	110
7. APPENDICES	133

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Annual incidence rates for select provinces in Canada, from 2000	
to 2008	
Figure 1.2 CD4 cell counts and viral load changes during progression of disease	p.14
Figure 1.3 HIV-RNA levels and CD4 counts at three rates of disease progression	p.16
Figure 3.1 HIV disease progression conceptual model	p.43
Figure 3.2 Summary of inclusion process into study dataset	p.52
Figure 4.1 Percentage of overlap between Aboriginal ethnicity, history of IDU,	p.74
and HCV coinfection	
Figure 4.2 Summary of type of analysis and frequency of outcome of interest	p.76
Figure 4.3 Survival function of immunological AIDS from HIV diagnosis	p.77
Figure 4.4 Survival functions of immunological AIDS, stratified by treatment	p.78
status, record of incarceration, and diagnosis year	
Figure 4.5 Survival curve for all-cause mortality from HIV diagnosis	p.86
Figure 4.6 Illustration of overlap between Aboriginal ethnicity, history of IDU,	p.92
and HCV coinfection for seroconversion cohort	
Figure 4.7 Survival curve for immunological AIDS from HIV infection	p.95

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Independent variables available in the database	p.54
Table 2. Independent variables used in data analysis	p.55
Table 3. Study population characteristics	p.63
Table 4. Study characteristics stratified by gender	p.69
Table 5. Study characteristics stratified by ethnicity	p.71
Table 6. Study characteristics stratified by IDU	p.72
Table 7. Study characteristics stratified by hepatitis C antibody status	p.73
Table 8. Pearson's correlation of selected variables	p.80
Table 9. Univariable Cox regression analysis for immunological AIDS	p.82
progression	
Table 10. Multivariable Cox regression analysis for ethnicity	p.82
Table 11. Multivariable Cox regression analysis for HCV coinfection	p.82
Table 12. Multivariable Cox regression analysis for IDU	p.83
Table 13. Adjusted multivariable model with baseline CD4 counts	p.84
Table 14. Adjusted multivariable model with baseline CD4 counts	p.84
Table 15. Adjusted multivariable model with baseline CD4 counts	p.85

Table 16. Univariable cox regression analysis for all cause mortality	p.87
Table 17. Multivariable Cox regression analysis for ethnicity	p.88
Table 18. Multivariable Cox regression analysis for hepatitis C antibody status	p.89
Table 19. Multivariable Cox regression analysis for IDU	p.89
Table 20. Study characteristics of seroconversion cohort	p.91
Table 21. Summary of percentage without AIDS and survival of HIV positive	p.96
patients	

# LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix 1. Definition of Terms	p.131
Appendix 2. Medical Chart Forms	p.134
Appendix 3. Exposure Category (Risk Factor) Hierarchy	p.141

# ABBREVIATIONS

AIDS	Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome
AI/AN	American Indians/Alaska Natives
ART	Antiretroviral therapy
CI	Confidence intervals
FN	First Nations
HAART	Highly active antiretroviral therapy
НС	Heterosexual contact
HCV	Hepatitis C virus
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
HR	Hazard ratio
IDU	Intravenous drug users
MSM	Men who have sex with men
РНАС	Public Health Agency of Canada
PLP	Positive Living Program
SHR	Saskatoon Health Region
SK	Saskatchewan
STI	Sexually transmitted infection
WCC	Westside Community Clinic

## **1. Introduction**

#### 1.1. Rationale of the study

The rates of new cases of HIV among adults ( $\geq$  15 years) in Saskatchewan (SK) have risen over the past 5 years from 3.3 to 20.8 per 100,000 population, the highest HIV incidence rate in Canada and almost twice the national average.<sup>1</sup> Over 70% of new cases are intravenous drug users (IDU) and over 60 % of cases are of First Nation or Métis descent. Surveillance findings and clinicians report high levels of co-infection with hepatitis C. Most HIV notifications within Saskatchewan are from three urban centers, Saskatoon, Regina, and Prince Albert.<sup>2</sup>

Saskatchewan clinicians report rapid deterioration of HIV cases to AIDS and have observed that at diagnosis a number of cases have both high viral loads and low CD4 counts, as stated by the HIV Surveillance officer for Saskatchewan (G. Bukassa Kazadi, oral communication, March 2011). CD4 count is an important indicator of disease stage and prognosis for HIV positive individuals.<sup>3, 4</sup> Patients with low CD4 counts have increased susceptibility to opportunistic infections, are more likely to acquire AIDS, and have an increased risk of mortality. Moreover, it has been shown that treatment response can be suboptimal in patients with low CD4 counts, compared to patients with higher counts.<sup>4, 5</sup>

It is unclear whether this trend of low CD4 counts at diagnosis is the result of a late diagnosis or rapid disease progression. While late diagnosis is definitely a possibility, other studies are potentially pointing towards the latter option. Studies by one research team have suggested the possibility of a more virulent virus than in later decades.<sup>6-8</sup> A recent report on Saskatoon's inner core population, provided support to these anecdotal claims by showing rapid progression in 16% of its study population, a significantly higher proportion than the 5-10% typically observed. <sup>9</sup> The province of Manitoba has also noted a higher proportion of rapid progressors than typically observed. The mechanisms which drive HIV disease progression are complex and not well understood.

#### **1.2.** Purpose of the study

The HIV spread has prompted the Saskatchewan HIV Strategy 2010-2014, supported by a fund of 2.5 million by the Saskatchewan Ministry of Health. Among other objectives, this strategy calls for a decrease in the number of HIV patients progressing rapidly to AIDS.<sup>10</sup> In accordance with these goals, this study aimed to characterize and identify individual determinants of HIV disease progression.

Identification of factors influencing disease progression is vital to effectively care for patients and to improve their survival and quality of life. The detection of clinical features and characteristics associated with a more rapid progression can help identify patients who may benefit from a closer and more frequent clinical follow-up. Moreover, this study will enable evidence-informed policy development and contribute to a more comprehensive understanding of disease progression in the Saskatchewan population. Furthermore, this study examines a unique and under-researched population, where HIV is a new emerging health concern.

## **1.3. Research objectives**

The general research objectives of this study were as follows:

Objective 1. To characterize HIV disease progression for the study population

1.1 To estimate the time to immunological AIDS

1.2. To estimate the time to death

Objective 2. To identify risk factors associated with disease progression

2.1. To compared disease progression between HIV/Hepatitis C co-infected and HIV mono-infected patients

2.2. To compare disease progression between Aboriginal people and non-Aboriginal people

2.3. To compare disease progression between IDUs and non-IDUs

#### 2. Literature Review

This section provides a brief introduction of HIV and AIDS. The magnitude of the problem, including the epidemiology of HIV/AIDS at a global, national and local level, are also described. The section then explores HIV disease progression and the various definitions used to measure progression. Finally, an overview of potential proximate prognostic factors influencing disease progression are also presented.

### 2.1 HIV/AIDS

The human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) is a retrovirus (lentivirus) that causes acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS), a condition in which the immune system begins to deteriorate, exposing infected individuals to life-threatening opportunistic infections. HIV is transmitted person to person by the transfer of bodily fluids, such as blood, semen, and vaginal fluid. The major routes of transmission include unprotected sexual intercourse, contaminated needles, and mother to child transmission.<sup>11</sup>

A cure or vaccine for HIV or AIDS does not currently exist. However, great strides have been made in treatment termed highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART). HAART consists of cocktails of at least two to three different classes of antiretroviral therapies and effectively lowers the concentration of the virus in the body. In most developed countries, where these drugs are available, a large reduction in HIV-associated morbidity and mortality has occurred to the extent that HIV/AIDS is now considered a chronic condition.<sup>11</sup>

#### 2.2. HIV/AIDS Epidemiology

The World Health Organization considers HIV infection a pandemic that has claimed the life of more than 25 million people worldwide. In December 2008, it was estimated that there were 33.4 million people living with HIV globally, with 2.7 million new infections that year. In 2008, there were 2.0 million deaths.<sup>12</sup> While the prevalence of HIV infected individuals continues to increase, due to the continued addition of new HIV cases and the decrease in deaths, the incidence of HIV is decreasing. The incidence rate peaked in the mid 1990s with roughly 3.5 million new infections per year and has since decreased by 30% in 2008.<sup>12</sup> In general, the global incidence of HIV has been stable in the decade of 2000-2009 (but with important regional differences in trends and modes of transmission).<sup>13</sup>

## 2.2.1. Canada

In Canada, HIV has caused over 13,500 deaths.<sup>1</sup> Estimates in 2008 state that there are 65,000 Canadians living with HIV, a 14% increase from 2005.<sup>14</sup> While the number of Canadians living with HIV continues to rise, the incidence rate appears to be stable at around 2500 new cases per year since 2002.<sup>1</sup> In 2008, however, the number of new cases did show a 7.0% increase from the previous year.<sup>1</sup>

The Surveillance Report released by the Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC)<sup>1</sup> revealed more details with regards to the national trends. In 2008, older age groups (40-49 years of age and 50+) represented an increased proportion of positive HIV test reports. Female cases, while less prevalent than male cases since 1999, have also shown to be consistently rising. When stratified by age, only in the 15-19 age group were females more numerous than males (58.3% vs. 41.7%) in 2008, a trend noted since 1999. The most frequently reported exposure categories among adults in 2008 were MSM (45.1%), heterosexual contact (30.8%), and IDU (19.1%). Trends according to ethnicity comparing the 1998-2002 period with 2008, showed a decline in whites (from 61.3% to 44.6%), and an increase in Aboriginal persons (from 23.4% to 29.4%) and black Canadians (from 7.3% to 14.5%). The overall incidence rate among Aboriginal persons was 3.6 times higher compared to non-aboriginal persons in 2008.<sup>1</sup>

The number of AIDS diagnosis have consistently dropped since peaking in 1993 with 1829 cases to about 255 cases in 2008. Among adults, males continue to be more prevalent among AIDS cases, representing up to three quarters of the cases. According to exposure categories, MSM similarly accounts for the largest portion of AIDS cases (45.5%) followed by heterosexual contact (30.5) and IDU (19.0%), among adults in 2008. When stratified by sex and ethnicity, key differences emerged. Among males, MSM accounted for a slightly higher percentage (56.1%) while IDU was slightly lower (9.2%). For females, IDU accounted for the majority of AIDS cases (60.9%) with the remained accounted by heterosexual contact (39.1%). Among Aboriginal adults, over 50% of AIDS diagnoses have been attributed to IDU from 1999 to 2008. MSM constitutes about 10% of AIDS diagnoses, while heterosexual contact accounted for about 30%. This is in comparison to Whites in which over 50% of AIDS diagnoses were attributed to MSM, followed by IDU (20%) and heterosexual exposure (19%). Aboriginal persons accounted for

2.8% of all AIDS diagnosis from 1979 to 2008, the third highest percentage, following White (81.4%) and Blacks (9.3%).

## 2.2.2. Saskatchewan

Unlike the national trend, since 2003, SK has seen a consistent rise in new HIV cases. The populations growing problem is not only concerning, but also quite unique when compared to national trends. This section discusses SK's HIV epidemiology and provides a comparison to the national trends. In addition, it comments on the large problem of IDU and concludes with comments on SK's HIV epidemic.

Epidemiological statistics show the emergence of HIV in the province of SK. Since 1984, when HIV became notifiable, there were 1198 HIV cases, of which 75% were identified in the years 2000-2009.<sup>2</sup> Compared to 2007, this province experienced a 40% increase in the number of new cases of HIV in 2008, and an additional 15% increase in 2009. <sup>2</sup> This new incidence rate has situated SK above the nation's rate.<sup>1</sup> Annual incidence rates for the provinces most affected by HIV are presented in Figure 1.1.



Figure 1.1. Annual incidence rates for select provinces in Canada, from 2000 to 2008

Source: PHAC, Surveillance Report 2008.

From an epidemiological standpoint, SK's growing HIV situation is quite unique. The demographics of this provinces HIV population differ greatly from the national trends. SK has the lowest male to female ratio at 3:2, compared to the national ratio of 5:1 from 1985 to 2008.<sup>1</sup> Trends in gender have fluctuated within the last 10 years. Since 2007, male cases have surpassed female cases. When stratified by age, 2009 data shows female continued to more numerous in the lower age groups (15-29 years) while males were more numerous in the older age groups (>30 years),<sup>2</sup> as was the case in 2008.<sup>1</sup> In 2008, the mean age of female cases was 30.8 years with a range from 15-53, while male cases had a mean age of 37.8 with a range from 16-77.<sup>1</sup>

Aboriginal people are over represented in SK's HIV population comprising 79% of all new HIV cases in 2009, compared to the national rate of 29.4%.<sup>1</sup> Since 2006, they annually represent over 65% of new cases. This disparity is even more notable among females; eighty-nine percent of all female cases were Aboriginals in 2008 (70% for males).<sup>2</sup>

In terms of exposure categories, SK's major route of transmission continues to be injection drug use. In the early 2000s, IDU exposure accounted for nearly half of all HIV cases annually in SK. This percentage has since risen to 75% in 2008,<sup>15</sup> which is much higher than the national percentage of 18.9%.<sup>1</sup> In SK, MSM and heterosexual contact continue to stay constant with only a slight increase from 2006 to 2008. In 2008, MSM accounted for less than 5% of new cases while heterosexual contact accounted for less than 3%.<sup>15</sup> This trend contrasts with the nation's major route of transmission, MSM (45%).<sup>1</sup> Transmission via IDU has actually been decreasing in Canada.<sup>1</sup>

AIDS diagnosis became a reportable disease in 1984. Since then, there have been 271 AIDS cases in SK, comprising of 215 males and 56 females. In 2009, there were 14 AIDS cases. With regards to mortality among AIDS cases, there have been 199 deaths since 1984. In 2009, six newly diagnosed AIDS cases died within the same year of their diagnosis.<sup>2</sup>

The major mode of transmission points to the significant problem of IDU in Saskatchewan. According to estimates in 2008, there were roughly 5,000 IDUs in the province, concentrated in the three largest cities; powdered cocaine and opiates, particularly morphine, identified as the most commonly used injection drugs.<sup>16</sup> These IDU are marginalized and impoverished populations, many suffering from abuse and neglect, lack of education and employment and racism.<sup>16</sup> While HCV co-infections appeared to be common in the early 2000s, HIV appears to be a new concern for these individuals. The I-track, an enhanced surveillance assessment among IDUs, was carried out in seven cities across Canada, including Regina, SK in 2004.<sup>17</sup> The study include 250 IDUs residing in Regina at the time of data collection. HIV tests found the prevalence among these IDUs to be 2.9%, roughly 10 times higher than that of the Canadian adult population (0.3%), but much lower than the average national rate of 14% among IDUs. However, the prevalence of HCV was found to be 63.7%, which closely resembled the prevalence of other cities. However, in 2007 HIV had risen to 9.0% (information from the I-track study, not yet published and obtained from the Needle Exchange Review Report<sup>16</sup>). In 2008, the Saskatoon Health Region (SHR) reported a prevalence of 15.0% among its active registered needle exchange clients.<sup>16</sup>

The rise in cases in SK is likely attributed to a continued spread of the virus and not other potentially competing causes (such as increased testing). However, it is important to note that beginning in 2005, the consistent rise in HIV cases caused changes in public health surveillance contact tracing.<sup>18</sup> Initiated at the SHR, additional naming of 'other individuals that you may feel are at-risk for HIV acquisition' was included in contact tracing. This enhanced surveillance investigation method helped public health workers identify other individuals who may benefit from testing. This was later adopted by the Regina Qu'Appelle Health Region and assisted further identification of HIV positive individuals. While this protocol change may have

accounted for some of the increase in HIV cases in the years that followed, it is unlikely to account for all of it. In 2005, 0.14% of all specimens tested positive. This percentage had steadily increased to 0.37% in 2008, indicating a continued spread of HIV infections.<sup>15</sup>

#### 2.2.3. Saskatoon

The Saskatoon Health Region (SHR) encompasses the city of Saskatoon along with numerous surrounding communities, rural municipalities and First Nations communities. The region accounts for 5.25% of Saskatchewan's geographic area and approximately 30% of the province's population.<sup>19</sup> Data specific to Saskatoon is not generally available, and thus data from the SHR will be discussed, unless otherwise stated.

Within SK, the SHR has been particularly burdened by the spread of HIV. Since 2004, the rates of new HIV infections for the SHR have consistently been slightly higher than that of the provincial rate.<sup>19</sup> However, in more recent years, this disparity has widened, with an incidence of 31.3 per 100,000 in 2009 for SHR compared to 20.0 for the province.<sup>19</sup> In total, the region accounted for ~48% of the province's new cases in 2009.<sup>20</sup>

HCV, hepatitis C virus, causing chronic liver disease, has also been increasing in the health region. The incidence rate increased from 63.3 per 100,000 in 1996 to 82.4 in 2008. This is in contrast to the national trend where HCV infections are decreasing.<sup>19</sup>

Similar to provincial trends, IDU continues to be a major driver of HIV infections in SHR. It is estimated that there are roughly 2000 IDUs in Saskatoon.<sup>16</sup> As mentioned previously, based on the database from the needle exchange site in Saskatoon, the prevalence of HIV among active registered needle exchange clients was 15.0% in 2008. In addition to addiction problems, these individuals are of great concern due to other reasons, including high mobility and unwillingness to seek care. Based on a survey administered in 2008 to IDUs in Saskatoon, over one third (37.7%) of participants reported spending three or more consecutive days in a rural community or reserve in the last six months.<sup>21</sup> This was similar among those reporting a history of HIV (38.9%). The survey also found that 45.7% of participants did not go to health care centre even when they thought they should; the majority mentioned discrimination as a reason why they did not seek care. These are concerning findings given the self-reported prevalence of HIV and HCV among these survey participants was 23.8% and 79.5%, respectively. Transient behaviours, particularly travel to rural communities, is concerning as harm reduction services such as needle exchange programs are not available in many rural areas of SK and an average of 18.5 needles per person per day was reported among these study participants.<sup>21</sup>

#### 2.3. Disease progression

HIV disease progression is a continuum of progressive damage to the immune system from the time of infection to the manifestation of severe immunologic damage by opportunistic infections or low CD4+ T-lymphocyte that define AIDS. CD4+ T-lymphocytes will be described below. Progression can be described to follow a rudimentary course that includes an acute infection, a clinically asymptomatic period, a symptomatic period and death. Generally, the time of infection

is unknown. Nevertheless, the acute infection is the initial HIV infection characterized by a period of flu-like symptoms. During this stage the body produces HIV antibodies and seroconverts to HIV-positive status. This stage is often referred to as seroconversion. Following seroconversion is the asymptomatic period, in which the virus is present in the body but does not produce significant symptoms. As the virus continues to replicate there is progressive damage to the immune system subsequently leading to clinical symptoms and opportunistic infections. A profound immune suppression is representative of a clinical diagnosis of AIDS. Without treatment, HIV infection will typically lead to death.<sup>22</sup>

However, considerable variability is seen in the natural history of HIV disease progression.<sup>23</sup> While the stages mentioned above tend to occur in sequence, it is possible to experience several stages simultaneously or to alternate among stages. To better understand the variability, two key biomarkers need to be discussed.

CD4+ T lymphocytes and viral load are considered important biomarkers of HIV disease progression. CD4+ T lymphocytes are cells of the immune system, which begin to deplete as the virus infects the body. These cells are more simply termed CD4 cells and will be referred like so from here onwards. Viral load is a term referring to the HIV RNA concentration in the body. As the virus replicates, the RNA concentration increases in the bodily fluids, including the blood. Both of these markers are measured through a blood sample and result in the count of CD4 cells per millimeter cubed and the number of viral copies per milliliter of blood.<sup>22</sup>

Given its direct relation to the immune system, CD4 cell counts are the primary indicator for prognostic information and a guide for antiretroviral therapy for HIV-positive individuals.<sup>24</sup> However, the combination of the viral RNA (i.e., viral load) and CD4 cell count more accurately predict the time to AIDS than the CD4 cell count alone. The CD4 cell count indicates the degree of immunosuppression, and a viral load correlates with more rapid progression.<sup>24</sup> Figure 1.2 illustrates how these two biomarkers highlight changes in disease progression.



Figure 1.2. CD4 cell counts and viral load changes during progression of the disease

Source: Originally published as Figure 1 in Pantaleo G, et al. New concepts in the immunopathogenesis of human immunodeficiency virus infection. New England Journal of Medicine, 1993;328(5)

As can be seen in Figure 1.2, there is an initial drop in CD4 cell during the acute infection, followed by a small rebound in the following year. Subsequently, CD4 counts progressively decline over time. The decline in CD4 cells varies for each individual. Similarly, the

concentration of the virus spikes during infection, followed by a slower incline in the following years. The subsequent increase in viral load will vary for each individual.

As mentioned, this pattern in progression varies considerably. Review of progression among the HIV population has lead to three main patterns in progression rates. The key differences are highlighted by the different trends in CD4 counts and viral load. These three patterns are illustrated in Figure 1.3.



Figure 1.3. HIV-RNA levels and CD4 counts at three rates of disease progression

Source: Langford et al. Predictors of disease progression in HIV infection: a review. AIDS Research and Therapy. 2007;4(11).

Patients following the various rates have been termed typical progressors or intermediate progressors, long-term nonprogressors, and rapid progressors.<sup>22</sup> Typical progressors represent roughly 50-70% of HIV infected individuals. For the majority of the population, disease progresses over 8-10 years from infection to AIDS. Long-term nonprogressors experience delayed progression as indicated by measures such as CD4 cell loss, viral load, and time to

death. Long-term nonprogressors carry on without AIDS for 10 or more years, comprising about 5% of the population. Rapid progressors, on the other hand, develop AIDS in 2-3 years from seroconversion and comprise 5-10% of all HIV infected individuals. These individuals have a rapid decline in CD4 cells and increase in viral load.<sup>22</sup>

#### 2.3.1. Measures of disease progression

Various measures with differing endpoints have been used to define disease progression. No one definition is more prominent or important than the other; instead, each definition contributes to the overall understanding of disease progression. Below is a brief description of the various measure used to define disease progression, what information each contributes, and their limitations.

## **Observed AIDS-free Interval**

One commonly used measure is referred to as an observed AIDS-free interval, which measures time from HIV diagnosis to AIDS. Its popularity is likely due to the availability of these two data points. Within this definition, AIDS diagnosis has be classified in one of two ways. Clinical AIDS refers to a diagnosis due to the development of an AIDS defining disease, as per the corresponding guidelines. Immunological AIDS refers to the development of severe CD4 lymphocytopenia (i.e. CD4 count < 200 cells/ $\mu$ L). Both clinical AIDS or immunological AIDS are representative definitions for advanced HIV disease.<sup>25</sup>

The observed AIDS-free interval provides important information about disease progression following diagnosis. However, an observed AIDS-free interval is shaped by the timing of HIV diagnosis and therefore does not allow a differentiation between late diagnosis and rapid progression. Nevertheless, by controlling for CD4 counts at diagnosis, comparisons between groups can be performed. Cohorts that deliver information from HIV diagnosis are referred to as seroprevalent cohorts.

## HIV to Death

Mortality is an alternate endpoint used to define the progression of the disease. Death can be specific to the diagnosis (i.e. HIV-related mortality) or non-specific (i.e. all cause mortality). Both provide important information about the causes of death specific to HIV positive populations, given this population increased susceptibility to other chronic conditions. This measure of progression, time from HIV diagnosis to death, provides important information about survival following HIV diagnosis, valueable data for health care planning. Nevertheless, measures relying on date of diagnosis as the starting point can not provide "true" data on disease progression.

#### HIV seroconversion to AIDS and Death

A more accurate measure of disease progression defines time from HIV seroconversion to AIDS or death. These two measures provide data unbiased by the delay in diagnosis. Occasionally these measures are limited to data prior to treatment initiation, providing information on the natural course of HIV disease progression. However, it is sometimes more informative to

include data following treatment. This latter measure provides information on the real progression of the disease within the context of the resources that are available, such as treatment.

Unlike HIV diagnosis, the date of seroconversion is generally unknown, and difficult to obtain. Occasionally, when an HIV test result is indeterminate, the specimen is further tested for a p24 antigen, which is present in the blood only during the initial phase of HIV infection. This, along with recent prior negative HIV tests, are appropriate methods available for obtaining an estimated seroconversion date when dealing with retrospective data.<sup>26, 27</sup>

Overcoming the initial obstacle of determining the initial infection has its advantages. As mentioned previously, working with HIV seroconversion allows disease progression to be evaluated in its truest form and allows for equal comparisons. This measure is not biased by delays in diagnosis. A cohort containing this information is referred to as a seroincident (or seroconversion) cohort.

## CD4 cell decline

The final measure that is commonly employed takes advantage of an important biomarker in disease progression, CD4 counts. While slightly variable during the initial phase of infection, CD4 counts slowly decrease through the chronic phase of infection. During this specific stage, CD4 counts have been shown to decrease in a linear association with time. When looking to

compare groups, this measure has a strong advantage. Unlike time-to-event analysis, which all the previous measures would generally require, this measure uses longitudinal analysis resulting in a difference of CD4 counts per specified time between the groups of interest. This difference is easy to understand and interpret. A time-to-event analysis, provides a hazard ratio (HR), which is less easy to understand. However, this analysis is more difficult to apply due to the variability seen at the beginning and later stages of disease progression. Identifying when an individual is at the chronic phase of infection can be difficult to assess. In addition, this measure requires a long follow-up time with multiple data points for each patient to provide accurate results.<sup>28</sup> Moreover, factors such as other infections, stress and drugs can highly affect absolute CD4 counts, which could introduce further noise.

### 2.4. Potential prognostic factors influencing disease progression

There is a large volume of literature that has been published on the topic of HIV disease progression. This literature review focuses solely on demographic variables, behavioural factors and clinical variables, covariates that were available to be studied in this research. Please refer to the methods section for further details on those variables. This review does not attempt to include all papers written on the subject, but rather provides an overview of the topic.

## 2.4.1. Demographics

Research in the field of HIV disease progression commonly assesses the effects of demographic variables. These variables are repeatedly studied due to the disparities seen in the number of HIV and AIDS cases across the various demographics. As mentioned previously, males,

Aboriginal persons, and those aged 30-39 at diagnosis are more prevalent than females, non-Aboriginal persons and those of other age groups in Canada's HIV & AIDS diagnosed population.<sup>1</sup> A review of these demographic variables is written below. Due to the limited research in disease progression within Canada, most of the literature focuses on other countries.

#### Age

Age, typically defined as age at HIV diagnosis (or seroconversion), is well acknowledged to effect disease progression. Older age has repeatedly been found to be associated with poorer survival and faster progression.<sup>23, 29-35</sup> For example, a Canadian study found men aged 30 and over experienced a mortality risk about 50% higher than men under 30 years of age,<sup>33</sup> while another study found an increased risk of death at a rate of 2% per year of age.<sup>30</sup> Age has been shown to be a significant predictor of survival and disease progression independent of gender, exposure category, ethnicity, prior treatment and CD4 counts.<sup>29, 30</sup>

While not fully understood, several biological factors associated with age are believed to contribute to this more rapid course. Aging is associated with an increase in co-morbidities, which are believed to impact disease progression and survival.<sup>36</sup> Similarly, age is correlated with diminishing immune function, another factor likely to effect progression.<sup>31</sup> A study by Geskus et al<sup>37</sup> highlighted this by showing that at similar times from seroconversion older age was associated with lower CD4 counts.

Due to the importance of age at diagnosis, it would be beneficial to quantify the influence of age on HIV disease progression in this study's population. Furthermore, it would be necessary to control for this potential confounder in the analysis.

#### Gender

Mostly sex, and sometimes gender, are terms applied to the study of the variables 'male' and 'female' in HIV disease progression analysis. However, before commenting on the findings of these studies, it is important to define these two distinct but inextricably interconnected constructs and explain why it is important to acknowledge these differences.

As defined by Johnson et al,<sup>38</sup> sex is "a multidimensional biological construct that encompasses anatomy, physiology, genes, and hormones, which together affect how we are labelled and treated in the world." The researchers contrast gender as "a multidimensional social construct that is culturally based and historically specific, and thus constantly changing. Gender refers to the social prescribed and experienced dimensions of femaleness or maleness in a society, and is manifested at many levels." In essence, it is a distinction between biological sex and the social conventions, roles and behaviours regarding that biological sex. For instance, once exposed to HIV through heterosexual contact, women are more likely to acquire the virus than men, due to the biological physiologies. Moreover, in cultures where gender inequities are present, varying powers to negotiate around sex may also increase the risk of transmission for women. In these two examples, the risk of exposure is gender-linked while the risk of acquisition is sex-linked. It is in the understanding and applying of these two constructs to health research that will yield more comprehensive science which in turn informs policy and effective programs.<sup>38</sup>

It is thought that the 'male' and 'female' dichotomy routinely collected in questionnaires provides both the sex and gender of individuals, given the interconnectedness of these two structures.<sup>38</sup> Prins et al thus suggests that, "there is no difference in the use of the binary variables of sex and gender. The distinction between the two terms is usually relevant only when the mechanisms of influence are being studied."<sup>39</sup> The variables available for this study do not provide for an analysis of the mechanisms that may influence potential differences between men and women. Furthermore, sex or gender based analysis is currently lacking in the field of HIV disease progression. Sex and gender are incorrectly interchanged in much of the research, with sex being the more dominate term in this literature. When differences are noted, researchers tend to relate to social constructs as possible suggestions for the inequities. Give the greater support for the latter option, as is touched upon in the literature review, gender was chosen as the term to use for this study. However, it is entirely possible that biological factors may be the cause or could contribute to the potential differences observed.

The binary variable of 'male' and 'female' is commonly collected and included in HIV disease progression analysis. However, the effects of this variable are highly variable and inconclusive. The literature review is presented in two parts, studies pertaining to the pre-HAART era and those pertaining to the post-HAART. This was done given the large impact treatment has had on HIV disease progression. These two lines of studies tend to also provide different information.
Pre-HAART studies inform on the natural course of HIV disease progression, while post-HAART studies tend to relate to beneficiary outcomes of treatment. Of course, post-HAART studies can choose to focus on treatment naive cohorts, and thus would also obtain information on the natural history of progression.

Since early on, studies were examining the effects of gender on disease progression. A total of 20 studies were found to have assessed gender in the pre-HAART era. While the majority of studies found no significant effects, <sup>30, 32, 40-53</sup> a few studies did find an association.<sup>35, 54-56</sup> All but one of these studies<sup>54</sup> were prospective cohorts from the United States, and they found that men had a lower risk of progression from HIV or AIDS diagnosis. The remaining study, by Prins and colleagues,<sup>54</sup> was one of seven seroconversion cohorts. While Prins et al. combined 8 European IDU cohorts, its sample size was comparable to other seroconversion cohorts. In contrast to the three US studies, this study found women were at lower risk of progression to AIDS, but no differences were observed for mortality. In general, while some studies did show differences in progression rates, when adjustments were made for factors such as socioeconomic status and health care utilization these differences disappeared, similar to what others have concluded.<sup>57</sup>

An additional six studies were identified that assessed this particular topic in the post-HAART era. Again, a minority of the studies found a significant association<sup>58, 59</sup> while the rest did not.<sup>60-63</sup> The two former studies were based on US surveillance data, which did not contain information on treatment use or adherence and thus represented more crude statistics. Interestingly, Grigoryan et al<sup>58</sup> focused on IDUs from 33 states and found women were at a lowers risk of

AIDS and death, which was in contrast to Hall et al<sup>59</sup> findings. For the entire population (i.e. not only IDUs), Hall et al found men appeared to have better outcomes.

Eight additional studies examined gender extending across both eras. All but one study, by Poundstone et al,<sup>64</sup> were based on a seroconversion cohort. Four of these were larger studies composed of up to 38 different cohorts from Europe, Australia and North America. This expanding cohort has been termed Concerted Action on SeroConversion to AIDS and Death in Europe (CASCADE). The first, in 2000, consisted of 5893 seroconverters from European countries and Australia and found no differences in survival on the basis of gender.<sup>65</sup> The second CASCADE based study in 2000, included additional cohorts resulting in a sample size of 13 030 patients, did find a lower risk of death and AIDS progression for women compared to men. However, this was no longer the case when analysis was restricted to IDU and HC.<sup>66</sup> In 2003, analysis was restricted to IDUs, and they observed a lower risk of death for women in 1999-2001 compared to men.<sup>67</sup> This was not noted in the period prior to 1999. Again, in 2008, including all cases, researchers noted women had slower progression to AIDS & death in the post-HAART era, something not noted in the pre-HAART era. They found a 24% lower risk of AIDS and 32% lower risk of death in women compared to men from 1997 onward. This study highlights that while the possibility for a biological factor accounting for these differences is possible, changes over time are more likely attributable to external changes, such as the environment.

Two other studies were from a Spanish cohort, termed Spanish Multicentre Study Group of Seroconverters (GEMES). The first study was published in 2003, and it noted women IDU had a slower progression to AIDS and death than men IDUs. Attempting to further explore these results, the second study in 2004 further controlled for educational level.<sup>68</sup> Results became marginally significant. Finally, the remaining two studies were US based. Sterling et al noted no differences in their seroconversion cohort.<sup>69</sup> Poundstone et al did find men to have a lower risk of opportunistic infections or death than women in a seroprevalent cohort.<sup>64</sup> In total, half of the studies found significant differences.

Although these disparities have been shown to exist, there tends to be a general consensus that gender is a function of a social construct and not biological. Therefore, while crude data may show differences in progression, after adjusting for confounders these differences tend to disappear. This is highlighted in the latest literature review conducted in 2005. Prins, Meyer, and Hessol<sup>70</sup> concluded that there was little evidence for sex differences in the rate of disease progression in both the pre- and post-HAART eras indicating there were no differences in the natural course of HIV or in the benefits of antiretroviral therapy. In reviewing settings with acceptable gender equity in access to care, women have been reported to be healthier, more likely to exercise health-seeking patterns, and have higher rates of adherence compared to men, which could potential explain the differences observed.<sup>70-73</sup>

In Canada we tend to find an over representation of males in our HIV population (5:1 ratio). However, Saskatchewan has the lowest male to female ratio (3:2) compared to the other provinces.<sup>1</sup> In acknowledging this province's unique characteristics, it is important to identify how gender may be impacting progression of the disease.

### Ethnicity

Similar to gender, ethnicity has always been of interest due to the disparities seen in prevalence and clinical outcomes in the various ethnic groups since the beginning of the epidemic. Historically, HIV and AIDS disproportionately affected minority groups in North America, and these minorities had consistently shown less favorable clinical outcomes.<sup>74, 75</sup> Currently, this trend continues to exist and a review of the crude national statistics in America clearly highlights this point.<sup>43, 58, 59, 76</sup> The magnitude of these ethnic disparities also appear to be increasing. While survival has dramatically increased largely due to the widespread use of HAART, these beneficial effects have not been uniformally distributed. American data found hazard ratios for survival for AIDS-diagnosed non-Hispanic blacks compared to whites increased from 1.18 in 1993-1995 to 1.51 in 1996-2001, a 33% increase.<sup>77</sup> This increased risk was not due to a faster progression in non-Hispanic blacks, but as a result of the decreased progression rate in the whites due to treatment.<sup>77</sup> These growing disparities have consequently led to researching the association of ethnicity and disease progression.

Studies in both the pre-HAART and post-HAART era have found inconsistent results. Unadjusted results for some studies found ethnicity to influence disease progression,<sup>45, 60, 62, 78-81</sup> but not all.<sup>5, 35, 40, 50, 63, 64</sup> The vast majority of these studies were from the US. In general, minority groups, such as blacks and Hispanics were shown to have unfavorable outcomes compared to whites. However, when adjusting for potential confounders such as treatment, age, and clinical status at baseline, however, these differences disappeared. It is difficult to draw conclusion given the inherent limitations of these studies. All of the studies were based on seroprevalent cohorts, with varying study designs and definitions of ethnicity/ race. One of the more rigorous studies was a multi-centre randomized control trial composed of 1357 treatment naive patients initiating HAART.<sup>60</sup> This study found that at enrollment, African Americans had lower CD4 count, more likely to have history of AIDS and hepatitis C compared to whites. Adherence scores were also lower in African Americans than whites. When adjusting for all these differences, ethnicity was no longer a predictor of AIDS diagnosis or death. These studies seem to suggest that disparities in HIV disease progression are more likely the result of social and not biological factors. Differences observed could be reflective of differences in access and use of health care for minority groups compared to whites, particularly when these studies are based in a setting without universal health care.

It is important to note a Switzerland study that found contrasting results.<sup>82</sup> This study compared follow-up data of 586 treatment naive HIV residents. African descent was associated with a slower decline in CD4 cell counts compared to European descent (+26.6 cells/yr., p<0.001). The decline in CD4 cell count was not found to be dependent on baseline VL for those of African descent. The authors state that these results could point to a potential tolerance of high virus levels in patients of African descent. Two American studies have also found this association,<sup>55</sup> one within a subgroup population.<sup>35</sup> With this findings in mind, it is quite possible that both social and biological factors may play into ethnic disparities. Teasing apart the effects of these two factors, however, is a definite challenge.

# Aboriginal Ethnicity

In Canada, the ethnic group of Aboriginal people experience wide disparities in health compared to their non-Aboriginal counterparts. Mortality and morbidity rates of Aboriginal people are higher than in the general Canadian population.<sup>83, 84</sup> Aboriginal people also tend to have lower family income, lower education attainment, and inadequate housing,<sup>85, 86</sup> indicators of a lower socio-economic status, which have been linked directly to health.<sup>87</sup> These disparities in the health status of Aboriginal people have been traced back to Aboriginal-specific historical contextual factors such as colonization and racism,<sup>88</sup> which have been linked directly and indirectly to adverse health outcomes for Aboriginal people.<sup>87, 89</sup>

These health disparities are also very evident in the field of HIV. As mentioned previously, Aboriginals are disproportionately burdened by HIV/AIDS in Canada. While Aboriginal people account for only 3.8% of Canada's population, they constitute 16.2% of all HIV cases in Canada from 1984 to 2008.<sup>1</sup> Aboriginal people make up a unique segment with different characteristics. In comparison to non-Aboriginal people, HIV positive Aboriginal people tend to be younger and have a higher proportion of women, with IDU being the dominate driver of transmission. These characteristics raise further issues such as pregnancy and mother to child transmission.<sup>90</sup> Due to these unique characteristics and the vulnerabilities linked to the social determinants of health, it is important to examine the effects of Aboriginal ethnicity on disease progression. A review of the literature yielded one study focused on Aboriginal people and disease progression. This study, from British Columbia, Canada, was based on a longitudinal cohort. The findings showed that Aboriginals persons had all-cause mortality rates 3.12 times higher than non-Aboriginals.<sup>80</sup> This study was able to control for many potential confounders including treatment and adherence, in addition to equal health care access. The all-cause mortality rate was associated mainly with HIV-related causes. Co-morbidities, however, were not controlled for in the study. One additional US study should be noted. This study by Diamond et al<sup>79</sup> compared American Indians/Alaska Natives (AI/AN) to non-AI/AN from three western metropolitan cities in the US. AI/AN ethnicity was found to be predictive of a slower progression to clinical AIDS compared to non-AI/AN but not for immunological AIDS (i.e. CD4 counts below 200). In the adjusted model, however, no differences were seen between the two groups. This study, however, is limited chiefly by its inability to compare between the various ethnic groups, but rather pooled 54% Whites, 20% Blacks, 22% Latinos and 2% Asian and Pacific Islanders into one category and compared it to the 1% AI/AN, which likely diluted any potential differences. No studies incorporating Aboriginal ethnicity were found to examine time to AIDS.

There is reasonable conjecture to believe that Aboriginal people may have a more rapid progression that non-Aboriginal people. In efforts to understand why there is a high proportion of Aboriginal people, much research has focused on the antecedent risk factors of HIV acquisition. Aboriginals people appear to have an increase of antecedent risk factors for HIV infections, such as sexual abuse, history of IDU, poverty, poor mental health and involvement in the sex trade.<sup>91-93</sup> Unfortunately, HIV infected Aboriginals are also more like to suffer from other morbidities, including Hepatitis C co-infections, and depression.<sup>80</sup> Aboriginal ethnicity has also been shown to be associated with a lower likelihood of HIV treatment.<sup>94</sup> All of these factors have been linked to poor outcomes in disease progression.

In summary, there is limited research on this topic providing a lack of understanding on the influences of Aboriginal ethnicity on disease progression.

While examing Aboriginal ethnicity, the author acknowldegdes that precautions need to be undertaken when dealing with ethnic data. While aiming to better characterize the natural history of HIV positive patients researchers must be aware that differences in ethnicity may be simply due to differences in socioeconomic factors, which may be a much better predictor of differences. Also, it must be noted that differences observed could lead to increased discrimination or stigmatization of particular ethnic groups. On the other hand, failure to address ethnic difference may have severe consequences. Ignoring ethnicity would prevent the acquisition of knowledge of disparities in health among ethnic groups. It would weaken the efforts of public health to properly respond. Furthermore, inadequate knowledge would give false reassurance, and most importantly could lead to further marginalization of vulnerable groups.

### 2.4.2. Behavioural factors

More recently the effects of poor health behaviours, such as substance abuse (e.g. injection drug use) and smoking, have began to be examined. There is great interest in looking at these factors,

because while other cofactors, such as age or genetic composition, are not alterable, lifestyle factors are modifiable. It must be noted that there are other variables that are showing potentially important associations with HIV disease progression, such as alcohol use.<sup>95</sup> However, this literature review will only focus on those variables which are available to be assessed in this study. Presented below is a review on the effects of drug use and smoking on disease progression.

# Drug use

Drug use is associated with many harmful consequences including health problems. It is not surprising that the potential impacts of drug use have been of interest with regards to disease progression. Raw data, as expected, shows IDU is association with a higher risk of mortality. For instance, US national data showed that male IDUs were at a greater risk for death than men who have sex with men (MSM).<sup>59</sup> More recent analysis of 33 US states from 1996 to 2004, found three year survival after HIV diagnosis was lower for IDU males than males exposed through male-to-male sexual contact or high-risk heterosexual contact. Survival was also lower for IDU females compared to high-risk heterosexual contact females. The analysis controlled for race, age, CD4 cell count at diagnosis, concurrent diagnosis of HIV and AIDS, metropolitan residence and diagnosis year.<sup>58</sup>

Strong support from the harmful effects from drug use come from studies based in basic science. In vitro research has highlighted that drugs including morphine, cocaine, and marijuana upregulates the growth of HIV.<sup>96, 97</sup> Cocaine has also been shown to cause immune alterations and interfere with the body's defenses suggesting that it may directly affect the pathology of HIV.<sup>98, 99</sup>

However, epidemiological research on this topic has yielded inconsistent results. Most rigorous prospective studies with seroconversion cohorts have found no differences in progression to AIDS or death.<sup>29, 53, 65, 66, 100</sup> Two of these studies, published in 2000, were based on the expanding CASCADE cohort. Interestingly, a third study based on the CASCADE cohort was published 3 years later with contrasting results.<sup>67</sup> In the pre-HAART era, IDU had a lower adjusted hazard ratio for AIDS than MSM (HR: 0.74; 95%CI: 0.64-0.86). This reversed in 1999-2001 with an adjusted HR of 2.76 (95%CI: 1.87-4.06). Similar results were seen for survival analysis. While these studies have large sample sizes and are based on seroconversion cohorts, they do have a few key limitations. First, they have utilized the transmission mode of IDU as a proxy for drug use. This results in a possible misclassification bias as it excludes drug users who do not inject. Second, the comparison group of MSM may be inappropriate as we know that they tend to have different characteristics (see below). And finally, there is a lack of control for important confounders such as access to and adherence to treatment. What most studies do consistently report is that IDU exposure category is associated with a lower reduction in risk to AIDS and death compared to the other exposure categories (MSM and HC) in the post-HAART era compared to the pre-HAART era.<sup>67, 72, 101</sup> Additional prospective cohort studies focused on IDUs have noted substantial pre-AIDS morbidity and mortality compared to other transmission categories.<sup>102, 103</sup>

In effort to further explore drug use, other measures have been used. For instance, three seroprevalent studies have tested the association between frequency of drug use or current versus former drug use. Similarly, no differences were seen between these measures.<sup>52, 104-106</sup> Other studies have focused on the type of drugs. In a large US longitudinal multi-center cohort of 1686 women, crack cocaine use was shown to be an independent predictor for AIDS-related mortality, immunologic and virologic markers of HIV-1 disease progression and the development of AIDSdefining illnesses.<sup>107</sup> Specifically, they found persistent crack users had an adjusted HR of 1.65 (p<0.05) and intermittent crack users had an adjusted HR of 1.57 (p<0.01) for AIDS compared to nonusers. The hazard ratio for mortality was 3.61 (p<0.001) for persistent crack users than nonusers, but no difference for intermittent users. This study was able to control for many important confounders including treatment adherence and socioeconomic status. Two other studies have similarly found crack-cocaine to be associated with AIDS.<sup>46, 108</sup> Hallucinogen use has also been significantly associated with both AIDS diagnosis and death in another US study. <sup>109</sup> In this study, cocaine use was only associated with a higher risk of death. A combination of crack cocaine and marijuana has also been shown to increase the rate of progression to CD4 count <200 cells/ml to 2.42 times higher, when controlling for ART and alcohol.<sup>108</sup>

A critical review by Kapdia et al<sup>110</sup> in 2005 attempted to reconcile difference between laboratory and epidemiological investigations with regards to the role of substance abuse in HIV disease progression. The authors note that epidemiological studies have key methodological issues. As mentioned previously, comparing IDU to MSM is problematic in that MSM tend to have different characteristics, such as higher socioeconomic status than IDUs. Furthermore, IDU are more likely to experience non-AIDS-related mortality due to overdose, violence and accidents potentially masking differences between IDU and non-IDUs. Lastly, IDUs enrolled in cohorts may be healthier and better able to manage their drug use, thus progressing to AIDS or death less rapidly. The authors concluded that findings from both of these fields indicate that the relationship between drug use and HIV disease progression may be "mediated by several key factors, including immunological and virological conditions affecting host susceptibility, underlying co-morbidities among drug users, use of antiretroviral therapy, and viral strain, as well as pharmacodynamic aspects of drug use, such as the pattern and type of drug administration and the route of administration."<sup>110</sup>

In summary, while laboratory studies do seem to provide reasonable support for IDU potentially adverse effects on progression, epidemiological studies provide mixed results. Studies focused on IDU found minimal differences, while studies focused on other routes of administration found more significant results. Certain methodological limitations may account for differences seen between these two lines of research.

### Smoking

Similarly to drug use, smoking is another life-style factor that is more common among those with HIV compared with the general population.<sup>111</sup> In parts of Canada, smoking prevalence was three times higher for HIV positive individuals than that of the general population.<sup>112</sup> As such, it is important to examine its potential effects on disease progression, and few studies have done so.

In 2006 a systematic literature review was conducted on this topic by Furber et al.<sup>113</sup> Included were 10 studies using progression to AIDS as an endpoint, in which nine found no relation with tobacco smoking. The authors did note that most of the studies were done in the pre-HAART ear and were conducted over a short follow-up period. With the increased life expectancy due to HAART, it is possible that the smoking may now cause inter-current illness, which could contribute to general debilitation and progression to AIDS. More recent research has shown that inter-current illnesses are more frequent in smokers compared to non-smokers among those HIV positive.<sup>112</sup>

Additional studies were since published. Three of these studies focused on the incidence of respiratory-related infections (tuberculosis, bacterial pneumonia, and pneumocystis carinii pneumonia), some of which are considered AIDS-defining illnesses.<sup>114-116</sup> All three found an increased relative risk of getting these respiratory infections ranging from 1.56 to 2.55 higher for smokers compared to non-smokers. The final study examined declines in CD4 cells and found an increased risk of developing AIDS (HR, 1.36; 95%CI, 1.07-1.72) among smokers compared to non-smokers.<sup>117</sup> Three studies also assessed the effects of cigarette smoking on mortality. All found an increased hazard ratio for all-cause mortality (ranging from 1.53-1.99) when comparing current smokers to never smokers.<sup>115, 117, 118</sup>

In summary, owing to the increased life expectancy in the post-highly active antiretroviral therapy ear, smoking is likely an increasingly important contributor to morbidity and mortality in HIV infected populations.<sup>119</sup> Furthermore, the high prevalence of smoking in Saskatoon's HIV

positive population makes it even more important to examine this life-style factor influence on disease progression.

# 2.4.3. Clinical factors

Co-morbidities not only reduce the quality of life for HIV infected persons, but may also be influencing disease progression. Numerous studies have shown certain co-morbidities were associated with HIV disease progression.<sup>120-123</sup>

# Hepatitis C Co-infection

Due to the shared modes of transmission, Hepatitis C virus (HCV) co-infections are high among HIV positive IDUs, with a prevalence of 50-80% in Western Canada.<sup>124, 125</sup> A high proportion of Saskatchewan's HIV population are IDUs,<sup>15</sup> and consequently HCV co-infections are a significant problem for this province. Thus, this potential risk factor is important to address.

HIV infection has been associated with faster progression of HCV-related liver disease,<sup>126</sup> however, the effect of HCV infection on the progression of HIV are less clear. While numerous studies have found an association<sup>127-131</sup> other have not.<sup>132-135</sup>

A recent meta-analysis examining the effect of HCV infection on HIV disease progression and overall mortality was conducted. Based on 27 studies in HAART era, the authors calculated that HCV co-infection was associated with a 35% increased risk of mortality, but not the risk of AIDS

defining events.<sup>136</sup> The adverse effect of HCV co-infection was more apparent with longer follow-up and among patients who were receiving HAART than those not receiving HAART. Two of these studies adjusted for IDU, a common confounder in HIV and HCV co-infected cohorts, and found the negative effects of HCV infection on mortality were independent of IDU. One key limitation of these studies is that all ascertained HCV infection status through antibody level, and could not control for HCV viral load or patients who experienced a spontaneous clearance of HCV without treatment, common among 25% of adults infected with HCV.<sup>137</sup>

In attempts to address the inconsistent findings, one detailed study in 2010 examined the effects of viremic load and immune activation.<sup>138</sup> It is hypothesized that immune activation, induced by an infection, leads to lengthened HIV replication period and consequently an accelerated disease progression, as has been seen with other co-morbidities.<sup>139, 140</sup> This study, focused on a US prospective cohort of women, found that HCV viremia was associated with AIDS outcome, independent of injection drug use, HIV RNA level, CD4 count and ART. Furthermore, the authors found HCV viremia was associated with CD4 and CD8 activation, independent of HIV RNA level. Finally they also showed that high levels of CD8 activation were associated with AIDS in HCV-positive viremic women but not in HCV negative women.

In summary, the literature overall does appear to suggest that HCV has adverse effects on HIV and HCV co-infected patients compared to those HIV mono-infected. However, while limited research does show influences on HIV disease progression to AIDS, a more substantial effect on overall mortality is seen. Given the high prevalence on HCV among Saskatchewan's HIV population, this is an important risk factor to consider.

### **3. Methodology**

### 3.1. Theoretical perspective & conceptual framework

This section provides a brief introduction into the theoretical perspective and conceptual model that framed this study. The theoretical perspective provides information as to the ideologies and philosophical ideas that explain health, while the conceptual model provides the operationalization of the theory for this study.

Numerous theoretical perspectives of disease or health exist to explain or predict a certain phenomena. Within the field of HIV, two commonly competing theories are present. Social production of disease is an epidemiological theory that "conceptualizes determinants of disease distribution as economic and social relationships forged by a society's political and economic structure."<sup>141</sup> The structure of the society results in a variety of social groups that are differentially aided or hindered by their position relative to others.

Within the realm of HIV research, this theory has been utilized to explain the distribution of HIV and AIDS. For instance, risk of acquisition of HIV is characterized by economic deprivation and racial discrimination.<sup>142-144</sup> Thus, "hypothesis emerging from this theory proposed explanations of HIV transmission in relation to social class, access to health-related resources, work place conditions, and discrimination based on gender, ethnicity, sexual orientation/identity or other attributes." <sup>141</sup>

A common competing theory in the field of HIV is the life-style theory. This theory postulates that determinants of disease occur as a result of behavior clusters or cultural factors that are shared among individuals.<sup>141</sup> For instance, homosexual men were believed to have a life-style conducive to HIV acquisition.<sup>145</sup> In essence, it suggests that an aggregate of individuals make choices, and that these choices thus determine the distribution of disease at a population level. A key component of this theory is that if these are individual choices, these choices are also amendable to change, which is the foundation for many HIV prevention programs.<sup>146</sup>

The two theories presented are at opposite ends of the spectrum, and positioned within is where this research lies. This researcher acknowledges that both the social and economic factor and individual factors affect the distribution of health. In fact, these two views are seen as mutually inclusive. Individuals are not self-contained units, but are highly influenced by their social structures. Similarly, political and economic structures do not solely determine individual choice. In other words, neither influence health in isolation, but it is the interplay between these two factors that determine health.

### Conceptual framework

The Etches Pyramid is a paradigm for health research, developed in 2006.<sup>147</sup> This paradigm, like many others, acknowledges that many interconnected aspects of society, the environment and individuals all contribute to the status of health. Integrated in the framework are macro- or upstream factors that affect the health of the population and individual, such as political and social influences. Also included are the meso- and micro-levels of causal analysis, which include

biological factors and more proximal causes of health such as genetic predispositions and lifestyle factors.

The life-course process is another key concept incorporated in the Etches Pyramid. This lifecourse perspective is an approach used to analyze people's lives within structural, social and cultural contexts. This approach accounts for an individual's history and examines how these earlier events influence various outcomes – in this case, health. A life course perspective is thought to contain both a 'critical period' and an 'accumulation of risk' perspective. The critical period refers to exposures acting during a specific period that have subsequent long-lasting effects on the future health of the individual. Accumulation of risk refers to an additive effect of continuous adverse exposures through-out life. Risk can also be thought to be chained together, such that one adverse exposure tends to lead to another in a sequential manner. For instance, poverty tends to be followed by poor education and unemployment. Life course is not limited to the individual, but can reach across generational effects.<sup>148</sup>

My proposed research relies on this integrated framework in which health is considered within both a temporal and hierarchical framework in a mutually inclusive manner. Presented below is a conceptual model that addresses specific determinants that were examined in this study of HIV disease progression (Figure 3.1). This conceptual model acknowledges that risk factors are operating concurrently at various hierarchical levels from the macroeconomic to the molecular. However, this conceptual model is simplified into proximal and distal influences on health. Biological factors and health behaviours are considered to be proximate level risk factors. The distal factors would include the wider upstream factors that would also directly and indirectly

impact the health of the individual. Bridging these two spheres are the social and physical environment. In this schema, proximal factors are not considered equivalent to individual factors, as individuals are recognized as social and contextualized persons and therefore their characteristics and behavioural choices are considered in-light of their surroundings.<sup>149, 150</sup> As above, these factors, do not exist in isolation, but rather continuously interact to create complex levels of health status.





Embedded within this multi-level framework is the life-course perspective. In examining ethnicity and gender, it is important to acknowledge historical and possibly intergenerational influences. Furthermore, there is an understanding that behavioral factors and clinical outcomes are shaped by experiences early in life and throughout the life-stages.<sup>151</sup> Risk acquisition evolves over time through a cumulative and interactive process.

While this study can only focus on certain proximate risk factors, their biological mediators and more distal factors are recognized as important influential domains. For instance, many viral, host and environmental factors have been identified to influence disease progression. Viral factors encompass the genetic variability of HIV, including viral subtypes<sup>152</sup> and viral phenotypes.<sup>153, 154</sup> Genetic variability of the host, such as the CCR5  $\Delta$ 32 mutation, and immune function can also come into play. Lastly, all of these factors are found to interact with the environment which can include variables such as availability of adequate medical treatment<sup>11</sup> and the coexistence of TB.<sup>155</sup> All of these factors interact to create a complex and multifaceted environment that determines the rate of disease progression.

In summary, although this research was undertaken with an understanding of the complex multilevel model, examining the effects of all potential factors is not feasible. Thus, while all components play important roles, host factors, particularly demographic variables, behavioural factors, and clinical variables are more readily identified. As such, they could potentially contribute more information. Due to the availability of these factors such as demographics this research will focus on these proximal variables.

#### 3.2. Study design

The research is a retrospective longitudinal cases-based study. Data collection comprised of data extraction from medical charts of the most recently diagnosed HIV positive patients at the Positive Living Program (PLP) and West Side Community Clinic (WCC) in Sasaktoon, Saskatchewan, Canada.

# 3.3. Setting and population

Saskatoon is the most populous urban center in the province, located in central Saskatchewan, Canada. Saskatoon's population is composed of 10% Aboriginals, and 7% other visible minorities.<sup>85</sup> In Saskatoon, the PLP and the WCC are the only sites specialized in HIV/AIDS care.

The PLP, located at the Royal University Hospital, serves adults and children with HIV and/or Hep C who reside in central and northern Saskatchewan, with the exception of one other site in Prince Albert. A distribution of patients from the PLP in 2007 showed that 59% of patients were from Saskatoon, 13% from Prince Albert, and the remaining 28% from other areas. Individuals are referred to the PLP by Public Health, private physicians, or through self-referrals. This study focused only on HIV positive patients at the PLP.

The WCC serves the core residents of Saskatoon, primarily marginalized populations such as Aboriginals, the elderly and the economically disadvantaged.<sup>156</sup> The WCC therefore does not

solely function as an HIV/AIDS clinic but rather as a community clinic, which is highly burdened by HIV, as exemplified in the case load. Given that HIV has disproportionately affected marginalized populations, as of March 2010, the clinic had a case load of 204 clients, a 105% increase from the previous year.<sup>157</sup> Again, this study focused solely on HIV positive patients at the WCC.

### 3.4. Operational and ethics approvals

Approval to collect data from the WCC occurred early in 2010 by a separate individual working on a related project. Operational and ethics approval documents were drafted, submitted and approved during the summer of 2010 for data collection at the PLP site. Following both approval processes, an amendment was submitted requesting approval to combine and use both datasets, which was granted.

# 3.5. Data collection

The WCC data was collected from May to July 2010. Data collection at this site began with the most recently diagnosed HIV patients and moved backwards to earlier cases up to 2007, which represented the majority of HIV cases attending the clinic. The data collected at this site was directly recorded into a password protected excel dataset. Data items included information on demographics (age, sex and ethnicity/race), HIV diagnosis data (date of HIV diagnosis), HIV risk factor (IDU, MSM, HC, etc.), past medical history, co-morbidities, HIV treatment, and laboratory data (CD4 cell counts, CD4% and VL, along with other diagnostic laboratory results).

For the PLP, data extraction was conducted from August to December 2010. Data collection began with the most recently diagnosed HIV patients and moved backwards to earlier cases up to 2005. Data collection was directly recorded into a password protected excel dataset. Data items included information on demographics (age, sex and ethnicity/race), HIV and AIDS diagnosis data (date of HIV and AIDS diagnosis), HIV risk factor (IDU, MSM, HC, etc.), past medical history, co-morbidities, HIV treatment, and laboratory data (CD4 cell counts, CD4% and VL, along with other diagnostic laboratory results).

Data extraction at the PLP was modeled after data extraction tools at the WCC. There were a few additional variables that were collected for the PLP site and not the WCC. These include, AIDS diagnosis (date and AIDS defining illness), date of initiation and termination of ART treatment, and smoking status.

Two standardized medical forms were central in extracting specific data. The first was an 'HIV Case Reporting Form,' a standardized provincial report form. This form includes patient information (i.e ethnicity, date of birth, and gender), HIV risk factors and clinical/laboratory data. All risk factors that apply are checked off. For a copy of this form, please refer to Appendix 2. The form is filled out by the physician or nurse with the assistance of the patient. The other form was the Saskatoon Health Region 'HIV Initial Assessment' form. Similar to the form, it includes patient information (i.e. ethnicity, date of birth, and gender) and risk factors. In addition, this form records the previous HIV negative serology. Please see Appendix 2 for a copy of this form. Again, this form is completed by the physician or nurse with the assistance of the patient.

Specific details as to the variables collected are described below:

HIV diagnosis date (month & year) - was extracted from either the HIV Case Reporting Form,HIV Initial Assessment Form, or laboratory result.

*AIDS diagnosis date (month & year) and AIDS defining illness* - was extracted from the HIV/ AIDS Case Report by PHAC (see Appendix 2).

*Date of death (month & year) and cause of death -* was extracted from the HIV/AIDS Case Report by PHAC (see Appendix 2) or from any notations indicating this event within the medical chart.

*Last negative HIV serology* - was collected when the previous negative HIV serology test was present in the medical chart. The initial assessment form was recorded this information. This information was only used if a month and year was recorded.

*Age at HIV diagnosis* - was calculated from the month and year of DOB recorded in either the HIV Case Reporting Form, HIV Initial Assessment Form, any laboratory results, or other such reliable documents.

*Gender* - was obtained from either the HIV Case Report or HIV Initial Assessment Form, which included 'male' or 'female' options.

*Ethnicity* - was collected from either the HIV Case Report or HIV Initial Assessment Form, which included: White, Black (e.g. African, Haitian, Jamaican, Somali, etc.), First Nations, Métis, Inuit, Asian (e.g. Chinese, Japanese, Vietnamese, Cambodian, Indonesian, Filipino, etc.), South Asian (e.g. East Indian, Pakistani, Sri Lankan, Punjabi, Bangladeshi, etc.), Arab/ West Asian (e.g., Armenian, Egyptian, Iranian, Moroccan, etc.), Latin-American (e.g. Mexican Central/South American, etc.), or other / mixed ethnicity (ethnicity is known but is not included in one of the above categories, or case has dual ethnicity).

*HIV risk factors* - were obtained from the HIV case report or the HIV Initial Assessment Form. For a complete list of all risk factors, please refer to Appedix 3.

*Hepatitis C antibody* - testing was done during the initial 'entry visit'. If an indeterminate or positive antibody test resulted, PCR testing was ordered to determine if the patient was actively infected with hepatitis C. These two data points were collected from the laboratory results. However, an earlier HCV test reported by the patient was also collected.

*VL, CD4 counts, and CD4%* - were ordered at the first visit and at various follow up visits as deemed appropriate by the physician. All VL, CD4 count, CD4% results were recorded as well as the corresponding date of collection of the specimen.

*Comorbidity information* - was generally collected in the HIV Initial Assessment Form. However, this data was collected if it was recorded at any point during follow-up.

*Treatment information* - was collected from physician's visit notes or prescription copies keep in the file. This information was updated at every visit within its specified area in the followup forms. Adherence, however, was difficult to assess as there was no standardized measure or a section to record this.

*Smoking status* - was commonly written on follow-up forms, while there was no formal section for this information.

*History of IDU* - a significant number of cases did not mark IDU as a risk factor for HIV transmission, however indications of IDU were recorded elsewhere in the medical charts. These were combined with those reporting IDU risk factor, to create the history of IDU variable.

*Incarceration* - was collected whenever there were indications the individual was incarcerated during follow-up.

*Social Assistance* - was collected when copies of supplementary social assistance forms signed by the attending physician were present in the medical chart. Any additional information stating the individual was on social assistance was also used.

# 3.6. Inclusion/exclusion criteria

All HIV positive individuals who were clients of the PLP or the WCC were eligible to be included in the study. However, cases were limited to those diagnosed in or following the year 2005. This was done to obtain a manageable number for data collection and also to reduce the amount of missing data. Those diagnosed more recently tended to have more complete records in their medical charts. In addition it would reduce bias introduced by temporal changes, such as new treatment. Individuals under the age of 18 at HIV diagnosis were excluded in this study, as rates in progression have been shown to differ between children and adults.<sup>70</sup> The inclusion and exclusion criteria are summarized below.

Inclusion criteria:

a) HIV positive individuals from the PLP or the WCC

Exclusion criteria:

- a) HIV diagnosis prior to 2005
- b) Children and youth ( <18 years of age at HIV diagnosis)

Due to the exclusion criteria, a number of cases were removed from the final dataset. First, a total of 15 duplicates were identified and removed. Twenty two cases had a diagnosis date prior

to 2005 and were thus also removed. An additional 3 cases had no year of diagnosis and were also excluded. Finally, an additional 10 cases were under the age of 18 years at diagnosis leaving a total of 343 cases. Figure 3.2 details the merging of the two datasets and the exclusion of cases.





### 3.7. Variable selection

The independent variables that were available for analysis are summarized in Table 3.1. Some of these variables were not included in the study analysis for a number of reasons. Residency was not included as this variable was poorly defined. Serological antibody tests, including Hep A, Hep B, TB, and varicella, were not included as they may only indicate immunity due to immunizations and not prior infections. The frequency of active TB (confirmed by chest x-rays) were too small to be included. The frequency of the other antibody tests were to numerous to allow for comparisons between those infected and those uninfected. Active IDU was difficult to assess, as active IDU was not commonly recorded. In addition, issues with social desirability response bias made this a weak variable and was therefore not included. The types of drugs reported were generally in multiples and were not included in the analyse. Incarceration was difficult to assess from medical charts, but was collected whenever reported. Methadone treatment was believed to not have analytical value for the study of disease progression as it did not include the duration of time on methadone and adherence to methadone.

Category	Variable	Description	Туре
Demographics	Sex	Female, Male, or Unknown	Categorical
	Age	At diagnosis	Continuous
	Ethnicity	Caucasian, First Nations, Metis, Inuit, African, Asian, Other	Categorical
	Primary Residence	First 3 digits of postal code	Categorical
	Secondary Residence	First 3 digits of postal code	Categorical
Exposure category	Exposure categories	Sex with a male, sex with a female, bisexual contact, sex with high risk partner, needle stick, immigrant from endemic area, IV drug use, other (acupuncture, tattoo, body piercing), commercial sex trade worker List and date of onset/diagnosis if available	Categorical
Medical History	Co-morbidities	List and date of onset/diagnosis if available	Categorical
	TD montour toot	List	Categorical
	A sting TD	Vac Na Linknown	Categorical
	Active IB	res, no, Unknown	Categorical
	Hop C Ab	Ves No	Categorical
	Dete of Her C Test	Its, NO	Categorical
	Uale of Hep C Test	rist nep C test recorded	Categorical
	Test	Date	
	Hep C Genotype	1, 1a, 1b, 2b, 3a	Categorical
	CMV Ab	Yes, No; first records at clinic entry	Categorical
	Toxoplasma Ab	Yes, No; first records at clinic entry	Categorical
	HSV Ab	Yes, No; first records at clinic entry	Categorical
	Varicella Ab	Yes, No; first records at clinic entry	Categorical
	Syphilis Ab	Yes, No; first records at clinic entry	Categorical
	Chlamydia Ab	Yes, No; first records at clinic entry	Categorical
	Gonorrhea Ab	Yes, No; first records at clinic entry	Categorical
Opportunistic	PCP Date	Laboratory confirmed	Continuous
Infections	MAC Date	Laboratory confirmed	Continuous
	OHL Date	Physician diagnosis, or laboratory confirmed	Continuous
	Candida Date	Physician diagnosis, or laboratory confirmed	Continuous
	MRSA	Yes, No (and date if available)	
	Other Infections	List and date of diagnosis	
Social	Active IDU	Yes, No; within last 6 mo of follow-up	Categorical
	History of IDU	Yes, No; ever IDU	Categorical
	Methadone Treatment	Yes, No, Referred; ever	Categorical
	Substance Abuse	List of types of drugs used	
	History of Incarceration	Yes, No	Categorical
	Smoking Status	Current, Former and Ex-smoker	Categorical
ART Treatment	History of ART	Yes, No; ever	Categorical
	ART	Type, date of initiation and termination	Categorical

Table 3.1. Inde	ependent variable	s available in	the database
-----------------	-------------------	----------------	--------------

The independent variables used in this analysis are summarized in Table 3.2. These variables were chosen because of their potential influence in disease progression as identified by the literature review.

Category	Variable	Description	Туре
Demographics	Sex	Female, Male, or Unknown	Categorical
	Age	At diagnosis	Continuous
	Ethnicity	Caucasian, First Nations, Metis, African, Asian, Inuit, Other	Categorical
Exposure category	Exposure categories	Sex with a male, sex with a female, bisexual contact, sex with high risk partner, needle stick, immigrant from endemic area, IV drug use, other (acupuncture, tattoo, body piercing), commercial sex trade worker	Categorical
Medical History	Co-morbidities	List and date of onset/diagnosis if available	Categorical
	Date of Hep C Antibody Test Hep C Positive PCR Test	First Hep C test recorded Date	Categorical
Social	History of IDU	Yes, No; ever IDU	Categorical
	Smoking Status	Current, Former and Ex-smoker	Categorical
	Incarceration	Record of during follow-up, Yes or No	Categorical
	Social Assistance	Record of during follow-up, Yes or No	Categorical
ART Treatment	History of ART	Yes, No; ever	Categorical
	ART	Type, date of initiation and termination	Categorical

Table 3.2. Independent variables used in data analysis

Risk factors were categorized according to PHAC's exposure category hierarchy. Individuals having a positive HIV test may report more than one exposure category for acquiring the infection. These individuals are assigned to the exposure category with the highest probability of transmission. See Appendix 3 for the hierarchy list of risk factors. Baseline CD4 count was defined as the first CD4 cell count within 6 months of diagnosis.

### 3.8. Dependent variables

For this project, disease progression was defined as the time to an event of interest. Those events of interest where immunological AIDS and death. For a subgroup analysis of cases with estimated seroconversion dates, disease progression was adjusted to include a definition from seroconversion to immunological AIDS and death. While it would have been preferred, clinical AIDS was not chosen as a outcome, as this data was only collected at the PLP site. Due to the relatively short follow-up time within the dataset, and other limitations of a CD4 cell decline measure (see section 2.3), this outcome was not used. Opportunistic infections were recorded as yes/no for the WCC, and date of opportunistic infection for the PLP; for this reason, opportunistics infections could not be considered an outcome.

There were two outcome variables (i.e. event) as follow:

- (1) Time to immunological AIDS(CD4 count  $<200 \text{ cells/}\mu\text{l}$ )
- (2) Time to death

#### 3.9. Statistical analysis

The data was cleaned by checking the distribution of variables. Potentially incorrect values were identified in this process.

Descriptive statistics were then used to summarize the data. To compare dichotomous variables, chi-square or Fishers exact test were used. For continuous variables, t-test were used.

Time-to-event was the statistical method used to analyze HIV disease progression.<sup>158</sup> The events of interest were immunological AIDS and death. Time to immunological AIDS was defined as the length of time (in months) from HIV diagnosis to the first CD4 count to drop below 200 cells/µl. If the individual did not reach a CD4 count of less than 200 cells/µl, that individual was censored at his last CD4 count. Individuals with a CD4 count below 200 cells/µl within one month of HIV diagnosis were excluded from this analysis.

Time to death was defined as the length of time (months) from HIV diagnosis to death. An individual who did not have the event of interest was censored at his last clinic visit.

Censoring is a common practice in survival analysis. While it would be ideal to follow all patients until the event of interest occurs, that is not always possible. It is not practical or economic to follow-up patients for long periods of time. Also, there will usually be patients who are lost to follow-up for some reason or another. Therefore, the at-risk time that each patient contributes ends when the study ends, they are lost to follow-up, or leave the study. In this study, censoring was assumed to be random (non-informative).

The Kaplan-Meier method<sup>159</sup> was used to estimate the survival function of time to immunological AIDS and death. The log-rank test was used to compare survival time distributions among all variables of interest. Cox proportional hazards model<sup>160</sup> was used to determine independent predictors of disease progression and death. The  $\beta$ -coefficients were estimated based on the method of maximum likelihood. Ties were analyzed based on Breslow method.<sup>161</sup>

Cox proportional hazards regression models were constructed using the following steps: 1) Variables were added one at a time and compared to the null –2log likelihood value. Those that significantly reduced the –2log likelihood value were considered for step two. A p-value of less than 0.25 also assisted in the identification of potentially important covariates. 2) Variables identified from step one were added together into the model. Those variables not significant were discarded and the –2log likelihood values were compared. 3) Variables previously excluded were again added to see if they became significant in the presence of other variables. The aim was to identify the model with the smallest –2 log likelihood value. All 2-way interactions were also tested. Adding time-dependent variables one at a time tested the proportional hazards assumption.

Only fixed covariates were included in the model. The fixed covariates were the baseline demographics, exposure categories (i.e. IDU), Hep C coinfection, and treatment use. Based on the literature, potential confounders that were tested included in the multivariate models were age, gender, calendar time, and treatment use. Goodness of fit test based on Cox-Snell and Martingale residuals were run to assess the model.

As a subgroup analysis, a cohort of patients with estimated seroconversion (infection) dates was selected and the analysis was rerun. The time (in months) from the last negative HIV serology to

the first positive HIV test was calculated for all patients. Those with a time of 12 months or less were selected. The estimated time of seroconversion date was calculated as the midpoint between the last negative and first positive HIV serology.<sup>65</sup> Additional patients with a positive p24 antigen test, indicating a recent HIV infection, were also included. Seroconversion dates for these individuals was the date of their p24 antigen test, indicative of a recent infection.<sup>26, 27</sup>

A significance level of 0.05 was used. All data analyses were performed using SAS version 9.2.

In review, the analysis addressed the following objectives. First, it characterized HIV disease progression in terms of time to immunological AIDS and time to death. Second, it identified risk factors associated with disease progression to AIDS and death.
#### 4. Results

### 4.1. Data manipulations

Viral load was log transformed in order to normalize its distribution.

#### 4.2. Study population characteristics

#### *Demographics*

There was a total of 343 HIV positive patients. One-hundred and eighty-seven patients (55%) were from the PLP, 84 (25%) patients from the WCC and an additional 72 (21%) attended both clinics. Among these were 177 males (52%). Ethnic data was unknown for 22 cases, but of the remaining 322 patients, 230 (72%) were of self-reported Aboriginal descent. These individuals represented First Nations (89%) and Metis (11%), and not Inuit. The remaining non-aboriginals comprised of 79 (25%) Caucasians, 10 (3%) African and 2 (1%) other ethnicities.

The mean age of the population was 35 years (SE = 0.6) at diagnosis. Thirteen patients did not have recorded HIV risk factors. A hierarchal composition of the reported risk factors (see appendix 3 for details) showed that 252 (76%) of cases were attributed to IDU, followed by 45 (14%) for HC, 21 (6%) for MSM and 12 (4%) for MSM/IDU.

### Behavioral Characteristics

A total of 272 (81%) reported a history of IDU. Smoking was only recorded at the PLP site; 132 (75%) were current-smokers, 22 (13%) ex-smokers and 22 (13%) non-smokers (not shown in

table).

### Social Characteristics

During follow-up, there was a record of social assistance for 109 (32%) of patients. One-hundred and two (30%) had a record of incarceration.

# Clinical Characteristics

Nine patients did not have a hepatitis C antibody test. Of the 334 patients with an antibody test, hepatitis C antibodies were present in 264 (79%) patients, of which 248 (94%) had an RNA confirmatory test (i.e. PCR test). This revealed 27 (11%) of those with HCV antibodies, did not have the virus present in the blood, and thus were not actively infected by HCV. In total, we found 22% were HCV antibody negative, 9% were HCV antibody positive, but RNA negative, and the remaining 70% were HCV antibody and RNA positive.

Two-hundred and fifty-three (74%) of patients had a CD4 count measure within 6 months of diagnosis. Of these, 53 (20%) had a CD4 count of less than 200, 74 (29%) had a CD4 count between 200 and 350, and 54 (29%) had a CD4 count between 350 and 500, and 72 (29%) had a CD4 count above 500. The mean CD4 count was 382 cells/µl (SE=14). The mean log viral load was 4.38 (SE=0.07).

Antiretroviral therapy information was unknown for 53 cases. Of the remaining 290, 167 (58%) patients were on HIV treatment at some point following diagnosis. Excluding the 19 cases with

no CD4 count measures, 242 (75%) were eligible for treatment based on a CD4 count of less than 350 at some point during follow-up. Of those that were eligible for treatment, 154 (71%) were on treatment at some point. All of these results are summarized in Table 4.1.

Characteristics	Ν	%	Characteristics	Ν	%
DEMOGRAPHICS			SOCIAL CHARACTERISTICS		
Gender			Record of Social Assistance		
Males	177	51.6	Yes	109	31.8
Females	166	48.4	No	234	68.2
Ethnicity			History of IDU		
Aboriginal	230	71.7	Yes	272	81.0
Caucasian	79	24.6	No	64	19.0
Other	12	3.7	CLINICAL CHARACTERISTICS		
Missing (22)			Hepatitis C Antibodies		
Age at Diagnosis			Present	264	79.0
Under 20	15	4.4	Absent	70	21.0
20-29	108	31.5	Missing (9)		
30-39	108	31.5	Hepatitis C Status		
40-49	80	23.3	HCV antibody negative	70	22.0
50 or over	32	9.3	HCV antibody positive, RNA negative	27	8.5
Mean Age at Diagnosis (±s.e.)	35.1	0.6	HCV antibody positive, RNA positive	221	69.5
Exposure Category <sup>a</sup>			Missing (25)		
MSM	21	6.4	Ever on ART		
MSM/IDU	12	3.6	Yes	167	57.6
IDU	252	76.4	No	123	42.4
НС	45	13.6	Missing (53)		
Missing (13)			Eligible for ART <sup>b</sup>		
Year of Diagnosis			Yes	242	74.5
2005	54	15.7	No	82	25.5
2006	41	12.0	Missing (19)		
2007	55	16.0	Of those Eligible for ART <sup>b</sup>		
2008	74	21.6	On ART	154	71.0
2009	88	25.7	Not on ART	63	29.0
2010	31	9.0	Missing (25)		
Site			CD4 Counts at Diagnosis		
Positive Living Program	187	54.5	<50	14	5.5
Westside Community Clinic	84	24.5	50-199	39	15.4
Both	72	21.0	200-349	74	29.3
SOCIAL CHARACTERISTICS			350-499	54	21.3
Record of Incarceration			≥500	72	28.5
Yes	102	29.7	Missing (90)		
No	241	70.3	Mean CD4 Count at Diagnosis (±s.e.)	382.1	14.4
			Mean Log <sub>10</sub> VL at Diagnosis (±s.e.)	4.38	0.07

# Table 4.1. Study population characteristics (N=343)

<sup>a</sup>MSM, men who have sex with men; IDU, injection drug use; HC, heterosexual contact <sup>b</sup>Eligible for antiretroviral therapy (ART) based on CD4 < 350 cells/µl at some point during follow-up

#### 4.2.1. Differences by gender

These patient characteristics were stratified by gender and a few key differences were observed for Aboriginal ethnicity, age at diagnosis, year of diagnosis, HIV risk factors, smoking status, record of social assistance, HCV co-infection and CD4 count and VL at diagnosis. These significant results are summarized in Table 4.2.

Of the 151 females, 130 (80%) were of Aboriginal descent, while among the 170 males, 100 (59%) were of Aboriginal descent (p<0.001). Females were significantly younger, with a mean age of 31(SE=0.7) compared to males who were roughly 7 years older (39; SE=0.8). A temporal trend was also seen with females accounting for a decreasing proportion of the cases from 59% in 2005 to 32% in 2010. Among males, 115 (68%) patients were attributed to IDU, 21 (12%) to MSM, 21 (12%) to HC, and 12 (7%) to MSM/IDU. Among females, 137 (85%) were attributed to IDU and 124 (15%) to HC.

Among those at the PLP, differences in smoking status were noted between females and males (p=0.06). Among females, 65 (82%) were current smokers, 5 (6%) ex-smokers and 9(11%) were non-smokers, compared to 67 (69%) current smokers, 17 (18%) ex-smokers and 13 (13%) non-smokers among males. Females were more likely to have a record of social assistance (40%) compared to males (25%; p=0.003).

Females were also more likely to have a positive HCV antibody test (84% vs. 74% for males; p=0.024). Baseline CD4 counts were significantly higher among females than males (425 vs. 344, p=0.005). The logVL was significantly lower among females than males (4.10 vs. 4.62, p<0.001).

	Male		Fen	Female	
Characteristics	Ν	%	Ν	%	p-value
Ethnicity					
Aboriginal	100	58.8	130	86.1	< 0.0001
Non-Aboriginal	70	41.2	21	13.9	
Missing (22)					
Mean Age at Diagnosis (s.e.)	38.9	0.8	31.1	0.7	0.093
Exposure Categories					
MSM	21	12.4	0	0.0	< 0.0001
MSM/IDU	12	7.1	0	0.0	
IDU	115	68.1	137	85.1	
НС	21	12.4	24	14.9	
Missing (13)					
Year of diagnosis					
2005	22	14.4	32	19.3	0.030
2006	14	7.9	27	16.3	
2007	32	18.1	23	13.9	
2008	39	22.0	35	21.1	
2009	49	27.7	39	23.5	
2010	21	11.9	10	6.0	
History of IDU					
Yes	132	76.7	140	85.4	0.044
No	40	23.3	24	14.6	
Missing (7)					
Smoking Status					
Current Smoker	67	69.1	65	82.3	0.063
Ex-smoker	17	17.5	5	6.3	
Non-smoker	13	13.4	9	11.4	
Missing (167)					
Record of Incarceration					
Yes	56	31.5	46	27.7	0.447
No	122	68.5	120	72.3	
Record of Social Assistance					
Yes	44	24.7	66	39.8	0.003
No	134	75.3	100	60.2	
Hepatitis C Antibodies					
Present	126	74.1	138	84.2	0.024
Absent	44	25.9	26	15.9	
Missing (9)					
Mean CD4 Count at Diagnosis (±s.e.)	343.7	18.7	425.4	21.8	0.005
Mean Log <sub>10</sub> VL at Diagnosis (±s.e.)	4.62	0.08	4.10	0.11	< 0.0001

### Table 4.2. Study characteristics stratified by gender (n=343)

\* MSM, men who have sex with men; IDU, injection drug use; HC, heterosexual contact

#### 4.2.2. Differences by ethnicity

Ethnicity was known for 321 study patients. Study characteristics were stratified by Aboriginal ethnicity with key differences to note on gender, age at diagnosis, HIV risk factors, site of care, smoking status, record of social assistance and incarceration and HCV coinfection. These stratified results are summarized in Table 4.3.

Among Aboriginals (n=230), females were more prevalent than males (130 57% vs. 44%, respectively). Among non-Aboriginals (n=91), males were much more prevalent at 77%. Aboriginals were younger at diagnosis (mean age of 33 vs. 41 for non-Aboriginals) and reported different risk factors. HIV acquisition was attributed to IDU for 198 (90%) patients, HC for 16 (7%) patients, MSM/IDU for 5 (2%) patients, and MSM for 1 (1%) patient. In contrast, HIV acquisition was attributed to IDU for 36 (40%) patients among non-Aboriginals. An additional 28 (31%) were likely due to HC, 20 (22%) to MSM, and 6 (7%) to MSM/IDU. More Aboriginals were noted to be seeking care at the WCC (31%) or both sites (23%) than non-Aboriginals (4% for WCC, 13% for both sites). The remaining 106 (46%) Aboriginals and 75 (82%) non-Aboriginals were seeking care at the PLP.

Among those at the PLP, differences in smoking status were noted between these two groups (p<0.001). Among Aboriginals, 95 (91%) were current smokers, 6 (6%) were ex-smokers and 4 (4%) were non-smokers, compared to 34 (51%) current smokers, 15 (22%) ex-smokers and 18 (27%) non-smokers for non-Aboriginals. Compared to non-Aboriginals, Aboriginals were more

likely to have a record of social assistance (37% vs. 20%; p=0.002) and incarceration (34% vs. 22%; p=0.031).

Positive hepatitis C antibody tests were more common among Aboriginals than non-Aboriginal (90% vs. 48, p<0.001). For Aboriginals, of those with an RNA test (n=190), 12% had a negative RNA result. Among non-Aboriginals with an RNA test (n=42), 10% had a negative RNA result (results not in table).

	Aboriginal		Non-Aboriginal		
Characteristics	Ν	%	Ν	%	p-value
Gender					
Male	100	43.5	70	76.9	< 0.0001
Female	130	56.5	21	23.1	
Mean Age at Diagnosis (±s.e.)	33.0	0.6	41.4	1.2	< 0.0001
Exposure Categories					
MSM	1	0.5	20	22.2	< 0.0001
MSM/IDU	5	2.3	6	6.7	
IDU	198	90.0	36	40.0	
НС	16	7.3	28	31.1	
Missing (11)					
Site					
Positive Living Program	106	46.1	75	82.4	< 0.0001
Westside Community Clinic	71	30.9	4	4.4	
Both	53	23.0	12	13.2	
History of IDU					
Yes	209	93.7	42	46.2	< 0.0001
No	14	6.3	49	53.9	
Missing (7)					
Smoking Status					
Current Smoker	95	90.5	34	50.8	< 0.0001
Ex-smoker	6	5.7	15	22.4	
Non-smoker	4	3.8	18	26.9	
Missing (149)					
Record of Incarceration					
Yes	79	34.4	20	22.0	0.031
No	151	65.7	71	78.0	
Record of Social Assistance					
Yes	86	37.4	18	19.8	0.002
No	144	62.6	73	80.2	
Hepatitis C Antibodies					
Present	203	90.2	43	48.3	< 0.0001
Absent	22	9.8	46	51.7	
Missing (7)					

### Table 4.3. Study characteristics stratified by ethnicity (n=321)

\* MSM, men who have sex with men; IDU, injection drug use; HC, heterosexual contact

#### 4.2.3. Differences by history of IDU

A history of IDU was unknown for 7 patients. When descriptive analysis was stratified by IDU, key differences were noted for gender, ethnicity, age at diagnosis, site of care, smoking status, record of incarceration and social assistance, and HCV coinfection. These stratified results are summarized in Table 4.4.

There were an equal proportion of females and males among IDUs (n=172), but close to a 2:1 ratio for non-IDUs (n=64). Among IDUs, 209 (83%) were of self-reported Aboriginal descent, while among non-IDUs, only 14 (22%) were of Aboriginal descent (p<0.001). IDUs were younger at diagnosis with a mean age of 34 (SE=0.6) compared to 40 (SE=1.6) for non-IDUs (p=0.003). While 60 (94%) non-IDUs received care at PLP, only 127 (47%) IDUs did as well (p=0.001).

Among IDUs that attended the PLP, 108 (87%) patients were recorded as current smokers, 10 (8%) as ex-smokers and 6 (5%) as non-smokers. This is in contrast to non-IDUs in which 24 (46%) patients were current smokers, 12 (23%) were ex-smokers and 16 (31%) were non-smokers. Compared to non-IDUs, IDUs were more likely to have a record of social assistance (36% vs. 5%; p<0.001) and incarceration (37% vs. 11%; p<0.001).

HCV coinfection was much more common among IDUs. An antibody positive test was recorded for 253 (95%) IDUs and 5 (8%) non-IDUs (p<0.001). For IDUs, of those with a PCR test

(n=238), 10% had a negative PCR result. Among non-IDUs with a PCR test (n=4), 75% had a negative PCR result (results not in table).

	IDU		Non-IDU		
Characteristics	Ν	%	Ν	%	p-value
Gender					
Male	132	48.5	40	62.5	0.044
Female	140	51.5	24	37.5	
Aboriginal Ethnicity					
Aboriginal	209	83.3	14	22.2	< 0.0001
Non-Aboriginal	42	16.7	49	77.8	
Missing (22)					
Mean Age at Diagnosis, s.e.	33.8	0.6	40.0	1.6	< 0.0001
Site					
Positive Living Program	127	46.7	60	93.8	< 0.0001
Westside Community Clinic	78	28.7	1	1.6	
Both	67	24.6	3	4.7	
Smoking Status					
Current Smoker	108	87.1	24	46.2	< 0.0001
Ex-smoker	10	8.1	12	23.1	
Non-smoker	6	4.8	16	30.8	
Missing (160)					
Record of Incarceration					
Yes	97	35.7	3	4.7	< 0.0001
No	175	64.3	61	95.3	
Record of Social Assistance					
Yes	100	36.8	7	10.9	< 0.0001
No	172	63.2	57	89.1	
Hepatitis C Antibodies					
Present	253	95.1	5	8.1	< 0.0001
Absent	13	4.9	57	91.9	
Missing (8)					

Table 4.4. Study characteristics stratified by IDU (n=336)

### 4.2.4. Differences by HCV coinfection

Hepatitis C antibody status was unknown for 9 patients. Given the high overlap between IDUs and those HCV coinfected, differences among this latter group closely resembles the differences between IDUs and non-IDUs. With minor differences in percentages and p-values, differences were similarly noted for gender, ethnicity, age at diagnosis, HIV risk factors, site of care,

smoking status, record of incarceration and social assistance, and history of IDU. Please refer to Table 4.5 for more detailed information.

Characteristics	Hepatitis C+		Hepatitis C-		n voluo
Characteristics	N	%	N	%	p-value
Gender					
Male	126	47.7	44	62.9	0.024
Female	138	52.3	26	37.1	
Aboriginal Ethnicity					
Aboriginal	203	82.5	22	32.4	< 0.0001
Non-Aboriginal	43	17.5	46	67.7	
Missing (20)					
Mean Age at Diagnosis (±s.e.)	34.2	0.6	38.0	1.5	0.008
Exposure Categories					
MSM	1	0.4	20	29.0	< 0.0001
MSM/IDU	9	3.5	3	4.4	
IDU	240	93.8	9	13.0	
HC	6	2.3	37	52.2	
Missing (9)					
Site					
Positive Living Program	128	48.5	58	82.9	< 0.0001
Westside Community Clinic	67	25.4	10	14.3	
Both	69	26.1	2	2.9	
History of IDU					
Yes	253	98.1	13	18.6	
No	5	1.9	57	81.4	< 0.0001
Missing (6)					
Smoking Status					
Current Smoker	106	85.5	26	51.0	< 0.0001
Ex-smoker	10	8.1	11	21.6	
Non-smoker	8	6.5	14	27.5	
Missing (159)					
Record of Incarceration					
Yes	95	36.0	7	10.0	< 0.0001
No	169	64.0	63	90.0	
Record of Social Assistance					
Yes	99	37.5	9	12.9	< 0.0001
No	165	62.5	61	87.1	

Table 4.5. Study characteristics stratified by hepatitis C antibody status, present or absent (n=334)

\* MSM, men who have sex with men; IDU, injection drug use; HC, heterosexual contact

# Correlations

As becomes evident through the descriptive statistics, there was high correlation between various variables. A pearson's correlation highlights this (see Table 4.6). In particular, there was high correlation between IDU and HCV (Pearson's coefficient 0.832, p<0.001).

<b>Coefficient</b> p-value	IDU	HCV	Aboriginal	Gender	Site	Incarc- eration	Soc. Assistance
frequency	1	0.922	0.530	0 110	0 228	0.266	0.219
IDU		<b>0.032</b>	<b>0.339</b>	-0.110	<b>0.328</b>	< 001	<b>0.210</b>
	336	<.001 328	<.001 314	0.044	<.001 336	<.001 336	<.001 336
	330	528	514	550	550	550	550
HCV	0.832	1	0.459	-0.123	0.291	0.230	0.214
	<.001		<.001	0.024	<.001	<.001	<.001
	328	334	314	334	334	334	334
Aboriginal	0.539	0.459	1	-0.302	0.261	0.121	0.170
	<.001	<.001		<.001	<.001	0.031	0.002
	314	314	321	321	321	321	321
Gender	-0.110	-0.123	-0.302	1	-0.114	0.043	-0.166
	0.044	0.024	<.001		0.035	0.428	0.002
	336	334	321	343	343	343	343
Site	0.328	0.291	0.261	-0.114	1	0.081	0.028
	<.001	<.001	<.001	0.035		0.134	0.609
	336	334	321	343	343	343	343
Incarceration	0.266	0.230	0.121	0.043	0.081	1	0.090
	<.001	<.001	0.031	0.428	0.134		0.095
	336	334	321	343	343	343	343
Social	0.218	0.214	0.170	-0.166	0.028	0.090	1
Assistance	<.001	<.001	0.002	0.002	0.609	0.095	
	336	334	321	343	343	343	343

Table 4.6. Pearson's correlation of select variables

In examining the three variables of interest (i.e. Aboriginal ethnicity, IDU, and HCV coinfection) we excluded all patients with unknown aboriginal ethnicity, history of IDU and hepatitis C

antibody test result. This resulted in 308 study patients. Of these 308 study patients, 44 (14%) did not belong to any of these categories. The break down of the remaining 264 patients is presented in Figure 4.1.

Figure 4.1. Illustration of overlap between Aboriginal ethnicity, history of IDU, and HCV coinfection (n=264)



Figure 4.1 represents the overlap between the three variables of interest for this study, and does not imply that Aboriginal ethnicity is a risk factor. This high collinearity is what is seen in our study, and does not necessarily reflect all aboriginal communities.

### 4.3. Primary outcomes

### Immunological AIDS

Of the 343 patients, 19 had no CD4 measures taken during follow-up and were thus excluded. An additional 45 patients had a CD4 count <200cells/µl within one month of HIV diagnosis and were also excluded. Thus, 279 patients were considered for the survival analysis. Of these, 101 (36%) dropped below a CD4 count <200cells/µl at some point during follow-up and 178 (64%) patients were censored at the date of their last CD4 count serological test.

### Death

Out of the 343 patients, 7 had an unknown date of last visit, and were thus not included in the survival analysis. Twenty-three (7%) patients died during follow-up. The remaining 313 (93%) were censored at their last clinic visit. Cause of death was unknown for 8 (35%) patients, non-HIV related for 8 (35%) patients and HIV-related for 6 (26%) patients. This study did not have access to vital statistics, due to privacy and confidentiality policies. Therefore, this data is only representative of the information held within the patients' medical charts. Given the large percentage of patients with unknown cause of death, all cause mortality was the outcome assessed. Figure 4.2 summarizes the study patients included in both sets of analysis and the outcome of interest for each analysis.





# 4.4. Survival analysis

# 4.4.1. Time to CD4 count <200cells/µl

The mean and median follow-up time was 1.7 years and 1.3 years, respectively (see Figure 4.3). The median time to immunological AIDS was 3.3 years (95%CI: 2.7-5.0 years) from HIV diagnosis. There was a 25% probability of progression to immunological AIDS in 1.2 years (95%CI: 0.9-1.8 years) and 75% probability in 5.7 years (95%CI: 5.0-5.7 years).



Figure 4.3. Survival function of immunological AIDS from HIV diagnosis

Kaplan Meier analysis showed significant differences in survival function for ever recipient of ART (log rank test, p=0.001) and year of diagnosis categorized into 2005-2008 and 2009-2010 (log rank test, p=0.001). Having a record of incarceration was shown to be marginally significant (log rank test, p=0.053). See Figure 4.4. There was no difference among gender, IDU, Aboriginal ethnicity, HCV coinfection, and record of social assistance.

Figure 4.4. Survival distribution functions of immunological AIDS, stratified by (a) treatment status, (b) record of incarceration, and (c) HIV diagnosis year



### 4.4.1.1. Univariable analysis for immunological AIDS

These results of univariable Cox regression analysis show that year of diagnosis, site of care, and ever recipient of ART were significant predictors (Table 4.7). Only 2009 and 2010 were statistically significant when compared to 2005, while the remaining years were not. Thus, again, the decision was made combine the two periods, 2005-2008 and 2009-2010. Any further mention of year of diagnosis will refer to this dichotomous variable. Univariable analysis was rerun for Aboriginals, IDUs and HCV co-infected patients, separately. A few key differences were note. Sex and age at diagnosis became significant for Aboriginals. Among those HCV coinfected, age of diagnosis also became significant. Site of care was not significant for IDUs or HCV coinfected patients.

Covariates	HR	95% CI	p-value
Gender			
Female	1.00		
Male	1.30	0.87-1.92	0.191
Ethnicity			
Non-Aboriginal	1.00		
Aboriginal	1.38	0.87-2.19	0.177
Age at Diagnosis	1.02	1.00-1.04	0.113
Year of Diagnosis			
2005	1.00		
2006	1.45	0.76-2.81	0.274
2007	1.26	0.62-2.58	0.521
2008	1.72	0.85-3.48	0.132
2009	5.57	2.76-11.25	< 0.0001
2010	12.25	4.07-36.86	< 0.0001
Year of Diagnosis			
2005-2008	1.00		
2009-2010	4.35	2.61-7.25	0.000
Site			
Positive Living Program	1.00		
Westside Community Clinic	1.83	1.11-3.02	0.019
Both	1.02	0.61-1.70	0.935
IDU Risk Factor			
No	1.00		
Yes	1.18	0.71-1.97	0.527
History of IDU			
Absent	1.00		
Present	1.27	0.75-2.15	0.370
Hepatitis C Antibodies			
No	1.00		
Yes	1.54	0.91-2.60	0.107
Hepatitis C Categories			
HCV-	1.00		
HCV+. RNA-	0.69	0.40-1.18	0.179
HCV+, RNA+	1.18	0.62-2.24	0.613
Ever on Antiretroviral therapy			
No	1.00		
Yes	2.15	1.32-3.51	0.002
Among those eligible for ART			
Not on ART	1.00		
On ART	1.23	0.76-2.00	0.407
Record of Incarceration			
No	1.00		
Yes	1.46	0.98-2.19	0.063
Record of Social Assistance	-		
No	1.00		
Yes	1.40	0.94-2.07	0.095
CD4 Counts at Diagnosis <sup>a</sup>	0.92	0.90-0.96	< 0.0001

Table 4.7. Univariable	Cox regression	analysis for imm	unological AIDS	progression

<sup>a</sup>Per every 10 unit increase in CD4 counts/µl

#### 4.4.1.2. Multivariable analysis for immunological AIDS

From univariable survival analysis it was determined that sex, ethnicity, age at diagnosis, year of diagnosis, site, HCV coinfection, antiretroviral therapy, and record of incarceration and social assistance could be potentially important covariate, based on a p-value of less than 0.25. With the addition of history of IDU, multivariable model was initiated with these potential covariates.

Due to the high multi-collinearity between the three groups of interest, three separate models were constructed. No effect modifiers or interactions were noted in the creation of any of the models.

#### Model 1: Aboriginal Ethnicity

For this model Aboriginal ethnicity, age, treatment, and year of diagnosis remained as significant predictors of time to immunological AIDS. Gender was not found to significantly contribute to the model, nor did it significantly alter the other variables and was thus not included in the model. Thus, when controlling for the other variables in the model, the analysis showed an elevated risk of developing immunological AIDS was associated with older age (HR, 1.03; 95%CI, 1.01-1.06, per 1-year increase), ever being on treatment (HR, 2.86; 95%CI 1.72-4.75) and an HIV diagnosis in 2009-2010, when compared to 2005-2008 (HR, 5.14; 95%CI, 2.93-9.00). Compared to non-Aboriginals, Aboriginal ethnicity was also associated with an increased risk of developing immunological AIDS (HR, 1.86; 1.10-3.16).

Covariates	HR <sub>adj</sub>	95% CI	p-value
Age at Diagnosis	1.03	1.01-1.06	0.005
Ever on ART			
No	1.00		
Yes	2.86	1.72-4.75	< 0.0001
Year of Diagnosis			
2005-2008	1.00		
2009-2010	5.14	2.93-9.00	< 0.0001
Ethnicity			
Non-Aboriginal	1.00		
Aboriginal	1.86	1.10-3.16	0.021

 Table 4.8. Multivariable Cox regression analysis for Aboriginal ethnicity (Model 1)

### Model 2: HCV coinfection

When controlling for the other variables in Model 2, the analysis showed an elevated risk of developing immunological AIDS was associated with older age (HR, 1.02; 95%CI, 1.00-1.05, per 1-year increase), ever being on treatment (HR, 3.09; 95%CI 1.86-5.15) and an HIV diagnosis in 2009-2010, when compared to 2005-2008 (HR, 5.66; 95%CI, 3.25-9.4). Finally, compared to mono-infected patients, HCV coinfected patients were also associated with an increased risk of developing immunological AIDS (HR, 2.11; 95%CI 1.20-3.70).

Covariates	HR <sub>adj</sub>	95% CI	p-value
Age at Diagnosis	1.02	1.00-1.05	0.018
Ever on ART			
No	1.00		
Yes	3.09	1.86-5.15	< 0.0001
Year of Diagnosis			
2005-2008	1.00		
2009-2010	5.66	3.25-9.84	< 0.0001
Hepatitis C Antibodies			
Absent	1.00		
Present	2.11	1.20-3.70	0.010

Table 4.9. Multivariable Cox regression analysis for HCV coinfection (Model 2)

### Model 3: IDU

When controlling for the other variables in Model 3, the analysis showed an elevated risk of developing immunological AIDS was associated with older age (HR, 1.02; 95%CI, 1.00-1.04, per 1-year increase), ever being on treatment (HR, 3.32; 95%CI 1.94-5.66) and an HIV diagnosis in 2009-2010, when compared to 2005-2008 (HR, 5.76; 95%CI, 3.30-10.06). Finally, compared to non-IDU, IDU were marginally associated with an increased risk of developing immunological AIDS (HR, 1.69; 95%CI 0.97-2.93).

Covariates	$\mathbf{HR}_{\mathrm{adj}}$	95% CI	p-value
Age at Diagnosis	1.02	1.00-1.04	0.030
Ever on ART			
No	1.00		
Yes	3.32	1.94-5.66	< 0.0001
Year of Diagnosis			
2005-2008	1.00		
2009-2010	5.76	3.30-10.06	< 0.0001
History of IDU			
No	1.00		
Yes	1.69	0.97-2.93	0.062

Table 4.10. Multivariable Cox regression analysis for injection drug use (Model 3)

### 4.4.1.3. Multivariate analysis with baseline CD4 counts

Given the importance of baseline CD4 counts as an indicator of disease progression, all three models were adjusted for CD4 counts at or within 6 months of HIV diagnosis, a standard practice in seroprevalent cohort studies.<sup>162</sup> CD4 counts were calculated as to reflect 10 unit increases in CD4 cells/µl.

For Model 1, neither age at diagnosis and Aboriginal ethnicity remained independent predictors of disease progression. Those that remained significant were year of diagnosis, treatment and baseline CD4 counts.

Covariates	HR <sub>adj</sub>	95% CI	p-value
Age at Diagnosis	1.01	0.98-1.03	0.452
Ever on ART			
No	1.00		
Yes	4.11	1.21-13.90	0.023
Year of Diagnosis			
2005-2008	1.00		
2009-2010	3.13	1.20-8.21	0.020
Ethnicity			
Non-Aboriginal	1.00		
Aboriginal	1.94	0.83-4.56	0.128
CD4 count at Diagnosis	0.95	0.92-0.98	0.004

Table 4.11. Adjusted multivariable model with baseline CD4 counts (Model 1)

For Model 2, HCV coinfection remained a significant predictor of disease progression, along with year of diagnosis, ART use, and baseline CD4 counts. Age at diagnosis was not longer significant.

 Table 4.12. Adjusted multivariable model with baseline CD4 counts (Model 2)

Covariates	HR <sub>adj</sub>	95% CI	p-value
Age at Diagnosis	1.01	0.98-1.03	0.459
Ever on ART			
No	1.00		
Yes	4.89	1.45-16.46	0.010
Year of Diagnosis			
2005-2008	1.00		
2009-2010	3.36	1.26-8.97	0.016
HCV Ab			
No	1.00		
Yes	2.91	1.22-6.95	0.016
CD4 count at Diagnosis	0.95	0.92-0.98	0.0001

Finally, Model 3 found IDU became a significant as a predictor of disease progression (p=0.02). Year of diagnosis, ART use, and baseline CD4 counts were significant predictors in this model. Age at diagnosis was not longer significant.

Covariates	HR <sub>adj</sub>	95% CI	p-value
Age at Diagnosis	1.01	0.98-1.05	0.481
Ever on ART			
No	1.00		
Yes	5.00	1.48-16.92	0.010
Year of Diagnosis			
2005-2008	1.00		
2009-2010	3.08	1.13-8.40	0.016
History of IDU			
No	1.00		
Yes	2.95	1.22-7.13	0.016
CD4 count at Diagnosis	0.95	0.92-0.98	< 0.0001

 Table 4.13. Adjusted multivariable model with baseline CD4 counts (Model 3)

The assumptions of proportional hazards was tested by adding time-dependent covariates with the three covariate of interest, Aboriginal ethnicity, HCV coinfection and IDU. The assumption of proportional hazards was met in all models. Goodness of fit was tested using Cox-Snell residuals. All models were found to have a satisfactory fit.

#### 4.4.2. Time to death

The mean and median follow-up time was 2.0 years and 1.72 years, respectively. The median survival time and its standard error could not be determined due to the small number of events (93% censored). However, the 3 year and 5 year overall survival probability were 88% (95%CI:

82-93%) and 77% (95%CI: 61-87%), respectively. Figure 4.5 shows the survival distribution function.



Figure 4.5. Survival curve for all-cause mortality from HIV diagnosis

Kaplan Meier graphs showed significant differences in survival function for ever recipient of ART (log rank test, p=0.012) and HCV coinfection (log rank test, p=0.035). A history of IDU was shown to be marginally significant (log rank test, p=0.056).

# 4.4.2.1. Univariable analysis for survival

Univariable Cox regression analysis is summarized in Table 4.14. These results show that ever recipient of ART was the only significant predictor of survival.

Covariates	HR	95%CI	p-value
Sex			
Female	1.00		
Male	0.99	0.43-2.29	0.989
Ethnicity			
Non-Aboriginal	1.00		
Aboriginal	0.90	0.36-2.24	0.819
Age at Diagnosis	1.03	0.99-1.07	0.162
Year of Diagnosis			
2005-2008	1.00		
2009-2010	3.26	0.83-17.80	0.090
Site			
Positive Living Program	1.00		
Westside Community Clinic	0.68	0.15-3.04	0.618
Both	0.33	0.08-1.41	0.133
IDU Risk Factor			
No	1.00		
Yes	5.37	0.72-40.09	0.101
History of IDU			
No	1.00		
Yes	5.67	0.76-42.24	0.090
Hepatitis C Antibodies			
Absent	1.00		
Present	6.51	0.88-48.39	0.067
Hepatitis C Categories			
HCV Ab-	1.00		
HCV Ab+, RNA-	0.18	0.02-1.39	0.101
HCV Ab+, RNA+	1.73	0.57-5.22	0.334
Ever on Antiretroviral Therapy			
No	1.00		
Yes	0.34	0.14-0.82	0.017
CD4 Counts at Diagnosis <sup>a</sup>	1.00	0.98-1.03	0.800

Table 4.14. Univariable Cox regression analysis for all cause mortality

<sup>a</sup>Per every 10 unit increase in CD4 counts/µl

Univariable analysis was rerun for Aboriginals, IDU and HCV co-infected patients, separately. Only minor differences were noted. For Aboriginals, use of antiretroviral was not a significant predictor (p=0.425). This was also noted for IDUs (p=0.070).

### 4.4.2.2. Multivariable analysis for survival

From univariable survival analysis it was determined that age at diagnosis, year of diagnosis, site, HCV coinfection, IDU, and antiretroviral therapy could be potentially important covariate, based on a p-value of less than 0.25. With the addition of Aboriginal ethnicity, multivariable model was initiated with these potential covariates. Due to the high multi-collinearity between the three groups of interest, three separate models were constructed. No effect modifiers or interactions were noted in the creation of any of the models.

### Model 1: Aboriginal Ethnicity

For this model treatment was the only significant predictors of survival. Ever being on treatment was associated with an increased risk of death (HR, 0.273; 95%CI: 0.12, 0.76).

 Table 4.15. Multivariable Cox regression analysis for ethnicity (model 1)

Covariates	HR <sub>adj</sub>	95% CI	P-value	
Ever on ART				
No	1.00			
Yes	0.30	0.12-0.76	0.011	
Ethnicity				
Non-Aboriginal	1.00			
Aboriginal	0.88	0.35-2.21	0.778	

### Model 2: HCV coinfection

For this model, treatment was the only significant predictors of survival. Ever being on treatment was associated with an increase risk of death (HR, 0.36; 95%CI: 0.15, 0.88).

 Table 4.16. Multivariable Cox regression analysis for HCV coinfection (model 2)

Covariates	HR <sub>adj</sub>	95% CI	p-value
Ever on ART			
No	1.00		
Yes	0.36	0.15-0.88	0.026
Hepatitis C Antibodies			
Absent	1.00		
Present	5.98	0.80-44.87	0.082

#### Model 3: IDU

For this model treatment, was the only significant predictors of survival. Ever being on treatment was associated with an increase risk of death (HR, 0.40; 95%CI: 0.16, 0.99).

 Table 4.17. Multivariable Cox regression analysis for IDU (model 3)

Covariates	HR <sub>adj</sub>	95% CI	p-value
Ever on ART			
No	1.00		
Yes	0.40	0.16-0.99	0.049
History of IDU			
No	1.00		
Yes	5.09	0.68-38.27	0.114

Baseline CD4 counts were also added to the models, but this variable did not significantly improve the models and was thus eliminated. The assumptions of proportional hazards was tested by adding time-dependent covariates with the three covariate of interest, Aboriginal

ethnicity, HCV coinfection and IDU. The assumption of proportional hazards was met in all models. Goodness of fit was tested using Cox-Snell residuals. All models were found to have a satisfactory fit.

#### 4.5. Subgroup analysis (Seroconversion Cohort)

A total of 73 patients had a negative HIV serology within 12 months of their first positive HIV test or a positive p24 antigen test indicating a recent HIV infection. The seroconversion interval (i.e. the time difference between a first antibody positive and last antibody negative HIV tests) was within one calendar month for one patient, 1-3 months for six patients, 3-6 months for 31 patients, 6-9 months for 20 patients, and 9-12 months for 7 patients, and over 12 months for 2 patients. For 277 patients, there was missing date for either the positive or negative tests. An additional 6 patients had a positive p24 antigen test.

# 4.5.1. Study population characteristics

While in most cases, the characteristics of this group does not differ greatly from the larger cohort, there are a few important differences. A greater proportion of Aboriginals (81% vs. 71%), IDUs (93% vs. 81%) and hepatitis C coinfected patients (92% vs. 79%) were present in this cohort, in comparison to the seroprevalent cohort. This seroconversion cohort also contained a greater proportion of those with a record of incarceration (41% vs. 30%) and social assistance (37% vs 32%). The characteristics of the 73 patients with a seroconversion date are outline in Table 4.18.

90

Characteristics	N	%	Characteristics	Ν	%
DEMOGRAPHICS			SOCIAL CHARACTERISTICS		
Gender			Record of Social Assistance		
Male	37	50.7	Yes	27	37.0
Female	36	49.3	No	46	63.0
Ethnicity			History of IDU		
Aboriginal	56	81.2	Yes	65	92.9
Non-Aboriginal	13	18.8	No	5	7.1
Missing (4)			Missing (3)		
Age at Seroconversion			Hepatitis C Antibodies		
Under 20	4	5.5	Present	66	91.7
20-29	28	38.4	Absent	6	8.3
30-39	27	37.0	Missing (1)		
40-49	12	16.4	Hepatitis C Status		
50 or over	2	2.7	HCV Ab negative	6	8.6
Mean Age at Seroconversion,(±s.e.)	34.2	1.0	HCV Ab positive, RNA negative	5	7.1
Exposure Categories			HCV Ab positive, RNA positive	59	84.3
MSM	1	1.4	Missing (3)		
MSM/IDU	2	2.8	Ever on Antiretroviral Therapy		
IDU	64	88.9	Yes	30	41.1
HC	5	6.9	No	27	37.0
Missing (1)			Missing (16)		
Year of Seroconversion			Eligible for ART (based on $CD4 < 350$ )		
2005	10	13.7	Yes	41	56.2
2006	14	19.2	No	27	37.0
2007	10	13.7	Missing (5)		
2008	15	20.6	Of those Eligible for ART		
2009	18	24.7	On ART	25	71.4
2010	6	8.2	Not on ART	10	28.6
Site			Missing (6)		
Positive Living Program	42	57.5	CD4 Counts at Seroconversion		
Westside Community Clinic	11	15.1	<50	3	6.3
Both	20	27.4	50-199	5	10.4
SOCIAL CHARACTERISTICS			200-349	11	22.9
Smoking Status			350-499	10	20.8
Current Smoker	36	85.7	$\geq 500$	19	39.6
Ex-smoker	4	9.5	Missing (25)		
Non-smoker	2	4.8	Mean CD4 Count at Seroconversion (±s.e.)	443.7	38.9
Missing (31)			Mean Log <sub>10</sub> VL at Seroconversion, (±s.e.)	4.36	0.15
Record of Incarceration					
Yes	30	41.1			
No	43	58.9			

 Table 4.18. Study characteristics of seroconversion cohort (n=73)

For comparison, a similar figure was created to highlight the overlap in the three variables of interest (i.e. Aboriginal ethnicity, IDU, and HCV coinfection). Again, we excluded all patients with unknown Aboriginal ethnicity, history of IDU or hepatitis C antibody test result. This resulted in 65 study patients. Of these 65 study patients, 2 (3.1%) did not belong to any of these categories. The break down of the remaining 63 patients is presented in Figure 4.6.

Figure 4.6. Illustration of overlap between Aboriginal ethnicity, history of IDU, and HCV coinfection for seroconversion cohort (n=63)



Figure 4.6 represents the overlap between the three variables of interest for this study, and does not imply that Aboriginal ethnicity is a risk factor. This high collinearity is what is seen in our study, and does not necessarily reflect all aboriginal communities.

#### 4.5.2. Primary outcomes

### Immunological AIDS

Within this cohort, 5 patients had no CD4 measures during their follow-up and were thus excluded. Therefore, out of the remaining 68 patients, 17 (25.0%) had a CD4 count <200 cells/ $\mu$ l while the remaining 75% did not.

CD4 cell counts can temporarily drop below 200 cells/µl during the acute infection, and thus to distinguish between a temporary drop and severe immunological damage indicative of AIDS those 17 patients were assessed in more detail. Of those 17 patients, 8 dipped within 6 months of the estimated seroconversion date. Of the eight, one patient had only one CD4 count measure and distinguishing between a temporary drop or a consistent drop in CD4 counts was not possible; this patient was thus excluded. Four patients did not recover to a CD4 count above 200 for the remainder of their treatment naïve follow-up, which was at least 6 months long, and thus the date of the event of interest remained that first drop. The remaining three patients did have a recovery of their CD4 counts above 200 cells/µl. Thus, given that two did not have a drop to 200 cells/µl, they were recorded as not having the event of interest and censored at their last CD4 count measure. One patient did drop below 200 cells/µl again, and that second drop was recorded as the date of the event of interest. Therefore, overall there were 14 who had a CD4 count <200 cells/µl, while the remaining 53 patients were censored.

# Death

Out of the 73 patients, no deaths occurred during the follow-up.

# 4.5.3. Survival analysis

# *Time to CD4 count <200cells/µl*

The mean and median follow-up time was 1.91 years and 1.56 years, respectively. The median time to immunological AIDS was not able to be determined. However, there was a 25% probability of progression to immunological AIDS in 3.45 (lower 95%CI: 0.94), Figure 4.7.



Figure 4.7. Survival curve for immunological AIDS from HIV infection

Kaplan Meier graphs showed no significant differences by gender, IDU, HCV coinfection, Aboriginal ethnicity, treatment, year of seroconversion (dichotomous), incarceration, or social assistance.
Given the high proportion of Aboriginal ethnicity, IDU, and HCV coinfections, this cohort is inadequate to further study the effects of these three variables. In both univariable and multivariable analysis, none of the covariates were significant predictors of time to immunological AIDS.

## 4.6. Summary of survival analysis

HIV disease progression was measured from HIV diagnosis to immunological AIDS and death and from HIV seroconversion to immunological AIDS in a subgroup with estimable dates of seroconversion. As no deaths occurred for this subgroup, this outcome was not assessed. Table 4.19 summarizes the probability of progression at 1, 3 and 5 years post diagnosis and infection.

	Percent AIDS free		Percent surviving	
	%	95% CI	%	95% CI
After HIV Diagnosis				
1 year	77.8	72.1, 82.5	97.6	95.0, 98.8
3 years	53.2	44.8, 60.9	88.7	81.8, 93.1
5 years	33.2	19.2, 47.8	77.0	61.2, 87.0
After HIV Seroconversion				
1 year	86.2	74.2, 92.9	n/a	n/a
3 years	76.2	61.0, 86.0	n/a	n/a
5 years	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a

Table 4.19. Summary of percentage without immunological AIDS and survival of HIV positive patients

CI, confidence intervals; n/a, not available

# 5. Discussion

# 5.1. Summary of findings

This study was based on retrospective data from 343 HIV positive patients receiving care at the PLP or WCC in Saskatoon, Saskatchewan. It characterized HIV disease progression among this study population and identified factors associated with disease progression. This section will briefly summarize the findings of this study, compare these findings to the literature, discuss the potential implications of these findings, and comment on the strengths and limitations of the study.

## Characterizing HIV disease progression

Following HIV diagnosis, we found that the 3-year and 5-year immunological AIDS free probability was 53% and 33%, respectively. The 3-year and 5-year survival probability were 89% and 77%, respectively. In efforts to obtain the true rate of progression, unbiased by delay in diagnosis, we performed a subgroup analysis with patients who had an estimated seroconversion date. Among this seroconversion cohort, we found that 3 years after seroconversion the probability of being immunological AIDS free was 76%. No deaths occurred among this subgroup.

### Determinants of HIV disease progression

Determinants of disease progression to immunological AIDS among the seroprevalent cohort (i.e. from HIV diagnosis) were history of IDU, HCV coinfection, treatment use, and year of diagnosis, when controlling for age at diagnosis and baseline CD4 counts. Ethnicity and gender were not significant predictors. Since three separate models were built because of the high collinearity between variables, we cannot state that HCV coinfection or a history of IDU were independent predictors of each other.

With regards to survival, only treatment use was found to be a significant predictor. HCV coinfection was marginally significant (p=0.082), while a history of IDU, ethnicity, gender, age at diagnosis, and year of diagnosis were not.

Among the seroconversion cohort (i.e. from estimated seroconversion dates), the high representation of patients reporting a history of IDUs, having HCV coinfection, and an Aboriginal ethnicity made it difficult to assess these variables in further detail. However, we did assess year of diagnosis, year of seroconversion and age at seroconversion and did not find these variables to be significant predictors of progression to immunological AIDS.

#### 5.2. Comparison of findings

#### Characterizing HIV disease progression

HIV disease progression in our study was similar to that reported among IDUs in the United States. This recent analysis in 2009 of 27,572 IDUs from 33 US states similarly found a 49%

probability of progression to AIDS (defined as an AIDS defining illness or CD4 count <200) within 3 years of HIV diagnosis.<sup>58</sup> The probability of survival 3 years after HIV diagnosis was 86%. Information on treatment was not available. In contrast, similar analysis among the MSM population (i.e. excluding those in the MSM/IDU) found an AIDS-free probability of 71% three years after HIV diagnosis. Both of these studies included patients diagnosed during the HAART era (i.e. post-1996).

Other US studies have found a lengthier time to immunological AIDS. Diamond et al<sup>79</sup> reported a median time to immunological AIDS ranging from 4.8 to 6 years from study enrollment in 2001. Unlike our study, they reported a higher percentage of patients on treatment and IDUs accounted for less than 50% of the study population. Baum et al<sup>163</sup> followed 133 drug users in Miami, Florida for 30 months in 2009. At 2.5 years following study enrollment, they found the probability of progression to immunological AIDS ranged from 15 to 25% depending on crackcocaine use. However, understanding the significance of these differences is difficult as the delays in diagnosis and varying origin points (e.g. study enrollment) were used. Analysis based on seroconversion cohorts are better suited for these comparisons.

Time from HIV infection was slightly faster for this study than what other studies have reported. Piroth et al<sup>130</sup> reported a median time to immunological AIDS of 6 years and 8 months in France. Fifty-seven percent of patients were treated with antiretroviral therapy before the endpoint event. In a meta-analysis, Zwahlen et al<sup>164</sup> reported similar median duration to CD4 <200 cells/µl among low and middle-income countries, at 6.1 years. Only 14% of study population, established in the 1990s, had received ART. In another study based on the pre-HAART era, Lepri et al<sup>44</sup> found a median time to immunological AIDS of 6 years for women. There was a 25% probability of progression to immunological AIDS at 4 years for women and 4.5 years for men. Most of these studies had a low proportion of IDUs. In comparison, this study found a 25% probability of progression at 3.5 years. However, given the availability of HAART during this study period (2005-2010), one would have expected to see a slower progression in HIV disease.

### Determinants of HIV disease progression

Baseline CD4 cell count was the most important predictor of progression to immunological AIDS, a finding consistent with numerous previous reports.<sup>30, 79</sup> However, unlike these studies, we did not find baseline CD4 counts to be a predictor of survival. This could be due to the short follow-up period of this study, which did not allow for these differences to become significant.

While it may seem contradictory, a positive association between treatment and disease progression was observed in our study, as in other studies<sup>30, 162</sup> and is due to the preferential prescription of ART for persons with advanced disease.<sup>165</sup> Such situations have been phrased "confounding by severity," in which the decision to treat are dependent on indicators of prognosis.<sup>166</sup> This study did not attempt to prove the efficacy of treatment. If this was the case, the nonrandom allocation of the treatment would need to be accounted for. Thus, conclusions regarding the association of ART use and immunological parameters cannot be made.

Similar to other seroprevalent cohort studies,<sup>127, 128</sup> our analysis showed IDU and HCV coinfection were associated with faster progression, independent of baseline CD4 counts. Various factors could explain the observed differences. For instance, both smoking and alcohol use, factors highly prevalent among HIV populations, have also been shown to be associated with HIV progression.<sup>95, 113</sup> These factors could not be controlled for in this study. Disparities in receipt of, and/or adherence to ART could be another critical confounder.<sup>167</sup> On a positive note, we found that among those eligible for treatment (CD4 count <350 cells/µl), there were no differences in the percentage of patients ever on ART between IDUs and non-IDUs or those mono-infected or coinfected with HCV. However, information on when treatment was initiated was not available, and therefore we cannot rule out that the prescription of treatment may have been delayed for IDUs in comparison to non-IDUs. Adherence information was also not available.

Similar to other studies,<sup>46</sup> individuals in this study reported multiple highly correlated risk behaviours, making it difficult to distinguish between direct and indirect effects. Due to the high collinearity of IDU and HCV coinfection, we could not assess the affect of one of these variables independent of the other. Greub et al<sup>128</sup> however, have found that HCV seropositive individuals and active intravenous drug use were independent predictors in a large Swiss prospective cohort. It is possible that either one, both of these factors, or confounders, are negatively affecting disease progression in our study population. Calendar time has been shown to be an important predictor of disease progression, but this is generally due to differences in treatment across time. The importance of year of diagnosis (2005-2008 vs. 2009-2010) was not clearly understood. It was noted that baseline CD4 counts were significantly lower among those diagnosed in the last two years, than those diagnosed from 2005 to 2008. However, when controlling for baseline CD4 counts year of diagnosis remained a significant predictor. Nevertheless, in the seroconversion cohort, this variable was not significant, suggesting that this variable is not a true predictor of disease progression. This finding may suggest an increased delay in diagnosis of HIV in the later years (2009-2010) as the epidemic has unfolded resulting in late diagnosis and consequently a faster progression to AIDS.

Mutlivariable analysis of both the seroprevalent and seroconversion cohorts indicated gender was not a significant predictor in our study, a finding consistent with a review of seroconversion cohorts in 2005.<sup>70</sup> However, similarly to the articles included in the review, significant differences were noted in CD4 counts and VL at diagnosis between females and males; females had a mean CD4 count of 80 cells/µl higher, and mean log<sub>10</sub>VL of 0.50 higher than males. These findings may point to an earlier diagnosis among females, as they are more likely to be routinely screened for HIV as part of prenatal care. Other research, however, has shown that after seroconversion VL is lower among women than men.<sup>69</sup> One would thus expect these differences to translate to differences in disease progression, but despite this the rate of progression has been shown to be the same. This observation is not clearly understood, but could relate to biological differences. <sup>69, 70</sup>

### 5.3. Study limitations

There were several limitations to our study. First, this was a retrospective cohort, limiting the availability and quality of data collected. There were additional variables, such as treatment adherence or alcohol use, that would have been beneficial to capture. As described in the conceptual framework, many micro and macro-level factors are influencing disease progression. However, data was unavailable, poorly recorded, or recorded inconsistently preventing the assessment of these variables, limiting the factors which could be examined in this study. The inability to gather all important factors and to gather the data through validated measures prevented the discernment between direct and indirect effects, a further limitation of this study. Moreover, all exposure categories were self-reported, limiting the accuracy and completeness of the data potentially leading to information bias, such as misclassification. Given the use of the exposure category hierarchy, that any individual reporting at least one instant of IDU was differentially misclassified as belonging to that group. This differential misclassification could have masked the effect of IDU on HIV disease progression.

In addition, this study only included HIV positive individuals who attended clinics. This has likely biased towards a more stable study population and could have potentially biased against rapid progressors. For instance, seroconverters who progressed rapidly and died may have been less likely to attend clinics, and thus not be represented in this study. A review of community hospitalization data in Saskatoon for HIV patients from 2008-2009 indicated a 28% mortality among this population when followed to May 1, 2010.<sup>168</sup> Among patients in our study, the mortality rate was 6.5%. Moreover, rapid progressors may have been excluded from the first analysis, time from HIV diagnosis to immunological AIDS, as they were more likely to be diagnosed with a CD4 count below 200 cells/µl. In short, the findings of this study may not be generalizable to all HIV patients in Saskatoon, but rather only to patients in care.

We attempted to reduce problems related to possible low reliability of the case definition (i.e. event) by including different outcomes/endpoints. Initially, clinical AIDS was one of these outcomes. However, since clinical AIDS was not collected at the WCC, we were unable to use time to clinical AIDS as the third outcome. This is a further limitation, as many other studies do use this important measure of disease progression.

The seroconversion cohort introduced further limitations. Only a small proportion (25%) of HIVinfected individuals had a previous documented negative antibody test. Those who did have a documented negative HIV test tended to be IDUs, which brings into question the representativeness of this seroconversion. For example, heterosexuals acquiring the virus through sexual contact are perceived to be of lower risk, and are therefore less likely to have had a previous HIV test. This is a common issue for many seroconversion cohorts.<sup>26</sup> We attempted to reduce this problem by not selecting too narrow a window period, which would inevitably result in the selection of a group of individuals undergoing frequent HIV testing. In addition, when reviewing all cases that dropped below a CD4 count of 200 cells/µl, those which had a single CD4 count where excluded from the analysis, as we could not conclude if this was a temporary

104

dip in CD4 counts or immunological AIDS. This exclusion may have biased results towards slower disease progression.

### 5.4. Study strengths

This project also had some important strengths, including the serocoversion cohort, the unique study population, and the assessment of some under-studied factors. There is high variability in the time from HIV infection to diagnosis. The use of diagnosis time as a proxy may introduce a substantial amount of noise, resulting in the attenuation of coefficients towards the null. If the time to diagnosis depends on factors, such as sex or socioeconomic status, there is also the potential for systemic bias. The subgroup analysis of the seroconversion cohort was able to provide a true measure of disease progression, a major strength of this study.

Furthermore, this study is based on an important and unique population in which little research has been done. The province of Saskatchewan has the highest incidence rate of HIV in the country and its population sharply contrasts from the national statistics, with an overrepresentation of females, Aboriginals and IDUs. Any research that further helps to understand the present situation is vital to assisting in the prevention and control of the HIV epidemic.

Moreover, while other studies have examined many potential determinants of disease progression, minimal research has assessed ethnicity, and much less Aboriginal ethnicity. The Aboriginal people are a particularly vulnerable population in Canada, and assessing ethnicity aids in the acquisition of knowledge of disparities in health among ethnic groups. Our study highlighted that HIV positive Aboriginals were particularly burdened by IDU and hepatitis C coinfections. A higher percentage of smoking, incarceration and social assistance were also noted among Aboriginal people compared to non-Aboriginals. Fortunately, when controlling for other important factors, particularly CD4 counts at diagnosis, ethnicity did not appear to be a predictor of disease progression within our follow-up period. Nevertheless, these other differences are important determinants of health, and need to be addressed.

Finally, our study was further strengthened by the large study population. This strength is not only seen in numbers, but also in the overall representation of the HIV-infected population. Between the years of 2005 and 2008, Saskatchewan diagnosed 481 cases. Our study sample contained 224 patients diagnosed within that same period, which corresponds to a representation of 47% of all HIV diagnoses for the province. While the results of this study cannot be generalized to the entire province, it does represent much of the HIV positive population in and around Saskatoon.

#### 5.5. Study implications

The rate of HIV disease progression is concerning for this study population. From diagnosis, this cohort progressed to AIDS and death at similar rates to IDUs in the United States, a country without universal health care. From seroconversion, the population progressed at rates similar or slightly faster to those in the pre-HAART era. Many issues appear to inflict this population, which could explain the faster progression. The vast majority of the population is highly

106

burdened by co-morbidities, addiction, and low socioeconomic status, which can lead to issues of access, engagement and retention into care.<sup>167</sup> Within our study, at diagnosis (+6 months), 50.2% of patients had CD4 counts below 350 cells/ $\mu$ l, which can be seen as an indicator of access to care. Moreover, a survey administered among IDUs in Saskatoon found 46% of participants reported they did not go to health care centers even when they thought they should; discrimination was the most commonly reported reason for not seeking care.<sup>21</sup> A review of hospitalization data in Saskatoon, SK from 2008-2010 found that among HIV-infected patients not newly diagnosed and eligible for treatment (CD4 <350 cells/ $\mu$ l), only 29% were actively on HAART,<sup>169</sup> further indicating poor access to care, through low treatment initiation. These issues are not only concerning for the individual, but also signifies a large economic burden for the province.

Issues of access, engagement and retention into care can also translate into substantial health care cost for the province. As mentioned above, in this study, half of the patients were diagnosed at CD4 counts below 350 cells/µl, and thus considered eligible for treatment. Twenty percent had CD4 counts below 200 cells/µl. In Calgary, Alberta, Krentz et al<sup>170</sup> found that the direct costs of medical care in the year following HIV diagnosis for late presented (CD4 <200 cells/µl) was more than twice as high as those for early presenters (CD4 >200 cells/µl). The mean cost was \$18,448 for late presenters compared to \$8,455 for early presenters. These additional costs were attributable to HIV-related hospital care costs (15 times higher for late presenters) and immediate initiation of antiretroviral therapy. The economic impact of early diagnosis is likely to be quite substantial for Saskatchewan.

The rate of progression highlights the need to have targeted interventions for these particularly vulnerable populations to slow disease progression. HAART has made great strides in reducing HIV-associated morbidity and mortality. <sup>11</sup> Avenues of increasing treatment uptake and adherence to treatment need to be further explored and implemented. For instance, direct administered therapy has been shown to increase adherence among IDUs.<sup>171</sup> Nevertheless, it is evident this population faces many obstacles. Many patients are dealing with numerous other issues, including homelessness, addiction, and poverty.<sup>16, 17</sup> The basic necessities of these individuals need also to be address through a collaborative and integrated program for this population.

## 5.6. Future research directions

More research is required to support these findings and to clearly determine the mechanisms by which IDUs and hepatitis C coinfected patients are more vulnerable to disease progression. More detailed variables, such as frequency of IDUs, type of drug, hepatitis C treatment, treatment adherence, and number of clinic visits, need to be collected and examined, ideally through a prospective cohort. These could further inform policy development and program planning.

In addition, it would be of value to reassess these and other variables in a study population with a longer follow-up period. While certain variables may have short-term consequences, in efforts to identify factors which may only be evident over the long-term, as has been noted in other studies,

<sup>112</sup> a longer follow-up period is required. The longer follow-up period would also allow the acquisition of the median time to immunological AIDS among the seroconversion cohort. This information is vital to better understanding the true rate of progression among this population; this data would allow for the distinction between a rapid progression or a late HIV diagnosis among this population.

Finally, there is also a need to characterize the influence of biological factors shown to effect HIV disease progression. These factors, such as genetic susceptibility, viral strain and immune response, continue to be the predominant predictors for disease progression.<sup>172</sup> The seroconversion cohort, identified through this study, is an ideal population in which to study these variables, as the population is rather homogenous.

### 5.6. Summary

Identification of factors influencing disease progression is vital to effectively care for patients and to improve their quality of life. In this study, we found that IDU, HCV coinfection, and baseline CD4 counts were significant predictors of disease progression. This study highlights the need for increased testing and early detection, dedicated resources for clinical care and treatment access, and for targeted interventions for these particularly vulnerable populations to slow disease progression. Moreover, this study calls for continued research on understanding the mechanisms by which disparities exist among various populations with regards to HIV disease progression. Results could further increase the understanding of other health care inequalities among other marginalized populations.

109

## **6. REFERENCES**

- HIV and AIDS in Canada. Surveillance Report to December 31, 2008. Ottawa, Ontario: Surveillance and Risk Assessment Division, Centre for Communicable Diseases and Infection Control, Public Health Agency of Canada; 2009.
- Saskatchewan Ministry of Health. Population Health Branch. HIV and AIDS in Saskatchewan. Saskatchewan. Nov 2010.
- Mellors JW, Munoz A, Girogi JV, Margolick JB, Tassoni CJ, Gupta P, et al. Plasma viral load and CD4+ lymphocytes as prognostic markers of HIV-1 infection. Ann Interm Med. 1997;126(12):946-54.
- Hogg RS, Yip B, Chan KJ, Wood E, Craib KJ, O'Shaughnessy MV, et al. Rates of disease progression by baseline CD4 cell count and viral load after initiating triple-drug therapy. JAMA. 2001;286(20):2568-77.
- 5. Chaisson RE, Keruly JC, Moore RD. Association of initial CD4 cell count and viral load with response to highly active antiretroviral therapy. JAMA. 2000;284:3128-9.
- Dorrucci M, Rezza G, Porter K, Phillips A. Temporal trends in postseroconversion CD4 cell counts and HIV load: The concerted action of serconversion to AIDS and Death in Europe Collaboration, 1985-2002. The Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2007;195:525-34.
- Crum-Cianflone NF, Ren Q, Eberly LE, Ganesan A, Weintrob A, Marconi V, et al. Are HIV-positive persons progressing faster after diagnosis over the epidemic? Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome. 2010;54(4):e6-7.

- Crum-Cianflone N, Eberly L, Zhang Y, Ganesan A, Weintrob A, Marconi V, et al. Is HIV becoming more virulent? Initial CD4 cell counts among serocoverters during the course of the HIV epidemic: 1985-2007. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2009;48:1285-92.
- Gartner K, Skinner S, Helliar S. HIV in Saskatoon's core neighborhoods: Demographics, disease severity and treatment. Dean's Research Project. University of Saskatchewan 2010.
- Saskatchewan Ministry of Health. Saskatchewan's HIV Strategy, 2010-2014. 2010 [cited 2011 May 01]: Available from: www.health.gov.sk.ca/hiv-aids-reports.
- Dugdale DC, Vyan JM, Zieve D. HIV infection. Medline Plus. Bethesda, MD: U.S.
   National Library of Medicice, Nation Institute of Health; 2010.
- Jointed United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS, World Health Organization. AIDS epidemic update: December 2009. 2009: Available from: http://data.unaids.org/pub/ Report/2009/JC1700\_Epi\_Update\_2009\_en.pdf.
- 13. Kilmarx PH. Global epidemiology of HIV. Current Opinion in HIV and AIDS. 2009;4 (4):240-6.
- Yang Q, Boulos D, Yan P, Remis RS, Schanzer D, Archibald CP. Estimates of the number of prevalent and incident human immnuodeficiency virus (HIV) infections in Canada, 2008. Canadian Journal of Public Health. 2010;101(6):486-90.
- Saskatchewan Ministry of Health. Population Health Branch. HIV and AIDS in Saskatchewan. Saskatchewan.2009.
- Laurence Thompson Strategic Consulting. A review of needle exchange programs in Saskatchewan. Dec 2008.

- Public Health Agency of Canada. I-Track. Enhance surveillance of risk behaviours among injecting drug users in Canada. Ottawa Aug 2006.
- Saskatoon Health Region. Report of the medical health officer. Investigation of an HIV outbreak amongst injection drug users (IDUs) in Saskatoon using "the social networking approach." Saskatoon: Public Health Services; 2006.
- 19. Saskatoon Health Region. 2009-2010 Annual Report. Saskatoon 2010 [cited 2010 Nov
  10]; Available from: http://www.saskatoonhealthregion.ca/about\_us/about\_us.htm.
- Skinner S. HIV in Saskatchewan. Infectious Disease Grand Rounds. [Presentation]. In press 2010.
- Plamondon K, de Bruin P. Bridging services with community voices around injection drug use. Saskatoon Health Region. Mount Royal College; May 2009.
- Kartikeyan S, Bharmal RN, Tiwari RP, Bisen PS. HIV and AIDS: Basic elements and Priorities [monograph online]. The Netherlands: Springer; 2007 [cited 2010 June 3].
   Available from: MyLibrary.
- 23. Langford SE, Ananworanich J, Cooper DA. Predictors of disease progression in HIV infection: a review. AIDS Research and Therapy. 2007;4(11).
- Nelson K, Williams CM. Infectious Disease Epidemiology. Theory and Practice. 2nd ed.
   2007
- 25. Steering Committee. Late diagnosis in the HAART era: proposed common definitions and associations with mortality. AIDS. 2010;24:723-7.
- Steering Committee. UK Register of HIV Serconverters: methods and analytical issues.
   Epidemiology and Infection. 1996;117:305-12.

- Vu LS, Pillonel J, Semaille C, Bernillon P, Start YL, Meyer L, et al. Principles and uses of HIV incidence estimation from recent infection testing - a review. Eurosurveillance. 2008;13:321-5.
- 28. Wolbers M, Bucher HC, Furrer H, Rickenbach M, Cavassini M, Weber R, et al. Delayed diagnosis of HIV infection and late initiation of antiretroviral therapy in the Swiss HIV Cohort Study. HIV Medicine. 2008;9(6):397-405.
- 29. Pezzotti P, Phillips AN, Dorrucci M, Cozzi Lepri A, Galai N, Vlahov D, et al. Category of exposure to HIV and age in the progression to AIDS: Longitudinal study of 1199 people with known dates of seroconversion. British Medical Journal. 1996;313:583-6.
- Chaisson RE, Keruly JC, Moore RD. Race, sex, drug use, and progression of human immunodeficiency virus disease. New England Journal of Medicine. 1995;333(12):751-6.
- 31. Manfredi R. HIV disease and advanced age. Drugs & Aging. 2002;19(9):647-69.
- 32. Pezzotti P, Rezza G, Lazzarin A, Angarano G, Siniceo A, Aiuti F. Influence of gender, age and transmission category on the progression from HIV seroconversion to AIDS. Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes. 1992;5(7):745-7.
- Hogg RS, Strathdee SA, Craib KJ, O'Shaughnessy MV, Montaner JS, Schechter MT.
   Lower socioeconomic status and shorter survival following infection. The Lancet.
   1994;344(8930):1120-4.
- Rosenberg PS, Goedert JJ, Biggar RJ. Effect of age at seroconversion on the natural AIDS incubation distribution. AIDS. 1994;8(6):803-10.

- Friedland GH, Saltzman B, Vileno J, Freeman K, Schrager LK, Klein RS. Survival differences in patients with AIDS. Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes. 1991;4:144-53.
- 36. Skiest DJ, Rubinstien E, Carley N, Gioiella L, Lyons R. The importance of comorbidity in HIV-infected patients over 55: A retrospective case-control study. The American Journal of Medicine 1996;101(6):605-11.
- 37. Geskus R, Meyer L, Hubert JB, Schuitemaker H, Berkhout B, Rouzioux C, et al. Causal pathways of the effects of age and the CCR5-Delta32, CCR2-641, and SDF-1 3'A alleles on AIDS development. Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes. 2003;39(3): 321-6.
- 38. Johnson JL, Greaves L, Repta R. Better science with sex and gender: Facilitating the use of a sex and gender-based analysis in health research. International Journal for Equity in Health. 2009;8(12).
- 39. Prins M, Smits K, Smits L. Methodologic and ethical ramifications of paying attention to sex and gender differences in public health research. Gender Medicine. 2007;4(Suppl B):S106-10.
- 40. Lemp GF, Hirozawa AM, Cohen JB, Derish PA, Mckinney KC, Hernandez SR. Survival for women and men with AIDS. The Journal of Infectious Disease. 1992;166(1):74-9.
- Buira E, Gatell JM, Miro JM, Batall J, Zamora L, Mallolas J, et al. Influence of treatment with zidovudine (ZDV) on the long-term survival of AIDS patients. Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes. 1992;5:737-42.

- 42. Ellerbrock TV, Bush TJ, Chamberland ME, Oxtoby MJ. Epidemiology of women with AIDS in the United States, 1981 through 1990. JAMA. 1991;265:2971-5.
- Lee LL, MKaron J, Selik R, Neal JJ, Fleming PL. Survival after AIDS diagnosis in adolescent and adults during the treatment ear, United States, 1984-1997. Journal of the American Medical Association. 2001;285(10):1308-15.
- Lepri AC, Pezzotti P, Dorrucci M, Phillips AN, Rezza G. HIV disease progression in 854 women and men infected through injecting drug use and heterosexual sex and followed for up to nine years from seroconversion. British Medical Journal. 1994;309(6968): 1537-42.
- Moore RD, Hidalgo J, Sugland BW, Chaisson RE. Zidovudine and the natural history of the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. The New England Journal of Medicine. 1991;324:1412-6.
- 46. Webber MP, Schoenbaum EE, Gourevitch MN, Buono D, Klein RS. A prospective study of HIV disease progression in female and male drug users. AIDS. 1999;13:257-62.
- 47. von Overbeck J, Egger M, Smith GD, Schoep M, Ledergerber B, Furrer H, et al. Survival in HIV infection: do sex and category of transmission matter. AIDS. 1994;8(9):1307-13.
- Brettle RP, McNeil JG, Burns S, Gore SM, Bird AG, Yap PL, et al. Progression of HIV: follow-up of Edinburgh injecting drug users with narrow serconversion intervals in 1983-1985. AIDS. 1996;10:419-30.
- 49. Farzadegan H, Hoover DR, Astemborski J, Lyles CM, Margolick JB, Markham RB, et al. Sex differences in HIV-1 viral load and progression to AIDS. Lancet. 1998;352(9139): 1510-4.

- 50. Gardner LI, Jr., Brundage JF, McNeil JG, Milazzo MJ, Redfield RR, Aronson NE, et al. Predictors of HIV-1 disease progression in early- and late-stage patients: the U.S. Army Natural History Cohort. Military Medical Consortium for Applied Retrovirology. Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes. 1992;5(8):782-93.
- Hubert J, Rouzioux C, Boufassa F, Delfraissy J, Meyer L. Gender, disease progression and response to HAART. XIV International AIDS Conference; July 7-12; Barcelona 2002.
- 52. Munoz A, Vlahov D, Solomon L, Margolick JB, Bareta JC, Cohn S, et al. Prognostic indicators for development of AIDS among intravenous drug users. Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes. 1992;5:694-700.
- 53. Pezzotti P, Galai N, Vlahov D, Rezza G, Lyles CM, Astemborski J. Direct comparison of time to AIDS and infectious disease death between HIV seroconverter injection drug users in Italy and the United States: results from the ALIVE and ISS studies. AIDS Link to Intravenous Experiences. Italian Seroconversion Study. Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes & Human Retrovirology. 1999;20(3):275-82.
- Prins M, Robertson JR, Brettle RP, Aguado IH, Broers B, Boufassa F, et al. Do gender differences in CD4 cell counts matter? AIDS. 1999(13):2361-4.
- 55. Anastos K, Gange SJ, Lau B, Weiser B, Detels R, Giorgi JV, et al. Association of race and gender with HIV-1 RNA levels and immunologic progression. Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes: JAIDS. 2000;24(3):218-26.

- 56. Melnick SL, Sherer R, Louis TA, Hillman D, Rodriguez EM, Lackman C, et al. Survival and disease progression accodring to gender of patients with HIV infection. JAMA. 1994;272:1915-21.
- 57. Hessol NH, Palacio H. Gender, ethnicity and trasmission category variation in HIV disease progression. AIDS. 1996;10(suppl A):S69-74.
- 58. Grigoryan A, Hall HI, Durant T, Wei X. Late HIV diagnosis and determinants of progression to AIDS or death after HIV diagnosis among injection drug users, 33 US States, 1996-2004. PLoS ONE [Electronic Resource]. 2009;4(2):e4445.
- Hall HI, McDavid K, Ling Q, Sloggett A. Determinants of progression to AIDS or death after HIV diagnosis, United States, 1996 to 2001. Annals of Epidemiology. 2006;16:824-33.
- 60. Giordano TP, Bartsch G, Zhang Y, Tedaldi E, Absalon J, Mannheimer S, et al. Disparities in outcomes for African American and Latino subjects in the Flexible Initial Retrovirus Suppressive Therapies (FIRST) Trial. AIDS Patients Care and STDs. 2010;24:287-95.
- Junghans C, Ledergerber B, Chan P, Weber R, Egger M. Sex differences in HIV-1 viral load and progression to AIDS. The Lancet. 1999;353:589.
- 62. Lucas GM, Griswold M, Gebo KA, Keruly J, Chaisson RE, Moore RD. Illicit drug use and HIV-1 disease progression: A longitudinal study in the era of highly acitve antiretroviral therapy. American Journal of Epidemiology. 2006;163(5):412-20.
- 63. Shimizu SM, Chow DC, Katz AR, Richmond-Crum S, Miller FD. Ethnic differences in hiv disease progression: a comparison of Asian/Pacific Islanders and Whites living in Hawaii. Ethnicity & Disease. 2006;16(1):262-7.

- Poundstone KE, Chaisson RE, Moore RD. Differences in HIV disease progression by injection drug use and by sex in the era of highly active antiretroviral therapy. AIDS. 2001;15(9):1115-23.
- 65. CASCADE Collaboration. Changes in the uptake of antiretroviral therapy and survival in people with known duration of HIV infection in Europe: results from CASCADE. HIV Medicine. 2000;1(4):224-31.
- 66. CASCADE Collaboration. Time from HIV-1 seroconversion to AIDS and death before widespread use of highly-active antiretroviral therapy: a collaborative re-analysis.
  Collaborative Group on AIDS Incubation and HIV Survival including the CASCADE EU Concerted Action. Concerted Action on SeroConversion to AIDS and Death in Europe. The Lancet. 2000;355(9210):1131-7.
- 67. Porter K, Babiker A, Bhaskaran K, Darbyshire J, Pezzotti P, Porter K, et al. Determinants of survival following HIV-1 seroconversion after the introduction of HAART. The Lancet. 2003;362(9392):1267-74.
- 68. de la Hera MG, Ferreros I, del Amo J, de Olalla PG, Hoyos SP, Muga R, et al. Gender differences in progression to AIDS and death from HIV seroconversion in a cohort of injecting dug users from 1986 to 2001. Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health. 2004;58:944-50.
- 69. Sterling TR, Vlahov D, Astemborski J, Hoover DR, Margolick JB, Quinn TC. Initial plasma HIV-1 RNA levels and progression to AIDS in women and men. The New England Journal of Medicine. 2001;334(10):720-5.

- 70. Prins M, Meyer L, Hessol NA. Sex and the course of HIV infection in the pre- and highly active antiretroviral therapy eras. AIDS. 2005;19:357-70.
- Waldron I. Recent trends in sex mortality ratios for adults in developed countries. Social Science & Medicine. 1993;26(4):451-61.
- 72. Perez-Hoyos S, Del Amo J, Muga R, Del Romero J, Garcia de Olalla P, Guerrero R, et al. Effectiveness of highly active antiretroviral therapy in Spanish cohorts of HIV seroconverters: differences by transmission category. AIDS. 2003;17(3):353-9.
- 73. Berg KM, Demas PA, Howard AA, Schoenbaum EE, Gourevitch MN, Arnsten JH. Gender differences in factors associated with adherence to antiretroviral therapy. Journal of General Internal Medicine. 2004;19:1111-7.
- 74. U.S. National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases. NIAID Fact Sheet. HIV infection in minority populations. 2005 Apr [cited 2010 July 21]; Available from: http:// www.thebody.com/content/esp/art6559.html.
- 75. Rothenberg R, Woelfel M, Stoneburner R, Milberg J, Parker R, Truman B. Survival with the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. Experience with 5833 cases in New York City. The New England Journal of Medicine. 1987;317:1297-302.
- 76. Hall HI, Byers RH, Ling Q, Espinoza L. Racial/ethnic and age disparities in HIV prevalence and disease progression among men who have sex with men in the United States. American Journal of Public Health. 2007;97(6):1060-6.
- Woldemichael G, Christiansen D, Thomas S, Benbow N. Demographic Characteristics and Survival with AIDS: Health Disparities in Chicago, 1993-2001. Am J Public Health. 2009;99:S118-S23.

- 78. Easterbrook PJ, Keruly JC, Creagh-Kirk T, Richman DD, Chaisson RE, Moore RD. Racial and ethnic differences in outcome in zidovudine-treated patients with advanced HIV disease. Zidovudine Epidemiology Study Group. JAMA. 1991;266(19):2713-8.
- 79. Diamond C, Davidson A, Sorvillo F, Buskin S. HIV-infected American Indians/Alaska Natives in the Western United States. Ethnicity & Disease. 2001;11(4):633-44.
- 80. Lima VD, Kretz P, Palepu A, Bonner S, Kerr T, Moore D, et al. Aboriginal status is a prognostic factor for mortality among antiretroviral naive HIV-positive individuals first initiating HAART. AIDS Research and Therapy. 2006;3(14).
- 81. Giordano TP, Bartsch G, Zhang Y, Tedaldi E, Absalon J, Mannheimer S, et al. Disparaties in outcomes for African American and Latino subjects in the Flexible Initial Retrovirus Suppressive Therapies (FIRST) Trial. AIDS Patients Care and STDs. 2010;24:287-95.
- Muller V, von Wyl V, Yerly S, Boni J, Klimkait T, Burgisser P, et al. African descent is associated with slower CD4 cell count decline in treatment-naive patients of the Swiss HIV Cohort Study. AIDS. 2009;23(10):1269-76.
- MacMillan HL, MacMillan AB, Offord DR, Dingle JL. Aboriginal Health. Can Med Assoc J 1996;151:1569-78.
- 84. Statistics Canada. Aboriginal Peoples Survey, 2006. An Overview of the Health of the Métis Population: Fact Sheet. Ottawa, Ontario: Statistics Canada; 2009 [cited 2010 Apr]; Available from: http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/89-637-x/89-637-x2009006-eng.pdf.
- 85. Statistics Canada. Aboriginal People in Canada in 2006: Inuit, Métis and First Nations,
  2006 Census Ottawa, Ontario: Minister of Industry; 2008 Jan [cited 2010 Jun]; Available

from: http://www12.statcan.ca/census-recensement/2006/as-sa/97-558/pdf/97-558-XIE2006001.pdf

- Statistics Canada. Educational portrait of Canada, 2006 Census. Ottawa, Ontario: Statistics Canada; 2008 Mar [cited 2010 May]; Available from: http://www12.statcan.ca/ census-recensement/2006/as-sa/97-560/pdf/97-560-XIE2006001.pdf.
- 87. Reading J. An examination of residential schools and elder health. Chapter 2. First Nations and Inuit regional health survey. First Nations and Inuit Regional Health Survey National Steering Committee; 1999.
- King M, Smith A, Gracey M. Indigenous health part 2: the underlying causes of the health gap. Lancet. 2009;374:76-85.
- Smith D, Varcoe C, Edwards N. Turning around the intergenerational impact of residential schools on Aboriginal people: implications for health policy and practice. CJNR. 2005;7(4):38-60.
- 90. Public Health Agency of Canada. Population-speciifc HIV/AIDS status report. Aboriginal Peoples 2010: Available from: http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/aids-sida/publication/ps-pd/ index-eng.php.
- 91. Heath KV, Cornelisee PGA, Strathdee SA, Palepu A, Shaughnessy MVO, Hogg RS. HIVassociated risk factors among young Canadian Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal men who have sex with men. International Journal of STD & AIDS. 1999;10(9):582-7.
- 92. Mill JE. HIV risk behaviors become survival techniques for Aboriginal women. Western Journal of Nursing Research. 1997;19(4):466-89.

- 93. O'Connell RJ, Lampinen TM, Weber AE, Chan K, Miller ML, Schechter MT, et al. Sexual risk profile of young men in Vancouver, British Columbia, who have sex with men and inject drugs. AIDS and Behavior. 2004;8(1):17-23.
- 94. Wood E, Montaner JS, Tyndall MW, Schechter MT, O'Shaughnessy MV, Hogg RS.
  Prevalence and correlates of untreated human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection among persons who have died in the era of modern antiretroviral therapy. The Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2003;188(8):1164-70.
- 95. Baum MK, Rafie C, Lai S, Sales S, Page JB, Campa A. Alcohol use accelerates HIV disease progression. AIDS Research and Human Retroviruses. 2010;26(5):511-8.
- 96. Peterson PK, Sharp BM, Gekker G, Portoghese PS, Sannerud K, Balfour HHJ. Morphine promotes the growth of HIV-1 in human peripheral blood mononuclear cell cocultures. AIDS. 1990;4(869-873).
- Cabral GA. Drug of abuse, immune modulation and AIDS. Neuroimmune Pharmacology. 2006;1(3):280-95.
- 98. Baldwin GC, Roth MD, Tashkin DP. Acute and chronic effects of cocaine on the immune system and the possible link to AIDS. Journal of Neuroimmunology. 1998;83:133-8.
- 99. Xu W, Flick T, Mitchel K, Knowles C, Ault K. Cocaine effects on immunocompetent cells: an observaion of in vitro cocaine exposure. International Journal of Immunopharmacology. 1999;21:463-72.
- Cozzi Lepri A, Pezzotti P, Dorrucci M, Phillips AN, Rezza G. HIV disease progression in
   854 women and men infected through injecting drug use and heterosexual sex and

followed for up to nine years from seroconversion. British Medical Journal. 1994;309 (6968):1537-42.

- 101. Pezzotti P, Dorrucci M, Donisi A, Cusini M, Mazzarello G, De Luca A, et al. Survival, progression to AIDS and immunosuppression in HIV-positive individuals before and after the introduction of the highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART). Epidemiologia e Prevenzione. 2003;27(6):348-55.
- 102. Selwyn PA, Alcabes P, Hartel D, Buono D, Schoenbaum EE, Klein RS, et al. Clinical manifestations and predictors of disease progression in drug users with human immunodeficiency virus infection. New England Journal of Medicine. 1992;327(24): 1697-703.
- 103. Prins M, Hernandez-Aguado I, Brettle RP, Robertson R, Broers B, Carre N, et al. Pre-AIDS mortality from natural causes associated with HIV disease progression: evidence from the European Seroconverter Study among injecting drug users. AIDS. 1997;11:1747-56.
- Margolick JB, Munoz A, Vlahov D, Solomon L, Astemborski J, Cohn S, et al. Changes in T-lymphocyte subsets in intravenous drug users with HIV-1 infection. JAMA. 1992;267:1631-6.
- 105. Crum RM, Galai N, Cohn S, Celentano DD, Vlahov D. Alcohol use and T-lymphocyte subsets among injection drug users with HIV-1 infection: a prospective analysis.
   Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research. 1996;20(2):364-71.

- 106. Lyles CM, Margolick JB, Astemborski J, Graham NMH, Anthony JC, Hoover DR, et al. The influence of drug use patterns on the rate of CD4+ lymphocyte decline among HIV-1 infected injecting drug users. AIDS. 1997;11:1255-62.
- 107. Cook JA, Burke-Miller JK, Cohen MH, Cook RL, Vlahov D, Wilson TE, et al. Crack cocaine, disease progression, and mortality in a multicenter cohort of HIV-1 positive women. AIDS. 2008;22(11):1355-63.
- 108. Baum MK, Rafie C, Lai S, Sales S, Page B, Campa A. Crack-cocaine use accelerates HIV disease progression in a cohort of HIV-positive drug users. Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome. 2009;50(1):93-9.
- 109. Vittinghoff E, Hessol NA, Bacchetti P, Fusaro R, Holmberg S, Buchbinder S. Cofactors for HIV disease progression in a cohort of homosexual and bisexual men. Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes. 2001;27(3):308-14.
- 110. Kapadia F, Vlahov D, Donahoe RM, Friedland G. The role of substance abuse in HIV disease progression: reconciling differences from laboratory and epidemiological investigations. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2005;41(7):1027-34.
- 111. Saves M, Chene G, Ducimetiere P, Leport C, Le Moal G, Amouyel P, et al. Risk factors for coronary heart disease in patients treated for human immunodeficiency virus infection compared with the general population. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2003;37(2):292-8.
- 112. Cui Q, Carruthers S, McIvor A, Smaill F, Thabane L, Smieja M. Effect of smoking on lung function, respiratory symptoms and respiratory diseases amongst HIV-positive subjects: a cross-sectional study. AIDS Research and Therapy. 2010;7:6.

- 113. Furber AS, Maheswaran R, Newell JN, Carroll C. In smoking tobacco an independent risk factor for HIV infection and progression to AIDS? A systemic review. Sexually Transmitted Infections. 2007;83(1):41-6.
- 114. Miguez-Burbano MJ, Burbano X, Ashkin D, Pitchenik A, Allan R, Pineda L, et al. Impact of tobacco use on the development of opportunistic respiratory infections in HIV seropositive patients on antiretroviral therapy. 8. 2003;1(39-43).
- 115. Crothers K, Griffith TA, McGinnis KA, Rodriguez-Barradas MC, Leaf DA, Weissman S, et al. The impact of cigarette smoking on mortality, quality of life, and comorbid illness among HIV-positive veterans. Journal of General Internal Medicine. 2005;20(12):1142-5.
- 116. Miguez-Burbano MJ, Ashkin D, Rodriguez A, Duncan R, Pitchenik A, Quintero N, et al. Increased risk of Pneumocystis carinii and community-acquired pneumonira with tobacco use in HIV disease. International Journal of Infectious DIseases. 2005;9(4):208-17.
- 117. Feldman JG, Minkoff H, Schneider MF, Gange SJ, Cohen M, Watts DH, et al.
  Association of cigarette smoking with HIV prognosis among women in the HAART era:
  a report from the women's interagency HIV study. American Journal of Public Health.
  2006;96(6):1060-5.
- 118. Pines H, Koutsky L, Buskin S. Cigarette smoking and mortality among HIV-infected individuals in Seattle, Washington (1996-2008). AIDS and Behavoir. 2010;15(1):243-51.
- Marshall MM, McCormack MC, Kirk GD. Effect of cigarette smoking on HIV acquisition, progression and mortality. AIDS Education and Prevention. 2009;21(3 Suppl):28-39.

- 120. Page-Shafer K, Delorenze GN, Satariano WA, Winkelstein W. Comorbidity and survival in HIV-infected men in the San Francisco Men's Health Survey. Annals of Epidemiology. 1996;6(5):420-30.
- 121. Kopnisky KL, Stoff DM, Rausch DM. Workshop report: the effects of psychological variables on the progression of HIV-1 disease. Brain, Behavior and Immunity. 2004;18 (3):246-61.
- 122. Deayton JR, Sabin CA, Johnson MA, Emery VC, Wilson P, Griffiths PD. Importance of cytomegalovirus viraemia in risk of disease progression and death in HIV-infect patients receiving highly active antiretroviral therapy. Lancet. 2004;363:2116-21.
- 123. Badri M, Ehrlich R, Wood R, Pulerwitz T, Maartens G. Association between tuberculosis and HIV disease progression in a high tuberculosis prevalence area. International Journal of Tuberculosis & Lung Disease. 2001;5(3):225-32.
- 124. Wood E, Kerr T, Stoltz J, Qui Z, Zhang E, Montaner JS, et al. Prevalence and correlates of hepatitic C infection among users of North American's first medically supervised safer injection facility. Public Health. 2005;119:1111-5.
- 125. Miller CL, Wood E, Spittal PM, Li K, Frankish JC, Braitstein P, et al. The future face of coinfection: prevalence and incidence of HIV and hepatitis C virus coinfection among young injection drug users. Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes. 2004;36 (2):743-9.
- 126. Graham CS, Baden LR, Yu E, Mrus JM, Carnie J, Heeren T, et al. Influence of human immunodeficiency virus infection on the course of hepatitis C virus infection: a metaanalysis. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2001;33(4):562-9.

- Carlos Martin J, Castilla J, Lopez M, Arranz R, Gonzalez-Lahoz J, Soriano V. Impact of chronic hepatitis C on HIV-1 Disease Progression'. HIV Clinical Trials. 2004;5(3): 125-31.
- 128. Greub G, Ledergerber B, Battegay M, Grob P, Perrin L, Furrer H, et al. Clinical progression, survival and immune recovery during antiretroviral therapy in patients with HIV-1 and hepatitis C virus co-infection. The Swiss HIV Cohort Study. Lancet 2000;356 (9244):1800-5.
- 129. Daar ES, Lynn H, Donfield S, Gomperts E, O'Brien SJ, Hilgartner MW, et al. Hepatitis C virus load is associated with human immunodeficiency virus type 1 disease progression in hemophiliacs. The Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2001;183(4):589-95.
- 130. Piroth L, Grappin M, Cuzin L, Mouton Y, Bouchard O, Raffi F, et al. Hepatitis C virus co-infection is a negative prognostic factor for clinical evolution in human immunodeficiency virus-positive patients. Journal of Viral Hepatitis. 2000;7(4):302-8.
- 131. Anderson KB, Guest JL, Rimland D. Hepatitis C virus coinfection increases mortality in HIV-infect patients in the highly active antiretroviral therapy era: Data from the HIV Atlanta VA Cohort Study. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2004;39(10):1507-13.
- 132. Sullivan PS, Hanson DL, Teshale EH, Wotring LL, Brooks JT. Effect of hepatitis C infection on progression of HIV disease and early response to initial antiretroviral therapy. AIDS. 2006;20(8):1171-9.
- Bonacini M, Louie S, Bzowej N, Wolh AR. Survival in patients with HIV infection and viral hepatitis B or C: a cohort sutyd. AIDS. 2004;18(15):2039-45.

- Sulkowski MS, Moore RD, Mehta SH, Chaisson RE, Thomas DL. Hepatitis C and progression of HIV disease. JAMA. 2002;288(2):241-3.
- 135. Rockstroh JK, Mocroft A, Soriano V, Tural C, Losso MH, Horban A, et al. Influence of hepatitis C virus infection on HIV-1 disease progression and response to highly active antiretroviral therapy. Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2005;192(6):922-1002.
- 136. Chen T-Y, Ding EL, Seage GR, Kim AY. Meta-Analysis: Increased mortality associated with hepatits C in HIV-infected persosn is unrelate to HIV disease progression. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2009;49:1605-15.
- Micallef JM, Kaldor JM, Dore GJ. Spontaneous viral clearance following acute hepatitis
   C infection: a systematic review of longitudinal studies. Journal of Viral Hepatitis.
   2006;13(1):34-41.
- 138. Kovacs A, Karim R, Mack WJ, Xu J, Chen Z, Operskalski E, et al. Activation of CD8 T cells predicts progression of HIV infection in women coinfected with hepatitis C virus. Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2010;201(6):823-34.
- 139. Deeks SG, Kitchen CMR, Liu L, Guo H, Gascon R, Narvaez AB, et al. Immune activation set point during early HIV infection predicts subsequent CD4+ T-cell changes independent of viral load. Blood. 2004;104(4):942-7.
- 140. Liu Z, Cumberland WG, Hultin L, Kaplan AH, Detels R, Giorgi JV. CD8+ T-lymphocyte activation in HIV-1 disease reflects an aspect of pathogenesis distinct from viral burden and immunodeficiency. Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes & Human Retrovirology. 1998;18(4):332-40.

- 141. Krieger N, Zierler S. What explains the public's health?: a call for epidemiological theory.Epidemiology. 1996;7(1):107-9.
- Fife D, Mode C. AIDS prevalence by income group in Philadelphia. Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome. 1992;5(11):1111-5.
- Fife D, Mode C. AIDS incidence and income. Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome. 1992;5(11):1105-10.
- 144. Hall HI, Geduld J, Boulos D, Rhodes P, An Q, Mastro TD, et al. Epidemiology of HIV in the United States and Canada: Current status and ongoing challenges. Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes. 2009;51(Suppl 1):S13-20.
- Gottlieb MS, Scanker HM, Fan PT, Saxon A, Wiseman JD. Pneumocystis Pneumonia -Los Angeles. MMWR. 1981;30(21):250-2.
- Preventing AIDS: theories and methods of behavioral interventions. DiClement RJ,Peterson JL, editors. New York: Plenim Press; 1994.
- Etches V, Frank J, Di Ruggiero E, Manuel D. Measuring population health: A review of indicators. Annu Rev Public Health. 2006;27:29-55.
- 148. Shlomo YB, Kuh D. A life course approach to chronic disease epidemiology: conceptual models, empirical challenges and interdisciplinary perspectives. International Journal of Epidemiology. 2002;31:285-93.
- Shim JK. Understanding the routinised inclusion of race, socioeconomic status and sex in epidemiology: a utility of concepts from technoscience studies. Sociology of Health & Illness. 2002;24(2):129-50.

- Krieger N. Epidemiology and the web of causation: has anyone seen the spider? Social Science & Medicine. 1994;39:887-903.
- 151. Poulton R, Caspi A, Milne BJ, Thomson WM, Taylor A, Sears MR, et al. Association between children's experience of socioeconomic disadvanntages and adult health: a lifecourse study. The Lancet. 2002;360:1640-5.
- 152. Kanki PJ, Hamel DJ, Sankale J, Hsieh C, Thior I, Barin F, et al. Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 subtypes differ in disease progression. The Journal of Infectious Disease. 1997;179:68-73.
- 153. Moore JP. Coreceptors Implications for HIV pathogenesis and therapu. Science.1997;276(5309):51-2.
- Coackley E, Petropoulos CJ, Whitcomb JM. Assessing chemokine co-receptor usage in HIV. Current Opinion in Infectious Diseases. 2005;2005(18):1.
- 155. Friedland G, Churchyard GJ, Nardell E. Tuberculosis and HIV coinfection: Current state of knowledge and research priorities. Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2010;196(Suppl 1):S1-S3.
- 156. Saskatoon Community Clinic. Westside Clinic. Sakatoon Community Clinic.; 2010
   [cited 2010 July 15]; Available from: http://www.saskatooncommunityclinic.ca/
   west\_side\_clinic.htm.
- 157. Sasaktoon Community Clinic. Year in review, 2009/2010. Saskatoon, Saskatchewan:Community Health Sevices (Saskatoon) Association Ltd.; 2010.
- 158. Kleinbaum DG, Klein M. Survival Analysis. New York: Springer; 2005.

- Kaplan EL, Meier P. Nonparametric estimation from incomplete observations. Journal of American Statistical Association. 1958;53:457-81.
- 160. Cox D. Regression models and life-tables. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society.1972;34:187-220.
- 161. Breslow NE. Covariance analysis of censored survival analysis. Biometrics. 1974;30:89-100.
- 162. Thorpe LE, Frederick M, Pitt J, Cherng I, Watts H, Buschur S, et al. Effect of hard-drug use on CD4 cell percentage, HIV RNA level and progression to AIDS-defining class C events among HIV-infected women. Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes. 2004;37(3):1423-30.
- 163. Baum MK, Rafie C, Lai S, Sales S, Page B, Campa A. Crack-cocaine use accelerates HIV disease progression in a cohort of HIV-positive drug users. Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes. 2009;50(1):93-9.
- 164. Wandel S, Egger M, Rangsin R, Nelson KE, Costello C, Lewden C, et al. Duration from seroconversion to eligibility for antiretroviral therapy and from ART eligibility to death in adult HIV-infected patients from low and middle-income countries: collaborative analysis of prospective studies. Sexually Transmitted Infections. 2008;84(Suppl 1):i31-i6.
- 165. Ahdieh I, Gange SJ, Greenblatt RM, Minkoff H, Anastos K, Young M, et al. Selection by indication of potent antiretroviral therapy use in a large cohort of women infected with human immunodeficiency virus. American Journal of Epidemiology. 2000;152(10): 923-33.
- Salas M, Hofman A, Stricker B. Confounding by indication: an example of variation in the use of epidemiologic termiology. American Journal of Epidemiology. 1999;149:981-3.
- Spire B, Lucas GM, Carrieri MP. Adherence to HIV treatment among IDUs and the role of opiod substitution treatment (OST). International Journal of Drug Policy. 2007;18:262-70.
- 168. Hammond K, McClean K, Sanche S, Takaya S, Williams K, Skinner S. Late presentation of HIV-infected patients admitted to community hospitals in Saskatoon, 2008-2009. Canadian Conference on HIV/AIDS Research Saskatoon, SK 2010.
- 169. Hammond K, Persaud M, Larios OE, McClean K, McCollen A, Sanche S, et al. Increasing burden of HIV/AIDS on hospitals in Saskatoon, Saskatchewan, Canada. Infectious Disease Society of America and the HIV Medicine Association; Boston, Massachusetts2011.
- Krentz HB, Auld MC, Gill MJ. The high cost of medical care for patients who present late (CD4 <200 cells/μl) with HIV infection. HIV Medicine. 2004;5:93-8.</li>
- 171. Wood E, Kerr T, Tyndall MW, Montaner JS. Review of barriers and facilitators of HIV treatment among injection drug users. AIDS. 2008;22:1247-56.
- 172. Moore JP. Coreceptors Implications for HIV pathogenesis and therapy. Science.1997;276(5309):51-2.

# 7. APPENDICES

# Appendix 1. Definition of Terms

Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome (AIDS)	A name given to the most advanced stage of
	HIV-1 infection. The diagnostic hallmark of
	AIDS is the development of opportunistic
	infections secondary to the
	immunosuppression caused by HIV infection
Antiretroviral Therapy (ART)	Medications for the treatment of infection by
	retrovirus, primarily HIV
Gender	A multidimensional social construct that is
	culturally based and historically specific, and
	thus constantly changing; Refers to the social
	prescribed and experienced dimensions of
	femaleness or maleness in a society, and is
	manifested at many levels <sup>38</sup>
Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy (HAART)	Antiretroviral drug medication for the
	treatment of HIV, typically taken in a
	combination of three to four drugs
Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV)	A retrovirus that is the causative agent of AIDS

133

HIV Disease progression	Refers to the rate of clinical disease
	progression following infection with HIV;
	there are various definitions differing on their
	endpoint
Injection Drug User (IDU)	A person who uses an illicit substance drug
	(e.g. heroin, cocaine) that is administered with
	a needle or syringe
Incidence	The number of new events or occurrences, e.g.,
	new cases of disease in a defined population,
	within a specific period time
Men who have sex with Men (MSM)	Men who report either homosexual or bisexual
	contact; an epidemiological classification for
	HIV transmission
Prevalence	The number of events, e.g, instances of a given
	disease or other condition, in a given
	population at a designated time
Seroconversion	The development of detectable specific
	antibodies to microorganisms in the blood
	serum as a result of infection

A multidimensional biological construct that encompasses anatomy, physiology, genes and hormones, which together affect how we are labelled and treated in the world<sup>38</sup>

Sex

# **Appendix 2. Medical Chart Forms**

# HIV Case Report Form



HIV Case Reporting Form Complete and forward a copy to the office of your regional Medical Health Officer. Mark it "Confidential".

This report is authorized by law. Under The Public Health Act it is mandatory to report all cases of HIV and AIDS to the Medical Health Officer of the regional health authority, following which mandatory information on confirmed cases will be forwarded to the Chief Medical Health Officer.

#### Part 1 – Patient Information

RHA Reporting		Check (✓) a □ New case □ Updated r	applicable report report	Date of (YYYY/	Last Conta MM/DD)	act with Pat	ent Unable to	contact low-up l Date:	
HSN		Birth Date (YYYY/MM/D	D)	Sex	Male Female Other	e	Pregnant	] Unknown ] No ] Yes Approx	weeks
Patient Name	Last		First				Middle		
Alias/Other/Maiden Name(s)	Last		First						
Current Street Address		Current City/Town/Firs	urrent City/Town/First Nations Community			Current P	rovince	Current Postal Coo	de
Street Address at time of diag	City/Town/First Nations	Community at	t diagno	sis	Province a	t diagnosis	Postal Code at dia	gnosis	
Country of Birth		Arrival Year in Canada (YYYY/MM/DD)	Ethnicity (see White First Natio Métis	over for C ns C	descriptior ] Black Car ] Black Afri ] East Asia	nadian ican an	□ South Asian □ Arab/West Asian □ Latin-American	☐ Mixed ethnici ☐ Other, <i>specif</i> y	ity y:

#### Part 2 – Risk(s) Associated with the Transmission of HIV

Injec	tion	Risk	s	Othe	r Ris	sks (	Respond to each item)
Yes	No	Unki	nown	Yes	No	Unk	nown
		ш	Injection drug use (current or past history)				Received blood/blood components before 1985
Sexual Risks (Re		isks	(Respond to each item)				Occupationally exposed to HIV contaminated blood or body fluids
Yes	No	Unkı	nown				Other medical exposure (e.g., surgery, dental, oscopy)
			Heterosexual contact				Non medical exposure (e.g., tattoo, aggravated contact with blood)
			Sex with a partner of the same gender				From endemic country (see over for list)
			Heterosexual contact of a bisexual male				Perinatal transmission
			Sex trade worker				
			Sexual partner is from an HIV endemic region				No identified risk (after asking about all risks)
			Sexual partner of intravenous drug user (IDU)				
			Sexual partner of a person with confirmed or suspected HIV/AIDS				
			Past history of sexually transmitted infection (STI)				

## Part 3 – Laboratory/Clinical Findings

Is this the first HIV test for this person?	City, province, country of first <b>positive</b> HIV test, if outside of Saskatchewan					
Yes No Unknown						
Reason for current HIV test (Check (~) all that a	pply)					
Immigration/visa requirement	Prenatal scree	ning	STI screening	Contact of an HIV infected person		
Needle stick injury, blood/body fluid exposure	Symptomatic f	or disease	Insurance requirement			
History of a known risk factor specify:			Other specify			

#### Part 4 - Additional information or comments

Reporting physician's name	e (please PRINT):	City/town	Phone number
Referred for ongoing care	If yes, name of physician (please PRINT):	City/town	Phone number
Name of person completing	this form (please PRINT)	Date report completed (YYYY/MM/DD)	Phone number
Revised January, 2011			

# Appendix 2. Medical Chart Forms HIV Initial Assessment Form - 4 pages

Royal Immu H.I.V	University Hospital nodeficiency Centre	
DATE: REFERRED BY	TESTED BY:	
DATE OF HIV	POSITIVE SEROLOGY: PREVIOUS HIV NEGATIVE SEROLO	GY:
*Is the patient: ( White Black (e.g. 4) North Ameri Asian (eg. C)	Please ask patient to assist you in answering this question) □ South Asian (e.g. East Indian, Pokistoni, Sri Lankan Bangladeshi, etc.) (rican, Haitian, Jamaican, Somali, etc.) □ Arab/West Asian (e.g. Armenian, Egyptian, Irania Moroccar, etc. □ Latin-American (e.g. Mexican, Central/South Ame timese, Japanese, Vietnamese, Cambodian, □ Other - Includes mixed ethnicity (specify) →	n, Punjabi, n, Lebánes rican, etc.,
Indonesian, I What language d	Laotion, Korean, Filipino, etc.) does this person speak most often at home? Year of arrival in Canada Country of Birth □ Canada □ Other (specify) →	**
City and provine	ce/territory of residence at diagnosis Current city and province/territory of resident	ce
	Sex with a male. Sex with a female. Heterosexual sex with: (check ALL that apply) • an injection drug user;	
	<ul> <li>a bisexual male;</li> <li>a transfusion recipient with documented HIV infection;</li> <li>a person with hemophilia/coagulation disorder;</li> <li>a person born in a country where heterosexual transmission predominates. If yes, specify could a person with confirmed or suspected HIV infection or AIDS (whether or not risk factor is known).</li> </ul>	ntry;
	Injected non-prescription drugs (including steroids).	
	Received pooled concentrates of factor VIII or IX for treatment of netropeniaecongulation disco- If yes, please complete Section 1 of the Supplement to HIV/AIDS Case Report.	
	Received pooled concentrates of factor VIII or IX for treament of netropenial congulation disco- If yes, please complete Section 1 of the Supplement to HIV/AIDS Case Report. Received transfusion of whole blood or blood components such as packed red cells, plasma, plat cryoprecipitate. If yes, please complete Section 2 of the Supplement to HIV/AIDS Case Report.	ziets or
	Received pooled concentrates of factor VIII or IX for treament of netropenina-congulation disco- If yes, please complete Section 1 of the Supplement to HIV/AIDS Case Report. Received transfusion of whole blood or blood components such as packed red cells, plasma, plat cryoprecipitate. If yes, please complete Section 2 of the Supplement to HIV/AIDS Case Report. Exposure to HIV-contaminated blood or body fluids or concentrated virus in an occupational setting. If yes, specify occupation. →	elets or
	Received pooled concentrates of factor VIII or IX for treatment of iterropental congulation diskets If yes, please complete Section 1 of the Supplement to HIV/AIDS Case Report. Received transfusion of whole blood or blood components such as packed red cells, plasma, plat cryoprecipitate. If yes, please complete Section 2 of the Supplement to HIV/AIDS Case Report. Exposure to HIV-contaminated blood or body fluids or concentrated virus in an occupational setting. If yes, specify occupation. → Coher medical exposure (eg: organ or tissue transplant, artificial intermination. If yes, please give details in Section VI "Additional Information or Comments".	elets or

(Health

Was a Conversion III				
was a Conversion Illness Experience	d7			
Location of Infection:			1.	
Was Partner Notification Completed	upon Diagnosis? C	arrent Partners Notif	fied? Explain.	
		and the second		
MEDICAL / FAMILY HISTOR	Y:	and the second se		
STD'S: G.C. [Y] [N] Hepatitis [B] [C] [NO]	Warts [Y] [N]	Syphilis [Y] [N]	Chlamudia (V) DJ	Here is no an
OBBODITIO	- circi	cypanie [1] [1]	Chiamydia [Y] [N]	HSV II [Y] [N]
Candida [Y] [N]			and the second se	The second second second
OHL [Y] [N]		PCP [Y] [N]		
TB [Y][N]		Other		
FEMALES:		and the second second	and the state of t	
PID [Y] [N]	Vagin	itis [V] [N]		
Menstrual History	- opn	mp [ + ] [ ( ]		
.ast Pap Smear	Result	Co	ontraception	
PRICE MAN				
MEDICATION HISTORY:			and the second se	and a state of the
ANTIRETROVIRALS	OTHER R	8	COMPLIMENTAR	Y THERAPTES
				- THE POINT CONT
LI FDCTRS.				
DUERGIES:				
REVIOUS IMMUNIZATIONS:			-	
neumovax [Y] [N] Date:		Hepatitis B [Y] [N]	Date:	
fluenza [Y] [N] Date:		dT [Y] [N] Date:		
b [Y] [N] Date:		Other [Y] [N] Date:		

### SASKATOON DISTRICT HEALTH SASKATOON, SASKATCHEWAN ROYAL UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL CENTRAL SASKATCHEWAN IMMUNODEFICIENCY CLINIC

### H.I.V. INITIAL ASSESSMENT

Yes No SYMPTOM CHECKLIST DESCRIBE	Yes No SYMPTOM CHECKLIST DESCRIBE
[] [] Fever/Night Sweats	[] [] Dysphagia
[] [] Fatigue	[] [] Odynophagia
[ ] [ ] Nausea	[] [] Headache
[] [] Vomiting	[ ] [ ] Peripheral Neuropathy
[] [] Diarrhea	[] [] Oral Lesions
[ ] [ ] Weight Loss	[] [] Genital
[ ] [ ] Cough	[] [] Vision
[][] SOB	[] [] Skin Lesions
[ ] [ ] Other	[ ] [ ] Other

#### CURRENT CONCERNS:

PHYSICAL EXAM: (W	NL [-]) WT	HT	BP	PULSE	RR	TEMP
GENERAL						
LYMPHADENOPATHY	[]					
ENT	[]					
EYES / FUNDI	[]					
DENTAL	[]				-	
SKIN	[]					
PULMONARY	[]					
CARDIOVASCULAR	[]					
ABDOMEN	[]					
GENITO-URINARY	[]					
RECTAL	[]					
NEUROLOGICAL	()					-
M. SKELETAL	[]				_	

Form # 101922 Date: 03/08/2000 Form Category: Assessment/History

3

## EMOTIONAL \ MENTAL ASSESSMENT:

### PROBLEMS:

# PLANS:

## COUNSELLING:

## FOLLOW-UP:

# Interviewer's Signature RN

Physician's Signature

# Appendix 2. Medical Chart Forms HIV/AIDS Case Report - 2 pages

Agency of Canada publique du Canada IIV/AIDS Case Report dult, Adolescent and Pediatric non maternal-fetal) Cases					Provi	For provincial/territorial use Provincial/territorial ID Number					For use by PHAC EPIC No.			
10n	mater	AIDS	New case rep	ort	Update	Provin	nce/Ten	itory to which ease is attrib	uted		De	te recei	MM	D
EAT		ATICNET	NEODMATION			-							-	-
SECT	ION I - P	ATIENT	NFORMATION	N.			-						_	
Report	ing physi	ician's nar	10				City			Telepho	ne num	iber		
							_		_	1	,			_
lospit	al or clini	ic					City			Provinc	e/Territe	ory		
a na off	har obusit	ian nouid		An Hole or	ation Traits		H so I	alassa noovida nama city a	and helendar	non numb				-
Name	the bulles	an provid	ng ongoing care	to una p		- Uno	City	present provide manne, only a	and sumption	Telephy	one numb	W.		
										(	)			
atien	t's initials		Sex	Date of	birth	Vital		Alive (If you, data last		W I	MM	00		
First	Mittle	Last		1 Yr	MM DO	Stat.	18	known to be alive)	-		-			Junka
_			M					Deald (in yes, case or beard)			_			
A.	lana sian	daes this	orean, Filipino, e	(con	at home?	Country	of birt	h			Var	r of ania	al in C	anar
that I	language	does this p	erson speak mo	ost often	at home?	Country	of birt	h			Year	r of arriv	al in C	anad
						Lucan	aca L	] Cests (shocut) ->						
City an	nd provine	undirection	-											
		our service of y	of residence at d	flagnosi			C	ument city and province/te	mitory of	residence	1.1			
City		Prov	of residence at d ince/Territory	flagnosi	First 3 digits of	Postal Cox	30 0	ument city and province/to City Province/	arritory of Territory	residence		ivet 3 digit	s of Pos	tal Co
City		Prov	of residence at d incellentory	flagnosi	First 3 digits of	Postal Coo	30 0	ument city and province/s City Province/	erritory of Territory	residence		ivst 3 digit	s of Pos	tal Co
SECT	10N II -	Prov RISK(S) /	of residence at o incellentory ASSOCIATED	Sagnosii WITH T	First 3 digits of	Postal Cox	of HIV	ument city and province/s ity Province/ / IN THIS PATIENT	erritory of Territory	residence	,	ivst 3 digit	s of Post	tal Co
SECT Sinc	ION II -	Prov RISK(S) / ry 1978 and	of residence at d inceTentory ASSOCIATED d preceding the	diagnosit WITH T diagnos	First 3 digits of HE TRANSMI its of HIVIAIDS,	Postal Coo SSION this pati	OF HIN	ument city and province to City Province V IN THIS PATIENT I: (check ALL that apply)	mitory of Territory	residence	,	ivet 3 digit	s of Post	tal Co
SECT Sinc	ION II -	Prov RISK(S) / ry 1978 and Unknown	of residence at d incelTentory ASSOCIATED d preceding the Sex with a mail	WITH T diagnos	Fint 3 digits of THE TRANSMI	Postal Cox SSION ( this pati-	OF HIN	ument city and provincels City Province V IN THIS PATIENT I: (check ALL that apply)	arritory of Territory	residence	,	Vest 3 digit	s of Post	tal Co
Since	No	Prov RISK(S) / v 1978 and Unknown	ASSOCIATED d preceding the Sex with a mail Sex with a fem	WITH T diagnosi in. solo.	First 3 digits of THE TRANSMI	Postal Coo SSION ( this path	oF HIN	ument city and provincely City Province / IN THIS PATIENT I: (check ALL that apply)	arritory of Territory	residence		ival 3 digit	s of Pos	tal Co
SECT Sinc	No No	Prov RISK(S) / ry 1978 and Unknown	ASSOCIATED d preceding the Sex with a mail Sex with a fem Heterosexual	WITH T diagnosi ie. uke. sex with:	First 3 digits of THE TRANSMI is of HIVIAIDS, (check ALL Inst.)	Postal Coo SSION ( this path	OF HIN	ument city and provincely City Province / IN THIS PATIENT I: (check ALL that apply)	Territory of	residence		inst 3 dige	s of Post	tal Co
SECT Sinc	No International	Prov RISK(S) / v 1978 and Unknown	ASSOCIATED d preceding the Sex with a mail Sex with a fem Heterosexual - an injection	WITH T diagnost ie. sex with: ion drug t	Fint 3 digits of HE TRANSMI its of HIVIAIDS, (check.ALL that ) 2607;	Postal Coc SSION ( this pati-	OF HIV	ument city and provincely City Province / IN THIS PATIENT I: (check ALL that apply)	mitory of Territory	residence		vst 3 dign	s of Post	tal Co
SECT Sinc	No No	Prov Prov RISK(S) / y 1978 and Unkrown	ASSOCIATED d preceding the Sex with a mail Sex with a fem Heterosexual - an injectional - a bisexual	MITH T diagnost e. ale. sex with: ion drug u al male;	First 3 digits of HE TRANSMI its of HIVIAIDS, (check ALL that i user;	Postal Cox SSION ( this pati-	oF HIM	ument city and provincely City Province / IN THIS PATIENT I: (check ALL that apply)	mitory of Territory	residence		ivst 3 dign	s of Post	tal Co
Since	No No	Prov Prov RISK(S) / y 1978 ans Unkrown	ASSOCIATED d preceding the Sex with a mail Sex with a fem Heterosexual - an injecti - a bisewar - a transfu	MITH T diagnost e. sex with: ion drug u al male; sion recip	First 3 digits of HE TRANSMI its of HIVIAIDS, (check ALL that i user;	Postal Cox SSION ( this pati sply)	oF HIM ent had	ument city and provincely City Province / IN THIS PATIENT I: (check ALL that apply)	mitory of Territory	residence		inst 3 diget	s of Post	tail Co
Since	10N II ce Januar No □	Prov Prov RISK(S) / y 1978 and Unknown Unknown Unknown	ASSOCIATED d preceding the Sex with a mai Sex with a fem Heterosexual - an inject - a bisexu - a transfu - a person	WITH T diagnost ie. sex with: con drug t al male; slon recip with hen	First 3 digits of HE TRANSMI its of HIVIAIDS, (check ALL that i ster; sient with docume rephila/cosgulati	Postal Cox SSION ( this path apply) reled HIV on disorder	oF Hill ent had	ument city and provincely City Province / IN THIS PATIENT I: (check ALL that apply) I: (check ALL that apply)	milory of Territory	residence	F	inst 3 digit	s of Post	tai Co
		Prov Prov Prov Prov Prov Prov Prov Prov	ASSOCIATED d preceding the Sex with a mai Sex with a fem Heterosexual - an inject - a bisexu - a person - a person - a person	WITH T diagnosi ie. sex with: ion drug u al male; sion recip with hen born in a	First 3 digits of HE TRANSMI its of HIVIAIDS, (check ALL that i stor; cont with docume rephila/cosputati a country where h	Poetal Coc SSION ( this pat) apply) relad HIV on disorder oteroseou	oF Hill ent had	ument city and provincely City Province / IN THIS PATIENT I: (check ALL that apply) I: (check act that apply)	mitory of Tentory	residence	F	ivet 3 digit	s of Post	tai Co
		Prov Prov Prov Prov Prov Prov Prov Prov	ASSOCIATED d preceding the Sex with a mail Sex with a fem Heterosexual - an inject - a bisexu - a bisexu - a person - a person - a person - a person	WITH T diagnosi ie. sex with: sex with: sion drug t al male; sion recip with here born in a with com	First 3 digits of HE TRANSMI is of HIVIAIDS, (check ALL that i ser; rephila/coegulati a country where h ferred or suspect	Poetal Coc SSION ( this path spply) reled HIV on disorde oterosexu ad HIV int	oF HIN ent had	ument city and provincely City Province / IN THIS PATIENT I: (check ALL that apply) I: (check ALL that apply) I: (check ALL that apply) I: (check ALL that apply)	nnitory of Tentiory	residence country -	•	ivet 3 digit	s of Post	tai Co
		Prov Prov Prov Prov Prov Prov Prov Prov	ASSOCIATED ASSOCIATED d preceding the Sex with a mail Sex with a fem Heterosexual • an injection • a person • a person • a person • a person • a person • a person	WITH T diagnost ie. sec with: con drug o al male; sion recip o with herr born in a with com rescription	First 3 digits of HE TRANSMI is of HIVIAIDS, (check ALL that i ser; cent with docume rephila/coegulari is country where h ferred or suspect in drugs (including	Postal Cox SSION ( this pati- spply) miled HIV or disorde oteroseou ed HIV int storoids)	oF HIV ent had	ument city and provincely City Province / IN THIS PATIENT I: (check ALL that apply) I: (check ALL that apply) I: (check ALL that apply) I: (check ALL that apply) I: (check ALL that apply)	nnitory of Tentiory	residence country -	•	ivat 3 daga	s of Pros	tai Co
		Prov Prov Prov Prov Prov Prov Prov Prov	ASSOCIATED ASSOCIATED d preceding the Sex with a mail Sex with a ferr Heterosexual - an inject - a bisexu - a bisexu - a person - a person - a person Injected non-po Received pool If yee, please	WITH T diagnosi e. sex with: on drug s al male; sion drug s al male; sion drug s al male; sion drug s al male; sion drug s al male; bors in a s with hen s bors in a s with con rescripto ied concet complete	Fint 3 digits of HE TRANSM is of HIVIAIDS, (check.ALL line) (check.ALL lin	Postal Cox SSION ( this path apply) related HIV on claored eteroscou ad HIV int pateroids) ( storoids) ( storoids) ( storoids)	50 C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	ument city and province/or City Province/ V IN THIS PATIENT I: (check ALL that apply) I: (check AL	nnitory of Territory , specify a actor is kno	country -	•	ivel 3 degr	s of Pros	and Co
		Prov Prov Prov Prov Prov Prov Prov Prov	ASSOCIATED ASSOCIATED d preceding the Sex with a mai Sex with a ferm Heterosexual - a bisexua - a bisexua - a bisexua - a bisexua - a person - a person - a person - a person - a person Received pool Hyes, please Received term Hyes, please	WITH T diagnost e. ale. sex with: on drag to al male; sion recip swith here to with here to onnee complete fusion of complete	First 3 digits of HE TRANSMI is of HIVIAIDS, (check ALL that is stor; bient with document rephila/cospulation a country where h firmed or suspect in drugs (including intrates of factor 1 is whole bilood or b a Section 1 of the (whole bilood or b a Section 2 of th	Postal Cox SSION ( this path apply) inted HIV on cleorde electronic ad HIV int pateroids) III or DX fe e Supple icod comple	de C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	ument city and province/b City Province/ / IN THIS PATIENT I: (check ALL that apply) I: (check ALL	n disorder asma, plat	country - zwn).	•	ivet 3 digen	s of Post	
		Prov Prov Prov Prov Prov Prov Prov Prov	ASSOCIATED ASSOCIATED d preceding the Sex with a main Sex with a ferm Heterosexual - an injection - a bisewar - a bisewar - a bisewar - a person - bijected non-p Received pool if yes, please Received tram if yes, please Exposure to H virus in an occ	WITH T diagnosi is, sec with: ion drug is al male; sion recip o with here bors in a with com rescriptio led conce complete dual on of complete if/vicontar upstional	First 3 digits of HE TRANSMI is of HIVIAIDS, (check ALL that is seer, whent with document rephila/congularsis is country where h firmed or suspect in drugs (including intrates of factor 1 of th (whole blood or to a Section 1 of th intrated blood or 2 of is instanted blood or 1 secting. If yes, si	Postal Cox SSION ( this pati- apply) relad HIV on disorde oteroseou ad HIV int a steroids) fill or DX to a Supple lood comp a Supple sody fluids pecify oor	open infection of the sector o	ument city and province/ City Province/ / IN THIS PATIENT ( check ALL that apply) ( check A	nnitory of Tentiory , specify 4 actor is kno n disorder asma, plat	country xvm).	· ·	ivet 3 dege	s of Pros	
		Prov Prov Prov Prov Prov Prov Prov Prov	ASSOCIATED ASSOCIATED d preceding the Sex with a mai Sex with a fem Heterosexual - an injection - a bisewar - a person - bisected non-p Received pool If yes, please - Exposure to H virus in an occ Other medical If yes, please	WITH T diagnosi is. sec with: sec with: sec with: sion drug s al male: sion recip swith here born in a with com rescriptio ied conce complet dual on du complet if/som of complet if/som of com of com of com of c	First 3 digits of HE TRANSMI is of HIVIAIDS, (check ALL that is ser, cent with document rephila/coagulation is country where h firmed or suspect in drugs (including intrates of factor 1 a Section 1 of th whole blood or of is section 2 of bits is sect	Postal Cox SSION ( this pati- apply) mind HIV on disorde oteroseou ad HIV int steroids) fill or DX file e Supple lood comp e Supple socif fluids socif fluid	opential ope	ument city and province/ City Province/ / IN THIS PATIENT I: (check ALL that apply) I: (check ALL	n disorder asma, plat	country - zwn).	· ·	ivet 3 digen	s of Post	tai Co
		Prov Prov Prov Prov Prov Prov Prov Prov	ASSOCIATED ASSOCIATED d preceding the Sex with a mail Sex with a fem Heterosexual - an injection - a bisexual - an injection - a bisexual - bise	WITH T diagnosi is. sec with: sec with: sec with: sice drug u al male: sice necip swith here born in a with com rescriptio ied conce complet dusing of complet dusing of complet situation of complet situation	First 3 digits of HE TRANSMI is of HIVIAIDS, (check ALL that is ser; cent with document rephila/coagulation is country where h firmed or suspect in drugs (including intrates of factor 1 a Section 1 of th (whole blood or of is section 2 of the is section 2 of the is section 1 of th is section 1 of th is section 1 of th is section 1 of th is section 2 of the is setting. If yes, si a lo.g., organ or 6 alls in Section V pational exposure alls of type of an	Postal Cox SSION ( this pati- apply) inted HIV on disorder oteroseou ed HIV int steroids) fill or DX fic e Suppler lood comp e Suppler lood c	operation of the second	ument city and provincely  (IN THIS PATIENT  (Check ALL that apply)  (In the pack of the patient of the patient of the pack of the pack of the patient of the patie	n disorder actor is kno n disorder asma, plat	country xvm).	equecipit	bate.	s of Prost	tai Co

SECTION III - LABORATORY DA	ATA						
Does this case have evidence, as a	lefined in the abov	ve instructions, of	Date of first positive	e HIV test (if kno	wn) Current C	D4 count (if known)	
Yes No Unknow	TT		Year	Month		cells/µ	11
SECTION IV - DISEASES INDICA	ATIVE OF AIDS						
DISEASES	Date of Diagnosis	Diagnostic method	DISEA	SES	Date of Diag	nosis Diagnostic metho	ed .
Bactorial nonumorial recomment	Tell' stoffs		Muscharterium	avium complex -	Total Mic		permi
Candidiasis (bronchi, trachea or			M. kansasii (disseminated c	or extrapulmonary	0		
Candidiasis (esophageal)			Mycobacterium unidentified see	of other species i	or		
Cervical cancer, invasive			M. tubercolosis				
Coccidioidomycosis (disseminated or extrapulmonary)			(disseminated o (Please compli	ete SECTION V)	0		
Cryptococcosis (extrapulmonary)			Specify Sil	00: 	Pleurisy	Other respiratory	
Cryptosporidiosis (chronic intestinal, >1 mo. duration)			C.N.S		Bone and joint	Genitourinary	
Cytomegalovirus disease (other than in liver, spieen or nodes)			Other	$(specify) \rightarrow$			
Cytomegalovirus retinitis (with loss of vision)			M. fuberculosis (Please compl	(pulmonary) ete SECTION V)			
Encephalopathy, HIV-related			Pneumocystis o	carini pneumonia			
Herpes simplex: chronic ulcer(s)			Progressive mu leukoencephak	dtifocal spathy			
(>1 mo. duration) or bronchitis, pneumonitis or esophagitis	-		Salmonella sep	dicemia, recurrent	t 🔲		
Histoplasmosis (disseminated or extrapulmonary)			Toxoplasmosis	of brain			
Isosporiasis, chronic intestinal (>1 mo. duration)			Wasting syndro	me due to HIV			
Kaposi's sarcoma			Diseases aff	ecting pediatri	ic cases only (<	15 years old)	
Lymphoma, Burkitt's (or equivalent term)			Bacterial infecti recurrent (exclu	ions, multiple or uding recurrent be	actorial		
Lymphoma, immunoblastic (or equivalent term)			Lymphoid inter	stitial pneumonia	andior		
Lymphoma, primary in brain			Pulmonary lym	phoid hyperplasia			
SECTION V - TUBERCULOSIS							
1. Before the diagnosis of AIDS, wa	s this patient eve	r treated for	ies - when? ->	Year Month		No Unk	know
tuberculosis?			les - What was the size	in mm? -> [			-
<ol> <li>Has this patient ever had a PPD :</li> <li>Histor 000 sectors</li> </ol>	akin test?			ninger Hum			
a. It the PPD test was negative, was	ane patient anerg	W MANAGA 1			and such boards.		
SECTION VI - ADDITIONAL INF	ORMATION OR	COMMENTS					
(Please use this section for info	ormation of inter	rest about the acqu	uisition of the viru	s, etc.)			
							-
Person completing this form			Tellepi	hone number		Date report completed	0
			(	)			
FOR PROVINCIAL/TERRITORIAL US	SE: To which expo	sure category has th	is patient been assig	ined?			
Men who have sex with men (MSM)	Injection de	rug user (IDU) M	Still and IDU	Heterosexual -	Endemic	NIR - Heterosexual	
Blood transfusion recipient	Cloting for	ctor necipient	coupational exposure	Heterosexual -	Partner at risk	NIR - Other	10

## Appendix 3. Exposure Category (Risk Factor) Hierarchy

Individuals having a new positive HIV test may belong to more than one exposure category. These individuals are assigned to the exposure category listed first (or highest) in the following hierarchy, in accordance with PHACs surveillance reporting.

- MSM: Male who reports having male sex partner(s), this includes men who report either homosexual or bisexual contact
- 2. MSM/IDU: Men who have had sex with men and have injected drugs.
- 3. **IDU:** Person who reports current or prior history of injection drug use
- 4. **Blood** / **blood product recipient:** Person who reports receipt of whole blood or blood product (e.g., packed red cells, plasma, platelets, cryoprecipitate, pooled concentrates of clotting factor).
- 5. **Heterosexual contact:** Male who reports having female sex partner(s) only, and females who report having male sex partner(s).
- 6. **Occupational exposure:** Exposure to HIV contaminated blood or body fluids, or concentrated virus in an occupational setting.
- 7. **Perinatal transmission:** Transmission of HIV from an HIV-infected mother to her child either in utero, during childbirth, or through breastfeeding.
- 8. **Other:** Cases in which the mode of HIV transmission is known but cannot be classified into any of the major exposure categories listed here

9. **NIR (No Identified Risk):** Where the history of exposure to HIV through any of the modes listed is unknown, or there is no reported history.